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GROUP STRUCTURE ‘

P (£ M) HRAFH
CHINA RESOURCES (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED

59.55%*

I A PR 2 W]
China Resources Land Limited
(B 171855 Stock code: 1109. HK)

‘ 72.29%*

FHER REErBE REETHE TREERE
E 3 % e 15
Development Investment Asset Light Eco-system
Property Business Property Business Business Elementary
Business
{3‘] e (5().ﬁm EWEREEARAR
Cities Cities China Resources Mixc Lifestyle e
Services Limited BT R EE

EEmAR
Product Lines

EmAR

Product Lines

448
Projects

B
Shopping Malls
2% In Operation

45

By
Shopping Malls
FIZEH In Pipeline

57

* B3 20204 12 A 31 H As of 31 December 2020

(B9 F 5% Stock code :
1209. HK)

Urban Development and
Operation

W B

Urban Redevelopment

RELS
Leasing Apartment

EXEME
Industrial Property

FREME

Senior Housing

#ht

Cinema

#E

Education
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NATIONWIDE PRESENCE AND RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS

2020 FE AR
Contracted Sales in 2020

285.0

AR ¥+187T RMB Billion

2020 F R A E TR
Contracted GFA in 2020

14.2

A& 75K Million Square Meters

2020 FEH =
Gross Profit Margin in 2020

30.9%

EEREREMFBEETE

Total GFA of Investment Properties in Operation

11.98

A& 77K Million Square Meters

2020 FARE WA

Total Rental Income in 2020

12.8

AR ¥+187T RMB Billion

2020 FBYF L TER
Retail Sales of the Group’s Malls in 2020

73.0

AR¥4187T RMB Billion




EHEMAR AT China Resources Land Limited 05

far
l

o

L

LY L .
» - e sUN
- 3 . LEBEAD

Provinces with Presence

*.
‘ r.



006 —ZT_ZFE#E ANNUAL REPORT 2020

; R gt -
1 -
“, e v




EHMEMBRAF  China Resources Land Limited 007

& 1Em e

No. of Brands

BIFEZmhE

No. of Luxury Brands

TEREEFEHE

No. of Luxury Stores in China

ZEHS

No. of Membership

Y =
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As the forerunner in China’s
shopping malls, MIXc has
been leading new trend

of lifestyle.
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MIXc One-series Malls provide one-stop solution for shopping, F&B,
entertainment, culture and sports services, which bring unprecedented
lifestyle and shopping experience to customers.
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RERME S 1E
(E#& 15 by GFA) Emertaﬁgnseri Appraisal Value

e 11,050
Pl % Supermarket & /4

Apparel Department y L
Store AREEHEIT RMB mn

Hfh*
Others

ME WA

Rental Income

KA REAER
Households & 1 1 87
Personal Care

Jimﬁ,m RMB mn

24% &b

* At aEe - KA & - RES

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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HANGZHOU MIXC
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RERIRL AHE1E
(E A L by GFA) Emerta:;'r(i;ri‘ Appraisal Value
| 6,648
e B * AR E T RMB mn
Apparel Others
BeUA
ENEDSSEVN 31 Rental Income

Households &

Personal Care 7 1 3

AR BHEIT RMB mn

16% &

* B EEIe - KA - #Ba5 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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SHENYANG MIXC

SE R AHAE
(FFE15 LE by GFA) Kids’ & Appraisal Value

Entertainment

4,950

AR
Apparel SIS B 5T RMB mn
EHph*
Others
GERAON
Rental Income
EGD AN 35

'R Households &
F&B Personal Care

AR HEIT RMB mn

* At aEe - KA & - RES

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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CHENGDU MIXC

(FF&(E L by GFA)

FEHEMBRAT

TE MR
Kids" &
Entertainment

MR%E
Apparel

21% rea

KA R AEAER
Households &
Personal Care

* B BRI KA #E5 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.

BHkAE
Supermarket &
Department
Store

Hith*
Others

China Resources Land Limited

SAE
Appraisal Value

5,400

Em’ﬁ%ﬁ RMB mn

Hae WA
Rental Income

365

ARBEBEIL RMB mn
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NANNING MIXC
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(E&(E L by GFA)

TE RIRE
Kids' &
Entertainment

IREE
Apparel

23% %

ED AN 35
Households &
Personal Care

* B BREIH KA &5 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.

BTkEE
Supermarket &
Department
Store

Hip*
Others

SPffE
Appraisal Value

4,590

AREEHEIT RMB mn

Hae A
Rental Income

576

AREEBEIL RMB mn
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BB R
CHONGQING MIXC g

BRERIE!
R by GEA) Appraisal Value
RERRE
Kids" &
liFES Entertainment ’
Apparel o
BHREY AR BEIT RMB mn
Supermarket &
Department
Store
0/ E#& N
20% rus EITON
Hfto Rental Income
Others

EGV NN 35
Households &
Personal Care

410

AR BHEIT RMB mn

* B EEIe - KA - #Ba5 REE

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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Y¥iaten China

RE RIREE T HE
Kids" & .
(ET&{E L by GFA) Emertain‘msem Appraisal Value
i 4,430
Supermarket &
Department
BR 2 Store r@ & 70 RMB mn
Apparel
Hith *
Others
HeUA

\ Rental Income
KA REAZE

28R Households &
F&B Personal Care

AR HEIT RMB mn

* At aEe - KA & - RES

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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RYIE R R
SHENZHEN MIXC WORLD

FHE1E
(E#& {5t by GFA) Appraisal Value

FE NI
6,320
il5&3 Entertainment /

Apparel R
N AEBBET RMB mn
HTEBEE
Supermarket &
Department
Store
R B
F&B M A

Rental Income

RARBEAER
Households & HAth 2
Personal Care Others

AR BEEIT RMB mn

* At aFIe - KA &0 REF

Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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MALLS OPENED IN 2020

EREHERE LB RESRIE

Ningbo Qianhu Mixc One Shenyang Changbai Mixc One

BXEBE SR — Hf
Chengdu MIXC Ph. 2
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REEER
Year-on-Year
2020 2019 Growth
ERKE CONTRACTED SALES
cREESHE (AR TET) Contracted Sales (RMB billion) 285.03 242.50 17.5%
AREEREERE (BB AK) Contracted GFA (million sg.m.) 14.19 13.25 71%
AREEFHEE(AREIL/FFK) Contracted ASP (RMB/sg.m.) 20,091 18,304 9.8%
FEHBER SELECTED FINANCIAL
(ARBBEET) INFORMATION (RMB MILLION)
= L Revenue 179,587 148,167 21.2%
E7 Gross Profit 55,415 56,139 -1.3%
& R = G R AE Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company 29,810 28,784 3.6%
A& SR R AL 1%L F R Core net profit attributable to
owners of the Company 24,136 21,629 11.6%
TEEEEEREE SELECTED BALANCE
(AR®BEER) SHEET DATA (RMB MILLION)
MEAE Total assets 869,041 769,889 12.9%
RITEHRNIRS Cash and bank balances 89,451 64,661 38.3%
BB Total debt 164,985 134,545 22.6%
IR At e 4R Total equity 256,242 235,791 8.7%
& SR e G PR A A Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 203,458 175,892 15.7%
FEMKLLE SELECTED FINANCIAL RATIOS
FEHE Gross profit margin 30.9% 37.9% -7.0pt
Tz R = Core net profit margin 13.4% 14.6% -1.2pt
BRERER - (ARETT) Basic earnings per share, (RMB) 4.18 413 1.2%
TR A B 2 Return on average equity 15.7% 18.2% -2.5pt
FEEHRALE  FK Net debt-to-equity ratio,
at the end of year 29.5% 29.6% -0.1pt
IEFHEBKAR - FR Weighted average cost of
indebtedness, at the end of year 4.08% 4.45% -37 bps
T b fE B LAND BANK
(BEEE > BBETFAK) (GFA, MILLION SQ.M.)
T E Land bank (GFA million sq.m.),
(BEEE - BETHK)  FR at the end of year
— &5t — Total 68.09 68.68 -0.9%
— 15 — Attributable 48.01 48.61 -1.2%
MEE LU EE AR Land bank acquired (GFA, sg.m.)
(BEEE - FHAK)  FA during the year
— &t — Total 14.92 20.20 -26.1%
— s — Attributable 11.48 13.64 -15.8%
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| am pleased to present to shareholders the business review and
outlook of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020.

The year 2020 was an exceptional year in human history, the world
was forced to another vital crossroad by the outbreak of the
COVID-19 and ever-changing international economic and political
dynamics. The whole country, including every enterprise and
individual, was involved in the fight against the COVID-19 epidemic
since the beginning of the year. Fortunately, the COVID-19 was got
under control efficiently in short time and the consumption market
recovered gradually. Leveraging on the increasing endogenous
demand, domestic economy recorded outstanding achievements with
GDP exceeded RMB100 trillion for the first time, the only major
economy in the world that recorded positive economic growth, fully
achieved of its goal set in the 13th Five-Year Plan. Resilient economy
also harbored steady development of real estate industry, with new
housing sales achieved YoY growth driven by inherent demand from
urbanization and people’s further pursuit for better life.

Despite the grave and complex challenges posed by the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group implemented measures of “cost reduction,
quality improvement and efficiency enhancement” to race against
time and managed to deliver steady growth in all aspects of its core
businesses in 2020. The Group recognized a 21.2% YoY growth in
consolidated turnover to RMB179.59 billion in 2020, among which,
the development property revenue increased 23.5% YoY to
RMB157.14 billion and the rental income increased 4.5% YoY to
RMB12.79 billion. The contracted sales increased 17.5% YoY to
RMB285.0 billion in 2020. The core net profit attributable to the
shareholders of the Company excluding revaluation gain from
investment properties increased 11.6% YoY to RMB24.14 billion and
the profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company including
revaluation gain from investment properties increased 3.6% YoY to
RMB29.81 billion. The Group's earnings per share achieved RMB4.18,
of which core net profit per share was RMB3.38. As of 31 December
2020, the net assets per share amounted to RMB28.53, representing
an increase of 15.7% comparing to the year end of 2019. The Board
of the Company has recommended a payment of final dividend of
RMB1.102 (equivalent to HK$1.312) per share, increased 17.5% YoY.
The total annual dividend per share was RMB1.252 , representing an
increase 17.4% YoY, equivalent to annual dividend per share of
HK$1.480 representing an increase 26.5% YoY. The dividend payout
ratio in 2020 increased by 2 percentage points to 37.0% comparing
to 2019.
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Opportunities and risks co-exist while risks can be turned into
opportunities. Accurate identifying and seizing investment
opportunities is a core competence for development, the Group
acquired high-quality land parcels in Beijing, Shenyang and Suzhou in
the first quarter when land market was languished, and stuck to
disciplined investment policy which restricted high bids in the second
quarter. In the second half of the year, the Group made timely
adjustments of its investment strategies according to policy trend and
focused on higher-tier cities such as Shenzhen, Guangzhou and
Wuhan. During the year, the Group acquired 69 new projects with
attributable GFA of 11.48 million square meters, focusing its footprint
in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze
River Delta, the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region and Chengdu-Chongging
Economic Circle, as well as nine national hub cities and other tier one
and two cities. Currently, the Group has tapped into 82 cities
worldwide with total GFA of 68.09 million square meters and
attributable GFA of 48.01 million square meters. Its high quality land
bank in layout and structure is sufficient for the Group’s development
for next 3-5 years.

Under the temporary pressure in its shopping mall operation during
the epidemic period, the Group offered rental concession to its
tenants, while still managed to achieve steady rental growth in 2020
attributed to its outstanding and market-leading mall operational
strength. As of 31 December 2020, the Group has 45 Mixc-series
shopping malls in operation, with another 57 projects in pipeline. The
Group will continue to enhance and improve its holding properties
operating business, an engine for the Group’s long-term sustainable
growth.

After nearly 20 years of enormous efforts and experience, the Group'’s
commercial operational services and property management business
was mature enough for value unlocking. On 9 December, China
Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (“China Resources Mixc
Lifestyle”) successfully span off and listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HK Stock Exchange”),
being the third biggest IPO of 2020 in the HK Stock Exchange with
leading position in the industry in terms of P/E ratio. This was not only
an important milestone for the Group to implement strategies in
state-owned enterprises reform in the new era to accelerate industry
layout for high-quality development, but also a value-driven choice to
fulfill its long-term commitment to shareholders and reciprocate the
shareholders by unlocking the value of the Company. An employee-
shareholding scheme was implemented during the spin-off, which
was an innovative breakthrough in incentive methods. Looking ahead,
China Resources Mixc Lifestyle is one of the Group’s key growth
poles.
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It's pretty obvious that China’s property industry has peaked off its
growth curve after its fast development. Capabilities in urban
ecological construction, regional overall planning and industrial chain
integration, providing cities with a package of high-quality services
from planning, investment, construction to operation have become
vital for real estate enterprises. Positioned as “an operator in city
investment, development and operation”, the Group has promoted a
number of new businesses that derive from, serve for and empower
its key businesses with “managerial independence, financially self-
sufficient, core competence and self-owned brands building”
development strategies. During the 13th Five-Year Plan period, the
Group's city development and operation business achieved significant
progress and accomplished construction of national landmark projects
including Beijing Daxing International Airport Integrated Service
Building, “Three Centers” in Xi'an, Chengdu Dong’an Lake Sports
Park, Jiaxing Nanhu Lakeside Red Cultural Tourist Complex. By doing
which, the Group not only complied with the national strategy and
highlighted its central enterprise’s responsibility, but also realised
synergies in resource acquisition and enhanced its brand influence. By
the end of 2020, the Group has undertaken more than 140 city
development and operation projects, over 10 of which realised
resource acquisition synergy with its principal business.

Facing the complex international situation and the impact of the
epidemic on the economic environment, the Group further
strengthened its financial policy and financing management, by
“increasing channels, adjusting structure, reducing costs and
controlling risks”, the Group’s debt ratio and financing cost were
maintained at the lowest level in the industry, demonstrating the
Group's risk resilience. Standard & Poor’s, Moody's, and Fitch Ratings
maintained the Company’s credit ratings of “BBB+/Stable”, “Baa1/
Stable”, and “BBB+/Stable”.
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The Group remained true to the original aspiration by actively fulfilling
its social responsibilities and joining hands with stakeholders to
overcome difficulties. The Group took the lead in the industry in
offering rental concession totalled RMB940 million, benefiting about
13,000 tenants nationwide. The Group also participated in poverty
alleviation by engaging in the construction of three hope towns as
not-for-profit projects, namely Hubei Hong'an, Guizhou Jianhe and
Shaanxi Yan'an hope towns. During the year, the Group’s ESG rating
was upgraded to BB by MSCI, and was selected as a constituent stock
of the HSESG50 Index.

Looking back on the 13th Five-Year Plan period, the Group has
maintained its industry leading position and achieved all KPIs. The
Group has successfully transformed into an urban investment and
development operator. Based on the “2+X"” business model, the
Group vigorously implemented the three strategic measures of
“precise investment, excellent operation, transformation and
innovation” and has built five core competencies regarding the
investment/construction/operation of large-scale urban landmark
complexes, large-scale urban renewal projects, large-scale urban
cultural and sports exhibition centers, and urban TOD projects, as well
as business operation of urban investment, development and
operation ecosystem, while digging deep moat to achieve high-quality
development. During the same period, the Group realized a CAGR of
16.5% in turnover, a CAGR of 15.8% in net profit, and a CAGR of
27.0% in gross contracted sales, with continuous increase in
shareholder returns.
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Looking forward to the 14th Five-Year Plan period, the Group will
adhere to its strategic positioning of an urban investment and
development operator and build a “3+1" business model to facilitate
its strategic goal of “reshaping China Resources Land and sustaining
high-quality growth”. Under “3+1" business model, “3" refers to
three key businesses, namely development property business,
investment property business and asset-light business (China
Resources Mixc Lifestyle), and “1" refers to relative elementary
businesses as a whole. The key businesses and elementary businesses
are organically co-related and integrated as an ecosystem, while each
business has its different role. Of which, the development property
business includes residential property, saleable public construction, is
the main contributor to the Company’s revenue and provides cash
flow for investment property business. Investment property business
includes holding malls and offices, generates recurrent income for the
Company in long run, helping development property business to
balance risks, obtain resources, and improve asset-light service
capabilities. China Resources Mixc Lifestyle is the new growth pole for
the Company, while synergize with development property business to
obtain resources and realize the preservation and appreciation of
asset value. Elementary businesses include urban development and
operation, urban redevelopment, leasing apartment, industrial
property, senior housing, etc. They work together with the three main
businesses to build comprehensive capabilities for urban investment,
development and operation, which can effectively support the main
business performance growth, realize independent profitability,
independent development, and at the same time become a prominent
contributor to China Resources Land’s brand influence. The Group
will build two systems for strategy-driven investment and refined
management of production and operation, to take advantage of
regional development and enhance competitiveness in its entire chain
of businesses. In addition, the Group will build three development-
driven engines from technological empowerment, financial
innovation, organizational reform and incentives, focus on promoting
four strategic tasks and five major battles, to achieve the strategic
goal of “reshaping China Resources Land”: top ten ranking in
contracted sales, number one in comprehensive strength of shopping
malls, China Resources Mixc Lifestyle’s property management entering
the first echelon, and maintaining number one in commercial
management.
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2021 is the first year of the “14th Five-Year Plan”, China will embark
on a new journey to build a modern socialist country in all respects
and accelerate the establishment of a “dual circulation” development
pattern, in which domestic and foreign markets can boost each other,
with the domestic market as the mainstay. The Group will further
leverage on the diversified business advantages of the parent
company, China Resources Group, seize the great opportunities from
the new urbanization, the implementation of national strategy for
regional coordinated development, the comprehensive deepening
reform of state-owned enterprises, the consumption upgrading and
the innovation of science and technology. The Group will further
optimize its industrial layout with competition strategy to achieve a
high-quality development and to create greater value for
shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express my
sincere appreciation to shareholders, customers and all related parties
for your long-term support and trust in the Group. Looking ahead, we
will definitely live up to our trust with resilient growth and tenacious
progress! There is a long journey awaiting, the only choice for us is
fighting!

WANG Xiangming
Chairman
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In 2020, the sudden epidemic had a severe impact on the global
economy and people’s lives. Facing complex external environment and
fierce industry competition, the Group has effectively promoted the
resumption of work and production on the basis of preventing and
controlling the epidemic in order to race against time and to deliver
satisfactory results, and minimized the impact of the epidemic
through “cost reduction, quality improvement and efficiency
enhancement” measures. All projects and sales offices of the Group
have resumed their work at the end of March, and the major
businesses have fully recovered at the end of April. The retail sales of
its shopping malls rebounded strongly in May. Each of the Group's
operating businesses have quickly recovered after the epidemic, and
the annual result achieved steady growth.

PART 1. REVIEW OF 2020 ANNUAL RESULT

In Year 2020, the Group achieved 17.5% YoY growth in
contracted sales of RMB285.03 billion with 7.1% increased YoY
contracted GFA of 14.187 million square meters.

The Group’s contracted sales breakdown by region in 2020 is
set out in the table below:

BHE BHEE

Ei Region Contracted Sales Contracted GFA
AR¥TR % 7K %
RMB’000 % Sqm %
ES[WN North China Region 55,533,983 19.5% 3,084,469 21.7%
ER KR East China Region 79,342,014 27.8% 2,690,662 19.0%
By N South China Region 79,134,661 27.8% 2,694,976 19.0%
EFEAE West China Region 27,531,647 9.7% 2,268,230 16.0%
BN Northeast China Region 23,993,544 8.4% 1,935,230 13.6%
BN Central China Region 19,498,130 6.8% 1,513,692 10.7%
At Total 285,033,979 100.0% 14,187,259 100.0%
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In 2020, the Group achieved 23.5% YoY growth in
development property revenue of RMB157.14 billion with
38.5% increased YoY booked GFA of 10.432 million square
meters. The gross profit margin of development property of the
Group was 29.1% in Year 2020, versus 36.5% in 2019.

The Group's revenue breakdown by region in 2020 is listed as
below:

EEEXE HEEE

Ei Region Revenue GFA Booked
ARBT T % K %
RMB’000 % Sgm %
Bl N North China Region 33,707,908 21.4% 2,228,251 21.3%
FEH AR East China Region 29,986,935 19.1% 1,708,638 16.4%
Em AR South China Region 39,812,014 25.3% 1,540,166 14.8%
E3iily N West China Region 18,992,690 12.1% 1,828,487 17.5%
ESlNE Northeast China Region 24,301,973 15.5% 2,105,285 20.2%
KR Central China Region 10,338,634 6.6% 1,021,667 9.8%
A Total 157,140,154 100.0% 10,432,494 100.0%

HE-Z-_ZF+-_A=+—8 A£EE
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As of 31 December 2020, the Group had unbooked contracted
sales of RMB272.8 billion that are subject to recognition as
development property revenue, among which RMB157.6 billion
will be recognized in 2021, laying a solid foundation for good
results in 2021.
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Shopping mall

As of 31 December 2020, the total carry amount of the
Group's shopping malls after asset valuation was
RMB136.0 billion, accounted for 15.7% of the Group’s
total assets value. During the year, the revenue from
shopping malls reached RMB10.09 billion, with YoY
growth of 7.9% (if excluding rental concession impact,
the YoY rental growth could have been 16.2%). The
occupancy rate lowered 0.2 percentage point YoY to
94.7%.

Office

As of 31 December 2020, the total carry amount of the
Group's office after asset valuation was RMB37.91 billion,
accounted for 4.4% of the Group’s total assets value.
During the year, the revenue from office reached RMB1.6
billion, with YoY growth of 15.5% (if excluding rental
concession impact, the YoY rental growth could have
been 16.7%). The occupancy rate increased by 8.9
percentage points YoY to 81.8%.

Hotels

As of 31 December 2020, the Group had 13 hotels in
operation, with carrying book value of RMB9.59 billion.
During the year, due to the impact of COVID-19, hotel
revenue declined 27% YoY to RMB1.09 billion, average
hotel occupancy rate decreased 22 percentage points YoY
t0 48%.
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NEF - -_FTEHHRETEIREY Details of the Group's key investment properties opened
=] N in 2020 are listed below:
REEFR LA
Interest HWEEEE EAHEEEE
L ELE FriEE ™ Attributable Total Attributable
Investment Property City to the Group GFA GFA
(FEFK) (EF3K)
(Sqm) (Sqm)
BRI E RIE =i 100% 99,989 99,989
Ningbo Qianhu Mixc One Ningbo
Hep [EE3 54,841 54,841
Comprising: Commercial
BHES 45,148 45,148
Car Park
EERABRE &S 100% 110,270 110,270
Shenyang Changbai Mixc One  Shenyang
Hep: [EES 73,205 73,205
Comprising: ~ Commercial
2E 37,065 37,065
Car Park
FXERE SR — B PR 100% 262,983 262,983
Chengdu Mixc (Phase II) Chengdu
Hep - [SES 158,400 158,400
Comprising: ~ Commercial
EHES 104,583 104,583
Car Park
I REBEMP LB FE e 78.52% 43,665 34,286

CR Land (Beijing) Center Office Beijing
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group's investment properties in
operation achieved 11.98 million square meters in total GFA,
plus another 9.88 million square meters GFA under construction
and planning, details of which are set out below:

EEREYE R REREME

Investment Properties in Investment Properties under

Operation Construction or Planning
BEM L Em BEM iR EE
[EE H& [Ep [EE
Total Attribute Total Attribute
GFA GFA GFA GFA
(FEFHK) (FFHK) (FT73K) (SEF3K)
(Sgm) (Sqm) (Sgm) (Sgm)
HEEERE Total GFA 11,978,526 10,230,415 9,876,741 7,024,406
Hrh [=ES Comprising: Commercial 5,762,746 4,943,252 5,799,055 4,291,361
BTE Office 1,277,821 1,032,842 1,629,354 1,048,245
B JE Hotel 631,347 543,418 989,556 749,571
H Others 4,306,612 3,710,903 1,458,776 935,229
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Investment properties represented by shopping malls, are the
Group's key business focus. Next two to three years will
continue to be the peak years for new openings of new
shopping malls. The Group will further improve efficiency in
construction and operation of its investment properties to
ensure stable rental income growth, and to strengthen earnings
sustainability.

In 2020, the Group spun off its commercial operation and
property management businesses to establish “China Resources
Mixc Lifestyle”, which was successfully listed on the Main Board
of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. As of 31 December 2020,
the Group’s property management business covered 69 cities
across China, with a total of 119 million square meters of
residential and commercial properties under management.
During the year, China Resources Mixc Lifestyle recorded a
realized turnover of RMB6.78 billion, of which RMB3.88 billion
was from residential property management services and
RMB2.90 billion was from commercial operation and property
management services.
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The Group’s Eco-system elementary business includes urban
construction and operation, urban redevelopment, leasing
apartment, industrial property, senior housing, cinema theatre,
education etc., together with the three key businesses to build
an urban investment and development operation system. During
the year, the revenue of Eco-system elementary business was
RMB15.4 billion (including the intra-group business), of which
turnover of urban construction and operation business
amounted to RMB14.9 billion.

PART II. LAND BANK

In 2020, the Group acquired 69 quality land parcels totaling 14.921
million square meters in GFA with a total land premium of
RMB137.95 billion (attributable land premium amounted to
RMB98.73 billion). As of 31 December 2020, the GFA of the Group’s
land bank totaled 68.087 million square meters, the regional
breakdown of which is set out below:

HEEEME EREEEE
Total Attributable

B Region GFA GFA
(FFH3K) (FHXK)

(Sqm) (Sqm)

B N North China Region 14,237,886 8,397,423
FER AR East China Region 9,704,393 6,322,616
EPAE South China Region 15,594,986 9,413,419
B i N West China Region 11,561,244 10,580,126
ESlpNE Northeast China Region 7,457,593 7,078,541
B3N Central China Region 9,461,248 6,173,952
BB Hong Kong 69,328 48,790
a&t Total 68,086,678 48,014,867
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Sufficient land bank further reinforced the foundation for the Group’s
sustainable growth in the future. As of 31 December 2020, the Group
has expanded its footprints to 82 cities worldwide.
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Going forward, while maintaining healthy financial position and
optimal capital structure, the Group will strictly follow its financial
return criteria to allocate its resources. The Group will also replenish
quality land bank through diversified land bank accesses to match its
development strategies and business model, further land bank
acquisitions will be funded by both internal resources and external
financing.

PART Il1l. LOANS, DEBT RATIOS, ASSET PLEDGE
AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

As of 31 December 2020, the Group's total debt outstanding balance
was equivalent to RMB165.0 billion while its cash and bank balance
were equivalent to RMB89.5 billion. The Group's net interest-bearing
debt to equity ratio (including minority interests) was 29.5%, slightly
lower than 29.6% as of end of 2019.

As of 31 December 2020, the non-RMB net interest-bearing debt
exposure of the Group was 12.8%. Approximately 21.5% of the total
interest-bearing debt was repayable within one year while the rest
was long-term interest-bearing debt. The Group maintained its
borrowing cost at a sector-low level. The weighted average cost of
funding was approximately 4.08% as at 31 December 2020, 37 basis
points lower than 4.45% as of end of 2019.

To better support future growth, broaden financing channel and
further reduce funding cost, Z= 8 & #3EA% A R A 7], a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, issued 2 trenches of RMB medium-term
notes during the year with total principal amount of RMB4.0 billion,
among which, RMB800 million due in 2023 and RMB1.2 billion due in
2025 were issued on 13 April; RMB1.5 billion due in 2023 and
RMB500 million due in 2025 were issued on 6 May. All notes were
issued in the interbank market of the PRC. Medium-term notes
totaled RMB2.3 billion due in 2023 carry coupon rates of 2.65% and
2.42% per annum respectively, and medium-term notes totaled
RMB1.7 billion due in 2025 carry coupon rates of 3.20% and 2.95%
per annum respectively. ZEHE MIZEARBFR A 7] also issued RMB1.5
billion special corporate bonds for housing lease due in 2023 with a
coupon rate of 3.2% per annum on Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 14
August. In addition, ZEHEBHIEEBR A F], a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as the original equity holder, issued an
asset-backed special plan that backed by Chengdu Mixc on Shenzhen
Stock Exchange on 11 November, and the issue size was RMB2,501
million with maturity of 3+3+3+3+3+3 years and senior coupon rate
of 3.8% per annum.
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In 2020, Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch maintained the
Company'’s credit ratings at “BBB+/stable”, “Baal/stable” and “BBB+/
stable” respectively.

As of 31 December 2020, the Group had a total loan credit line of
RMB43.5 billion through asset pledge with tenors ranging from 3 to
25 years, and the Group’s total balance of asset-pledged loan was
RMB23.0 billion.

As of 31 December 2020, the Group had principal amount of
approximately US$0.6 billion (equivalent to RMB3.91 billion) cross-
currency swap contracts to hedge exchange rate and principal amount
of approximately GBP85.8 million (equivalent to RMBO0.76 billion)
interest rate swap contracts to hedge interest rate risk. Two-way
volatility of RMB exchange rate may increase as RMB exchange
mechanism becomes more market-oriented. However, the Group's
foreign exchange risk is well under control and RMB exchange rate
fluctuations will not pose a material impact on the Group’s financial
position. The Group will closely monitor its exchange risk exposure
and adjust its debt profile when necessary based on market changes.

PART IV. EMPLOYEE AND COMPENSATION
POLICY

As of 31 December 2020, the Group had 48,414 full time employees
in Mainland China and Hong Kong (including property management
and agency subsidiaries). The Group remunerates its employees based
on their performance, working experience and market salary levels. In
addition, performance bonus is granted on a discretionary basis.
Other employee benefits include provident fund, insurance and
medical coverage.

PART V. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Certain temporary guarantees were provided to banks with respect to
mortgage loans procured by some purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Such guarantees will be released by banks upon the
issuance of the real estate ownership certificate to the purchasers or
the receipt of mortgaged loan by the purchasers, whichever is earlier.
In the opinion of the Board, the fair value of these financial guarantee
contracts is insignificant.
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Mr. Wang Xiangming, aged 57

is the Chairman of China Resources Group, and he
was appointed as Chairman of the Board, a Non-
Executive Director of the Company and chairman of
Nomination Committee of the Company in December
2019. Prior to that, Mr. Wang served as the Director
and General Manager of China State Construction
Engineering Corporation, and the President and
Director of China State Construction Engineering
Corporation Limited. Mr. Wang is a professor-level
senior engineer and titled National Model Worker. He
is also an expert entitled to the special government
allowances of the State Council. He holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Industrial and Civil Construction
Professional at Nanjing Tech University. He joined
China Resources Group in 2019 and was the Director
and General Manager of China Resources Group.

Mr. Li Xin, aged 49

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed as a
Co-president of the Company in July 2016, and he
was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in April 2017, and was appointed as the
President of the Company on December 2018. He is
responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group. He is also the Chairman of the Executive
Committee and the Corporate Social Responsibility
Committee, and a member of Nomination Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company. In August 2020, Mr. Li was appointed as
the Chairman and a non-Executive Director of China
Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (CR Mixc
Lifestyle), which is a subsidiary of the Company and
listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Mr. Li also served as the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of CR Mixc Lifestyle. Mr. Li
is also a director of a number of other subsidiaries of
the Company.

Mr. Li has a Bachelor’s degree of Management from
Dongbei University of Finance & Economics and a
Master of Science degree in Project Management
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Li has
extensive experience in property management and
corporate management. He joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1994, and had
worked for China Resources Property Management
Limited.
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Mr. Zhang Dawei, aged 52

joined the Company in 2006 and was appointed as a
Co-president of the Company in July 2016, and he
was appointed as an Executive Director in April 2017,
and was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board
of the Company on December 2018 and was
appointed as Chief Operating Officer of the Company
and the Chairman (non-executive) of South China
region of the Company in January 2021. He is also a
member of the Executive Committee of the
Company. Mr. Zhang is also a director of a number of
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhang has a Bachelor’'s degree of Structural
Engineering and a Master’s degree of Earthquake
Engineering from Dalian University of Technology,
and an EMBA degree from China Europe International
Business School in China. Mr. Zhang has extensive
experience in property management and corporate
management. Mr. Zhang joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1994, and had
worked for China Resources Construction Co.,
Limited.

Mr. Xie Ji, aged 48

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed as a
Senior Vice President of the Company in June 2013
and an Executive Director of the Company in April
2017, and was appointed as Chief Strategy Officer of
the Company in January 2021. He is responsible for
strategy and investment. He is also the Chairman
(non-executive) of the West China Region and Middle
China Region of the Company. He is also a member
of the Executive Committee and the Corporate Social
Responsibility Committee of the Company. Mr. Xie is
also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Xie has a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering
from Tongji University in China, and an EMBA degree
from China Europe International Business School in
China. Mr. Xie has extensive experience in property
management and corporate management. Mr. Xie
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
in 1993, and had worked for China Resources
Construction Co., Limited.
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Mr. Wu Bingqi, aged 49

joined the Company in 2007 and was appointed as a
Senior Vice President of the Company in October
2013, and was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on February 2019, and was appointed
as the Chief Human Resource Officer of the Company
and the Chairman (non-executive) of North China
Region of the Company in January 2021. He is also a
member of the Executive Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wu is also a director of a number of subsidiaries
of the Company.

Mr. Wu has a Bachelor’s degree of Industrial and Civil
Architecture Engineering from Tongji University in
China, and an MBA degree from the University of
South Australia in Australia. Mr. Wu has extensive
experience in property and corporate management.
Mr. Wu joined China Resources (Holding) Company
Limited in 1993, and had worked for China Resources
Property Management Limited.

Mr. Guo Shiqing, aged 57

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed as a
Deputy General Manager of the Northeast Region of
the Company in 2017, taking charge of the finance
department, and General Manager of Finance
Department of the Company in October 2018. He
was then appointed as an Assistant President and
Chief Financial Officer in June 2020. Mr. Guo was
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
and a member of Executive Committee of the
Company in December 2020 and was also appointed
as a non-Executive Director and a member of the
Audit Committee of CR Mixc Lifestyle in August
2020, which is the subsidiary of the Company and
listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

Mr. Guo has a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting from
Xiamen University and has extensive experience in
real estate management and finance management.



ZEHEMAR AR China Resources Land Limited

MBLE  HERT/\BE

i le/\i REZERARRTH
TEE RZZEZEF_AABAIE
WITES - FEERAERERA
RN R R ERRER o

BEEFATEHILRARBERELE
fNEE=FTmABTIHERSEL
B bR — N N\AFMAEHE(E
B)BRIQA -

BRExE HEA L+
RZE——FNABEZEAARRNRIE
ﬁtﬁﬁ% IR AE KR IZERBR
CERRRIERBRARTRER
aajﬂ RBRABZIEMITES - I
PR E——FRAZ T —RFN
A EAREAZEEER (R BR A A
Z?Fﬁmi% ZERNRNBAEEE
RPABRABERET - BRELER
TE-ZHLAREBZAERERN(E
E)ARAAERERER T ——
FTAREZARBKBERPRL
B T —F_RAEZAEEBRAE
BERAFEFBIITE - MAEZEME
ERYEBELERGMEM2EB =%
SRMBBRAFRIRELEBBZSFRFF
ImzEREBEERNHBRATN
%% o FREEAEGEBEREERMDBR
NAIMFERITES - ZA TEAE;’U‘*
A*%Fﬁ*ﬁlﬁﬂjiﬂi&/ Sl
SFT LT o BRAEETGR jL)‘l i
NAZZEE-F= )EJE/%’@/FEJ E(E
f8) BRRARIE(EIEE Li2AD - HE
@@&T%ﬁ%iﬁmﬁﬁiﬂﬁﬁ$ lid
S IR BR_TEF=AFE-F
——fﬁ‘i'ﬁﬁ/\\ﬁxf'ﬁ%im(it?\)ﬂxf
REEAEFBREBERN T =
E'E REZZZRNFZ ARARQRE
FEE-

REER—NN=ZFEPEBEKRS
BRREEBEITBUIN _FTTLF
BEFEFTEZAETIHERERLE
7 - REER—NNA=FMAEHEE
E

039

Mr. Yan Biao, aged 58

was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in February 1996 and was re-designated as
non-Executive Director in February 2006. Mr. Yan is
the Chief Legal Officer of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited.

Mr. Yan has a Bachelor of Laws degree from the
Peking University, China and an MBA degree from
the University of San Francisco, USA. He joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1985.

Mr. Chen Ying, aged 50

was appointed as a non-Executive Director of the
Company in June 2012. He is also a non-Executive
Director of China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited, China Resources Gas Group Limited and
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited,
and was non-Executive Director of China Resources
Beer (Holdings) Company Limited from May 2012 to
April 2016. These companies are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
He was appointed as the Chief Strategy Officer of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in July
2013 and the General Manager of its Strategy
Management Department in October 2011 and was
appointed as CEO of China Resources Enterprise
Limited in February 2021. Mr. Chen was a Director of
China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and
China Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange). He was
also a Non-executive director of China Vanke Co.,
Ltd. which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. He has worked as Project Engineer,
Project Manager and Manager of Procurement
Department and Executive Director of China
Resources Construction (Holdings) Limited, from
September 1993 to March 2002. Besides, he was also
the Managing Director of China Resources Land
(Beijing) Limited from March 2002 to October 2011
and a Director of the Company from March 2003 to
February 2006.

Mr. Chen obtained a Bachelor’s degree of
Architectural Management from the Tsinghua
University, China in 1993 and a Master’s degree of
Business Administration from University of Oxford,
the United Kingdom, in 2007. Mr. Chen joined China
Resources Group in 1993.
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Mr. Wang Yan, aged 49

was appointed as a non-Executive Director of the
Company in August 2014 and he is also a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Wang
joined China Resources National Corporation (now
known as China Resources Company Limited) in
August 1994. He has been the General Manager of
the Internal Audit Department of CR Holdings since
February 2016. He was a non-Executive Director of
China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
from August 2014 to April 2016. He was appointed
as a non-Executive Director of China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited, China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited and China Resources Gas Group
Limited in August 2014 and a Non-Executive Director
of China Resources Medical Holdings Company
Limited (formerly known as China Resources Phoenix
Healthcare Holdings Company Limited) in November
2016. These companies are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics
from the Capital University of Economics and
Business, a Master of Business Administration Degree
from the University of South Australia and is a
qualified PRC Certified Accountant.
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Mr. Chen Rong, aged 48

was appointed as a non-Executive Director of the
Company in April 2017 and he is also a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Chen
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
in May 2007 and was appointed as General Manager
of the Strategy Department of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in February 2021.

He was the General Manager of the Finance
Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited from February 2016 to February 2021; a Non-
Executive director of China Resources Beer (Holdings)
Company Ltd. (formerly known as China Resources
Enterprise, Limited) from April 2016 to July 2019, a
director of China Resources Pharmaceutical Group
Limited from May to June 2016 and a Non-Executive
Director from June 2016 to May 2019, shares of
which are listed companies on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He was
deputy general manager and chief financial officer of
China Resources Vanguard Co., Ltd. between
September 2014 and January 2016 and was senior
tax manager of China Resources Vanguard Co., Ltd.
between May 2007 to June 2008.

Mr. Chen holds an MBA degree from the Xi‘an
Jiaotong University and he is a Certified Public
Accountant, an Intermediate Accountant and a
Certified Tax Agent in China. He has previously
worked in Epson Technical Limited, Walmart China
Investment Limited and Fuji Electric Technical Services
Limited.
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Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, aged 76

was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in September 2005. He also
serves as the Chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee and a member of Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and CSR
Committee of the Company.

Mr. Ho is a graduate from the Department of
Architecture of University of Hong Kong. He worked
in several renowned architectural practices in UK and
HK before founding hpa (previously known as Ho &
Partners Architects Engineers and Development
Consultants Limited) in 1980. He is an Authorized
Person (Architect) Hong Kong, Member of Hong
Kong Institute of Architects and of Royal Institute of
British Architects. The projects he designed can be
found in Mainland China, Hong Kong, United
Kingdom, India, South-East Asia and Middle East, he
has published a book called “Building in China”.

Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, aged 63

was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in July 2006. He also serves
as the Chairman of the Company’s Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. He is the Founding
Managing Partner of SAIF Partners. Prior to joining
SAIF Partners, he was the Managing Director and
Head of Hong Kong office of Emerging Markets
Partnership, the management company of AIG Asian
Infrastructure Funds from 1994 to 2001. From 1989
to 1994, he worked in the World Bank, the Hudson
Institute and the US Sprint International Corporation
as an Economist, Research Fellow and Director of
Strategic Planning and Business Development for the
Asia Pacific Region respectively in Washington D.C..
From 1982 to 1984, he was the Chief Engineer at the
Jianghuai Airplane Corp..

Mr. Yan received a Bachelor's degree in Engineering
from Nanjing Aeronautic Institute in 1982. He studied
in the Master Program in Department of Sociology of
Peking University from 1984 to 1986 and received a
Master of Arts’ Degree from Princeton University in
International Political Economy in 1989. He also
studied advanced finance and accounting courses at
the Wharton Business School in 1995.
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Currently, Mr. Yan is a Director of ATA Creativity
Global (former called ATA Inc.) (listed on Nasdaq) and
Shenzhen Appotronics Corporation Ltd. (listed in
Shanghai Science and Technology Innovation board,
STAR Market) and also an Independent Director of
360 DigiTech, Inc. (former called 360 Finance Inc.)
(listed on NASDAQ). Besides, Mr. Yan was an
Independent Non-executive Director of Cogobuy
Group (from 18 Jul 2014 to 1 June 2017) and China
Petroleum & Chemical Corporation (from 11 May
2012 to 14 May 2018); a Non-executive Director of
Ozner Water International Holding Limited (from 28
Mar 2017 to 26 Sept 2017), eSun Holdings Limited
(from 1 Sept 2011 to 7 Jan 2019), China Huiyuan
Juice Group Limited (from 28 Jul 2010 to 30 Jan
2019) and Guodian Technology & Environment Group
Corporation Limited (from 8 Jun 2012 to 7 Aug
2020), (all listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
other than that China Petroleum & Chemical
Corporation is also listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, London Stock Exchange and New York
Stock Exchange). Mr. Yan was also an Independent
Director of Sky Solar Holdings Limited (listed on
Nasdaq) (from 13 Nov 2014 to 1 Jun 2017), Blue
Focus Communication Group (now called BlueFocus
Intelligent Communications Group Co., Ltd) (from 27
Mar 2014 to 18 May 2020 and it is listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange — Growth Enterprise
Market), TCL Corporation (from 24 Mar 2015 to 13
Nov 2020 and it is listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange) and a Director of Zhejiang Merit Interactive
Network Technology Co., Ltd (from 30 Jun 2014 to
31 May 2019 and the company listed in Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (GEM Board)on 25 Mar 2019), ATA
Online (Beijing) Education Technology Co., Ltd (from
16 Jul 2015 to 30 Aug 2018) (Its shares were
withdrawn from listing on the national Equities
Exchange and Question System in China on 10 Oct
2017) and Huize Holding Limited (from 30 Jan 2019
to 11 Feb 2020 and company listed on Nasdag on 12
Feb 2020), Shanghai Welltech Automation Co., Ltd.
(10 Jun 2019 to 12 Oct 2020 and it is listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and Haier Smart Home
Co., Ltd. (from 18 Jun 2019 to 2 Nov 2020 and it is
listed in the Shanghai Stock Exchange).
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Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, aged 68

was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2009. He also
serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wan has extensive experience in auditing and
financial management. He is a former partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong.

Mr. Wan is currently an Independent Non-executive
Director of several companies listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, namely A-Living
Services Co., Ltd., Haitong International Securities
Group Limited, Fairwood Holdings Limited, KFM
Kingdom Holdings Limited and Target Insurance
(Holdings) Limited. Mr. Wan is also an independent
director of China World Trade Center Co., Ltd. (a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange). Mr.
Wan had also served as an Independent Director of
Mindray Medical International Limited (a company
listed on the New York Stock Exchange, USA), and
RDA Microelectronics, Inc. (a company listed on the
NASDAQ), and Independent Non-executive Director
of Real Gold Mining Limited and Greater China
Professional Services Limited (a company listed on the
NASDAQ). Besides, he was an independent Non-
Executive director of Dalian Port (PDA) Company
Limited until 28 June 2017, S. Culture International
Holding Limited until 10 July 2017, Kerry Logistics
Network Limited until 31 May 2019, Shanghai
Pharmaceuticals Holding Company Limited until 27
June 2019, Huaneng Renewables Corporation Limited
until 28 June 2019, Harbin Bank Company Limited
until 8 October 2019 (all listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited). Mr. Wan is a Fellow of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Accountants, the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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Mr. Zhong Wei, aged 51

was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2017. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and CSR
Committee of the Company. Mr. Zhong has been a
professor at the Department of Economics at Beijing
Normal University since 2003. Prior to that, Mr. Zhong
had served as an associate professor at Department
of Economics at Beijing Normal University from 1999
to 2003. Mr. Zhong worked as a lecturer at the
Business School of Jiangnan University from July 1994
to July 1997. Mr. Zhong also served as an assistant
engineer at Wuxi Alarm Devices Factory from July
1990 to July 1992.

Mr. Zhong graduated from Nanjing University in 1990
majoring in applied physics and from Southeast
University in 1994 majoring in industrial economics
management. Mr. Zhong received his Doctor’s degree
in 1999 from Beijing Normal University majoring in
international economics. Between September 2001
and July 2004, Mr. Zhong engaged in postdoctoral
research in management science at Tongji University.
Mr. Zhong was an independent director of Dongxing
Securities Company Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Currently, Mr.
Zhong also serves as an independent Non-Executive
director of Future Land Development Holdings Limited
and China Jinmao Holdings Group Limited, the shares
of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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Mr. Sun Zhe, aged 55

was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2017. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and CSR Committee of the Company. Mr.
Sun is currently the co-director of China Program and
senior visiting scholar at the School of International
and Public Affairs of Columbia University. He is the
founding director of the Center for
U.S.-China Relations at Tsinghua University and was a
professor of International Affairs and doctoral
supervisor of Tsinghua University from 2006 to 2016.
Prior to that, he was a professor and deputy director
of the Center for American Studies at Fudan
University from 2000 to 2006. Professor Sun has
taught at the East Asian Institute, Columbia University
and Ramapo College, New Jersey. He is the author
and editor of twenty-three books on comparative
politics and U.S.-China relations.

Mr. Sun obtained a Bachelor’s and a Master’s degree
in law from Fudan University in 1987 and 1989
respectively and obtained a Doctor’s degree in
political science from Columbia University in 2000. He
also obtained a Master of Art degree majoring in
political science from Indiana State University in 1992.
Since September 2010, Mr. Sun serves as an
independent Non-Executive director of MGM China
Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Zhang Liqiang, aged 55

was appointed as a Senior Vice President when he
joined the Company in April 2017. Mr. Zhang has a
Master’s degree of Law from China University of
Political Science and Law. He joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 2010, and had
worked as Deputy Director of Human Resources
department and Director of supervision department.
Prior to that, he worked in Beijing Municipal
Government and Beijing Pharmaceutical Group Co.,
Ltd..
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Mr. Shen Tongdong, aged 53

joined the Company in 2005, and was appointed as a
Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer of
the Company in July 2016, and is responsible for
intelligence and informatization. He was appointed as
Executive Director and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Company on December 2018, and
resigned as Executive Director and member of
Executive Committee of the Company in January
2021. He is also a member of the Executive
Committee of the Company. Mr. Shen is also a
director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Shen has a Bachelor’s degree of Accounting from
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and a
MBA degree from the University of San Francisco in
the United States. Mr. Shen joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1991, and had
worked in its Audit Department and China Resources
(Shenzhen) Company Limited.

Mr. Kong Xiaokai, aged 52

joined the Company in 2005, and was appointed as a
Senior Vice President of the Company in July 2016
and is also the Chairman (non-executive) of the East
China Region and North-east China Region of the
Company. Mr. Kong holds the double Bachelor's
degree in Construction Management Engineering and
Computer Science and Technology from Tsinghua
University in China, and also a Master’s degree in
Construction Economics and Management from the
Department of Civil Engineering of Tsinghua
University in China. Mr. Kong has experience in
property development and corporate management.
He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in 2000, and had worked for China Resources
(Shenzhen) Co., Limited and China Resources Sun
Hung Kai Properties (Hangzhou) Limited.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company and the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) are committed to establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Company recognizes the importance of
maintaining high standards of corporate governance to the long-term
stable development of the Group. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in CG
Code for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as code of conduct regarding securities transactions
of the directors of the Company (“Directors”). The Company, having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
regarding their securities transactions during 2020.



EHE

EX2REHRIARANEE - BRELEBTE
BB MIEHIARBNEBEHNT - 2ERMBERE

I E B E BRI BERRZ - AERER
ARBZEBEERR - IS BEEGTAEKAR
AlZEXERERNEKF EFARRELAR
A2 ARBFEMIEHTE AR B KEMNE
ZIRTE e

RRFEBVEFMELRROBEEAE  EF
ELERTTEEEERITRENER TEERE
WL BT RIRGUBM A IES] - AR BRE B
HHISEESREEITHEBENE ) - EEEE
HEm RO ARBZBEEE CERE - 2
B BENT TRHAEREERE - 8%
TEEFZESNRE MENTN TIEND -

EEeRABTENRGD RERANEARRE
BRE AT EERFRATESTNTERERY
REREFENBE LML SEZTSEL BN
B - EEEMEFEREENRARAEBH
ARERBEEESHEHEIFH S D AEREN
KRR - MmN KA eRPIMEMEA

ZEHEMAR AR China Resources Land Limited

049

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the formulation of strategies, objectives
and business plans for the Company, and to supervise and control the
implementation of strategies of the Company and its operations and
financial performance, and formulation of appropriate risk control
policies and procedures to ensure the achievement of the Company’s
strategic objectives. In addition, the Board is also responsible for
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance of the
Company. The Directors are accountable for promoting the success of
the Company and making decisions objectively in the best interests of
the Company.

In order to maintain a highly efficient operation, as well as flexibility
and swiftness in operational decision-making, the Board, when
necessary, may delegate its managing and administrative powers to
the management, and provide clear guidance regarding such
delegation so as to avoid seriously impeding or undermining the
overall capabilities of the Board in exercising its powers. The
management meets regularly to review the strategic goals, corporate
structure, operating procedures, budget implementation, major
projects and business plans of the Company. Duties and authorities
delegated to the various board committees are described in the
respective sessions below.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business of the Company. A balanced
composition of executive directors and Non-Executive directors helps
to ensure the independence of the Board and enables the Board to
make independent judgments effectively. The operation and
management of the Board and the day-to-day management of the
Company’s business should be clearly divided at the Board level to
ensure that there is a balance of power and authority and that power
will not be concentrated in any one individual.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

As at 31 December 2020, the Board comprised 15 Directors, including
5 Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Xiangming (Chairman),
Mr. Yan Biao, Mr. Chen Ying, Mr. Wang Yan and Mr. Chen Rong; 5
Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Xin (President), Mr. Zhang Dawei
(Vice Chairman), Mr. Xie Ji, Mr. Wu Binggi and Mr. Guo Shiging; and
5 independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan,
Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Zhong Wei and
Mr. Sun Zhe. Members of the Board are not related to each other,
including financial, business, family or other material relationship. The
number of independent Non-Executive Directors represents one third
of the Board as required under Rule 3.10(A) of the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2020. Members of the
Board and their biographical details are set out in the biographical
details of Directors and senior management of the Company section
on pages 36 to 47 of this report.

As at 31 December 2020, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

EEHA

Number of Directors
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As at 23 August 2013, the Company established “China Resources
Land Limited Board Diversity Policy” for diversity of the Board (“Board
Diversity Policy”), and the Company revised the Board Diversity Policy
on 4 December 2018 pursuant to updated Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules, which was effective from 1 January 2019.

DIRECTORS” CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place an on-going training and professional
development program for the Directors.

During Year 2020, all Directors have been provided with monthly
updates on the Group’s business operation, position and prospects to
enable the Board and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company has sent reading materials to Directors on regulatory
updates or information relevant to the Company or its business.
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AARDEE2EEENFAESEBEEREZRE The Company has received from all Directors records of their
22408k - B IBIEHNTE - continuous professional development trainings during the year, details
of which are set out in below table:

HESERRZER
Type of continuous professional
development

HEEREARARF
REEK &N HEEERER
EEEMRER EEREEI
Reading
regulatory Attending
updates or training on
information regulatory
relevant to development
the Company and directors’
or its business duties
B Wang Xiangming v/ v/
B B Yan Biao v/ 4
BRE Chen Ying v v
T E Wang Yan v/ v
BR R Chen Rong v/ 4
F R Li Xin v v/
SRS Zhang Dawei & v/
a5 Xie Ji v/ v/
RFH Wu Binggi v v/
HittE (R_T=_FF Guo Shiging (Appointed on
+Z A=+ BEEE) 22 December 2020) v/ v/
FIRE Wan Kam To, Peter 4 /
=T Andrew Y. Yan v v
fAIFE%R Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco v v/
#E & Zhong Wei v v
7% 7 Sun Zhe v v
TR (R F Shen Tongdong (Resigned on
+- A=+ -BEE) 22 December 2020) v v
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EEERBRRAE BOARD AND GENERAL MEETINGS
TECEFHRBTREENESe 2SNk E  Seven Board meetings and one annual general meeting ("AGM") of
AERE SMESP B L ELHS S the Company were held during Year 2020. The attendance of each
K Director at the meetings is set out as follows:

Exga; RFBFRE

EEHR Name of Director Board Meeting AGM
HBITEE Non-Executive Directors
F#AF Wang Xiangming 6/7 11
BB Yan Biao 6/7 0/1
R & Chen Ying 5/7 0/1
T E Wang Yan 5/7 0/1
BR = Chen Rong 717 11
HITEF Executive Directors
F M Li Xin 717 171
SRS Zhang Dawei 6/7 1/
il Xie Ji 717 171
RFRH Wu Bingaqi 6/7 0/1
BEF (RZZZTF Guo Shiging' (Appointed on

+TZAZ+Z=BEZT) 22 December 2020) 0/0 0/0
YR (R=ZE_ZF Shen Tongdong? (Resigned on

+—A=-t+=—HET) 22 December 2020) 7/7 1/1
BIHBTEE Independent Non-Executive Directors
F IR Wan Kam To, Peter 717 0/1
Bt Andrew Y. Yan 717 0/1
(BB Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 7/7 0/1
E # Zhong Wei 6/7 1
7 B Sun Zhe 717 171

! ZEFTAVERTESTEYRRBRRBFAY ; ! There was no board meeting or AGM held during the tenure of the Director;
2 ZEEAAEBTERESZEEE  L—AREBEFE 2 There were seven board meetings and one AGM held during the tenure of

RE o the Director.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. Wang Xiangming is the Chairman of the Board, a non-Executive
Director of the Company, and is responsible for leading the Board and
formulating the strategies and policies of the Group. During the year,
Mr. Li Xin, the President and an Executive Director of the Company,
was responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Company.

Pursuant to code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, the Chairman
should at least annually hold meetings with the Independent Non-
Executive Directors without the presence of other Directors. One
meeting between the Chairman and the Independent Non-Executive
Directors was held during Year 2020. The attendance of each Director
at the meetings is set out as follows:

Attendance
EFeTE Chairman of the Board
F A Wang Xiangming 11
BUIHHITEE Independent Non-Executive Directors
FERH Wan Kam To, Peter 11
M Andrew Y. Yan ”n
BIEEE Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 11
= E Zhong Wei 11
7 B Sun Zhe 1/1
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To promote a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of Non-Executive Directors in particular and
ensuring constructive relations between executive and Non-Executive
Directors, from 2017, the Company started to held “INED Forum”
each year to establish a communication platform between
Independent Non-Executive Directors and senior management team.
On 18 March 2020, Mr. Zhong Wei being an Independent Non-
Executive Director and a guest of “INED Forum” gave a lecture about
“COVID-19 Impact on Property Market in China”.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

All Directors entered into formal letters of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years and they are subject to re-election
by shareholders of the Company at AGM and at least once every
three years on a rotation basis in accordance with Article 116 of the
articles of association of the Company. A retiring Director is eligible
for re-election and re-election of retiring Directors at AGMs is dealt
with by separate individual resolutions. Where vacancies arise at the
Board, candidates are proposed and put forward to the Board by the
nomination committee of the Company as more fully explained below
under the section on nomination committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 4 September 1998. As at 31 December 2020, all
members of the Audit Committee were either Independent Non-
Executive Directors or Non-Executive Directors. Mr. Wan Kam To,
Peter is the Chairman of the Committee and other members include
Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Zhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe, being the
Independent Non-Executive Directors and Mr. Wang Yan and Mr.
Chen Rong, being the Non-Executive Directors, while Mr. Wan Kam
To, Peter, Mr. Wang Yan and Mr. Chen Rong hold accounting-related
professional qualifications.

The Company revised terms of reference for Audit Committee on 4
December 2018, effective from 1 January 2019. The revised major
duties of the Audit Committee include:

(1) to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and the
terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions
of its resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards, to discuss with the
external auditor before the audit commences, the nature and
scope of the audit and reporting obligations, and to ensure co-
ordination where more than one audit firm is involved;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services (for this purpose, “external
auditor” includes any entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the audit firm or any entity that
a reasonable and informed third party knowing all relevant
information would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit
firm nationally or internationally), and to report to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed,;
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to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
annual report and accounts, interim report and quarterly
financial highlights (or quarterly reports when required by the
Listing Rules or when deemed appropriate by the Company),
and to review quarterly (as the case may be) significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them;

to review the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems, and evaluate every year
whether such systems are effective, sufficient and suitable. This
evaluation should include but not limited to all important
aspects of internal controls (including strategy, financial,
operational, information technology, risk management, legal
and compliance controls etc.), the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of
the group’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its
own initiative and the management’s response to these
findings;

to review the external auditor's management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to management about accounting
records, financial accounts or systems of controls and management'’s
response;

to review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal audit
function, to ensure co-ordination between the internal and
external auditors, and to ensure that the internal audit function
is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Company;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure coordination
between the internal and external auditors, and to ensure that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and to review and
monitor its effectiveness;
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(11) to review the group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

(12) to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

(13) to review arrangements employees of the Company can use, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters and to
ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for appropriate
follow-up action;

(14) to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company's relationship with the external auditor; etc. The Audit
Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
perform its duties. The updated terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two
meetings and had reviewed the interim and annual results of the
Group, discussed and approved the relevant financial reports; it had
also reviewed the Group’s internal control system, risk assessment
result and internal audit activities.

EZLZEBeRBR _ZE_TF 2 HELENT ¢ Attendance of members of the Audit Committee in 2020 is set out as

follows:

ZEENE Committee Members Attendance

BIFNTES Independent Non-Executive Directors

FIRE (ZESEE) Wan Kam To, Peter (Committee chairman) 2/2

o Andrew Y. Yan 112

E & Zhong Wei 2/2

7r & Sun Zhe 2/2

F#TEE Non-Executive Directors

T E Wang Yan 2/2

PR & Chen Rong 2/2
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 7 April 2005. As at 31 December
2020, all the members of the Remuneration Committee were
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Independent Non-Executive
Director Mr. Andrew Y. Yan is the Chairman and other members
include Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Zhong
Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe, all being Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Major duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

(1) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all directors’ and the senior
management remuneration, and the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(2) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management;

(3) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Company’s corporate goals and
objectives;

(4) to review and approve compensation payable to the executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment;

(5) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct;

(6) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
Non-Executive Directors; and

(7)  to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration, details of which are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The total remuneration of Executive Directors and senior management
comprises three key components, namely basic salary, bonus and the
mid-to-long term incentive scheme. The Company sets its strategic
and performance targets on an annual and long-term basis. Based on
the Company’s overall performance targets, the Company assigns
responsibilities and sets performance benchmarks and evaluation
methods for each Executive Director and members of the senior
management team. To promote the achievement of annual
performance goals, actual performance is assessed against annual
performance targets in order to determine the bonus. To align the
interests of owners and management team of the Company and
promote healthy development of the Company, the mid-to-long term
incentive scheme is correlated with mid-to-long term strategic targets
of the Company and determined by evaluating the performance in
corresponding strategical period.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed the policy for the remuneration of executive Directors,
assessed performance of executive Directors and senior management
and the incentive mechanism of the Company. There was one
meeting held by the Remuneration Committee to approve the
increase in salaries, bonus and the vesting plan of the mid-to-long
term incentive scheme to executive Directors and senior management
during the year. In this regard, the Remuneration Committee made
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management of the Group
for final adoption. The attendance at this meeting is as follows:

ZEERE Committee Members Attendance
B IHITEE Independent Non-Executive Directors

B % (ZEZFE) Andrew Y. Yan (Committee chairman) 11
F 5B Wan Kam To, Peter 1/1
(EE7EE S Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 11
# F Zhong Wei 1M1
7 & Sun Zhe 1/1
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, the details of the
remuneration of the members of the senior management were as
follows:

(AR#%T )
(RMB'000)
e M EHMEF Salaries and other benefits 43,198
RIRAE AT BIHETR Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 876
Bfet - Notes:
a LS EEEABBEARARNTESTNEMSEE a The above members of senior management included the executive directors

BAE:

b FesEERABTR IR -_T-_2F\A+T 1A
WARRAEHE - BBUER BEZAIN T _FF
—A—HEZZ-ZFENATN\BOFHD -

REEEABZKBIRBESS 2 H 0
T

and other members of senior management of the Company;

b Included in the above members of senior management, there is one member
who resigned effective from 19 August 2020. The above figures only
included his remuneration from 1 January 2020 to 18 August 2020.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band
is set out below:

A
& E Remuneration band Number of persons
FF ARK17TE2,000,0007T RMB1 to RMB2,000,000 per annum 2
& AR#5,000,00175£7,000,0007C RMB5,000,001 to RMB7,000,000 per annum 7

ARESHE M AZESFALZESZFHE B
B EMMRAMESR T N2 B TEEE - TSN IR
KHFEIR 10

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the five
highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 30 March 2007. As at 31 December
2020, a majority of the members of Nomination Committee were
Independent Non-Executive Directors. Non-executive Director Mr.
Wang Xiangming is the Chairman, other members include Executive
Director Mr. Li Xin and Independent Non-Executive Directors Mr.
Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco and Mr. Zhong Wei.

The Company revised the terms of reference for Nomination
Committee on 4 December 2018, effective from 1 January 2019. The
revised major duties of the Nomination Committee include:

(1)

to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually
and to make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

to develop and maintain a nomination policy for the board of
directors, including the nomination procedures and the process
and criteria adopted by the Committee to identify, select and
recommend candidates to become a director of the Company,
and to review regularly and disclose in the Company’s corporate
governance report the policy and progress towards achieving
the objectives under the policy. The Committee should ensure
that the selection process is transparent and fair, and that it
considers a wide range of candidates who are outside of the
Board’s circle and in accordance with the Company’s diversity

policy;

to develop and maintain a diversity policy for the board of
directors, to review regularly the implementation of the
measurable objectives under the policy, and to disclose the
diversity policy (or a summary thereof), the measurable
objectives and the progress towards achieving those objectives
in the Company’s corporate governance report;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members, assess the suitability and qualification of the
candidates for directorship (including the perspectives, skills and
experiences that the individual can bring to the Board and how
the individual can promote the diversity of the Board), report to
the Board on the assessment results, and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships;

to assess the independence of the Independent Non-Executive
directors, having regard to the requirements under the Listing
Rules;
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(6) when identifying and nominating individuals to become
Independent Non-Executive directors, to assess whether and
why such individuals can devote sufficient time to the Board if
he/she will be holding his/her seventh or more listed company
directorships; and

(7)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular, the chairman and the chief executive/
managing director. Details relating to terms of references of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Company revised the Board Diversity Policy on 4 December 2018,
effective from 1 January 2019. Pursuant to the updated Board
Diversity Policy, with a view to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company regards increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the
Board’'s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, ethnicity and length of service, to assess whether the
skills, experiences and diverse perspectives as well as the contribution
that the candidate can bring to the Board. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. Nomination Committee of the Company will
maintain the Board’s diversity policy, regularly review the
implementation of the measurable objectives under this diversity
policy to ensure the effectiveness of such policy. The Board Diversity
Policy is available on the website of the Company.
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The Company developed and adopted Director Nomination Policy on
4 December 2018, effective from 1 January 2019. Pursuant to the
Director Nomination Policy, Directors are appointed through formal,
considered and transparent procedures. The Nomination Committee
will evaluate, select and recommend candidate(s) for directorships to
the Board by giving due consideration to criteria including but not
limited to: (1) Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service; (2) Qualifications, including
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries the
Company’s business is involved in and other professional
qualifications; (3) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in
respect of available time and relevant interest; (4) Reputation for
character and integrity; (5) Contribution that the candidate(s) can
potentially bring to the Board; and (6) Plan(s) in place for the orderly
succession of the Board. When evaluate and recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment, the Nomination
Committee will further give due consideration to the overall
contribution and service of the retiring Director(s) to the Company,
including but not limited to the attendance of the meetings of the
Board and/or its committees and general meetings where applicable,
in addition to the level of participation and performance on the Board
and/or its committees. Besides, the Nomination Committee will
evaluate and recommend candidate(s) for the position(s) of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company by giving due
consideration to the factors including but not limited to those set out
in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Listing Rules (as amended from time
to time). The Director Nomination Policy is available on the website of
the Company.

During 2020, one meeting was held by the Nomination Committee at
which Mr. Guo Shiging was recommended to the Board to be
appointed as an Executive Director. The attendance of the meeting is
as follows:

i FEAC 8%
ZEERE Committee Members Attendance
HHTEE Non-Executive Director
THE (ZE52EF) Wang Xiangming (Committee chairman) 11
HITEE Executive Director
F m Li Xin 1
BN TEE Independent Non-Executive Directors
Bk Andrew Y. Yan 1/
(EFEE S Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 1/1
B F Zhong Wei 1M1
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The corporate governance committee of the Company (the "CG
Committee”) was established on 9 March 2012. As at 31 December
2020, a majority of the members of CG Committee was Independent
Non-Executive Directors. The Independent Non-Executive Director Mr.
Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco is the Chairman of the CG Committee and other
members include Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter and Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, all
being Independent Non-Executive Directors and Mr. Li Xin, being
executive Director.

Major duties of the CG Committee include: (1) to develop and review
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and
make recommendations to the Board; (2) to review and monitor the
training and continuous professional development of directors and
senior management; (3) to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
(4) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
employees and directors; and (5) to review the Company’s compliance
with the regular practice set out in the “Corporate Governance Code”
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report, details of which
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During 2020, one meeting was held by the CG Committee to review
and monitor training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management as well as reviewing compliance

MAENEEAREANNIFEE - kgg%zmma with CG Code by the Company and disclosure in CG Report. The
SN attendance of the meeting is as follows:
ZEERE Committee Members Attendance
BUIHHITEE Independent Non-Executive Directors
MR (ZEE2LE) Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco (Committee chairman) 11
FiBH Wan Kam To, Peter 11
SR Andrew Y. Yan 71
HITES Executive Director
F M Li Xin 171
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The executive committee of the Company (the

"Executive

Committee”) was established on 18 April 2017. As at 31 December
2020, all members of Executive Committee are executive Directors.
Mr. Li Xin is the Chairman of the Executive Committee and other
members include Mr. Zhang Dawei, Mr. Xie Ji, Mr. Wu Binggi and Mr.
Guo Shiging.

Major duties of the Executive Committee are listed as follows:

(M

within an aggregate cap of annual investment budget approved
by the Board, the Committee shall approve the following
transactions (other than a connected transaction) with a single
transaction amount representing 10% or below of the market
value of the Company and authorizing one or more Members to
sign the relevant documents and affix the common seal of the
Company in connection with the transaction:

(@) acquisition or disposal of assets (including land acquisition
by way of tender);

(b)  granting, accepting, transferring, exercising or terminating
an option in respect of acquiring or disposing of assets or
subscribing for securities;

(©) entering into or establishing Joint Venture Companies
(whether by way of partnership, corporation or
otherwise);

(d) providing indemnities, guarantees, financial assistance or
financing arrangement under US$2 billion;

approving the Company to make the following relevant
announcement and authorizing any one Member to make
appropriate amendments to such announcement and arrange
its publication:

(@ announcement in respect of the transaction as set out in
item (1) of this clause which constitutes a discloseable
transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules;
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announcement in respect of the loan agreement which is
subject to due performance of specific conditions by the
controlling shareholder as stipulated under Rule 13.18 of
the Listing Rules;

voluntary business update announcements, including
announcements on the update on land acquisitions, and
operational data, etc;

other routine announcements made pursuant to the
Listing Rules, including monthly returns, and
announcements of board meeting dates and poll results
for general meetings.

formulating the Company’s strategic and operational planning
and proposals such as strategic planning, business planning, etc.

executing any other specific matters delegated to the
Committee by the Board.

During the year under review, the Executive Committee held two
hundred and thirty six meetings for the purpose of effective and
timely management of the Company’s day-to-day operation.
Committee Chairman reported to the Board on a quarterly basis and

ZEFZMELEINT the resolutions were passed by the Executive Committee through
physical meeting or written document. Attendance of members of the
Executive Committee in 2020 is set out as follows:
A 8
ZEEBRE Committee Members Attendance
HITEE Executive Directors
= M (ZESEE) Li Xin (Committee chairman) 236/236
RAS Zhang Dawei 200/236
B Xie Ji 236/236
RRH Wu Binggi 200/236
MR (RZZE=ZF Shen Tongdong' (Resigned on 22 December 2020)
s + El %ﬂ{) 230/230
FE (RZEZ2F Guo Shiging? (Appointed on 22 December 2020)
T AZ+ZHEZME) 6/6

' ZEETIARBT_B=_tREH

? HZEEEIAHBITAR

BaE

There were two hundred and thirty meetings during the tenure of the
Director;

There were six meetings during the tenure of the Director.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
COMMITTEE

To further enhance the Company’s corporate governance, improve
the governance structure and refine the division of responsibilities of
the Board, a corporate social responsibility (“CSR"”) committee was
formed by the Company on 26 March 2019, to assist the Board in
providing direction on and overseeing the development and
implementation of the CSR initiatives of the Group. As at 31
December 2020, a majority of the members of CSR Committee are
Independent Non-Executive Directors. Executive Director Mr. Li Xin is
the Chairman, other members include Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr.
Zhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe, all being Independent Non-Executive
Directors and Mr. Xie Ji, being executive Director. Key responsibilities
of the CSR committee include:

(@)  corporate sustainability initiatives;
(b)  environmental protection initiatives; and

(¢)  philanthropic and community investment initiatives.

During 2020, one meeting was held by the CSR Committee to review

and monitor the development and implementation of the CSR
initiatives of the Group. The attendance of the meeting is as follows:

ZEEgRE Committee Members Attendance
HITEE Executive Directors

= M(ZESEE) Li Xin (Committee chairman) 1/1
& H Xie Ji 171
BN TEE Independent Non-Executive Directors

a5 Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 11
= Zhong Wei 11
7 7 Sun Zhe 11
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the annual reports, interim reports and financial statements of the
Company to ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair
presentation in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards. The statement by the independent auditor about its
reporting responsibilities relating to the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2020 is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 109 to 119.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board highly values and has the overall responsibility for
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems to safeguard the Group's assets and stakeholders’
interests, as well as for reviewing the effectiveness of the systems. To
fulfill its responsibility, the Board oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems to ensure the effectiveness of such systems through
well-established organizational structure, appropriate policies and
procedures in place, as well as clearly defined lines of authority and
responsibility.

The Board oversees the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis. The Company amended the
terms of reference of the Audit Committee in 2015 to further
enhance the risk management and internal control functions of the
Company. The Board assesses the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems through the reviews
performed by the Audit Committee, executive management, internal
audit department (“Internal Audit Department”) and external
auditors. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems including financial, operational and compliance controls, and
confirmed that the management had performed their duties to
maintain effective risk management and internal control systems, and
had ensured the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experiences, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.



—E-_FTFEHRE ANNUAL REPORT 2020

070

ERERHRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ARBINEREERREERAMERTE =
ZEFBETRN : (NEBNEERFREE - K
B MEHETREEREREIEANIEITER
FREREEEANMEESEIE  QEEMR
BRAIRHE  KEKLEBETEREIEEAE
ERERAERNSRTENRRBR  RENE
B UREERBRNEREE  QRBELNA
ERFERS - HARERERE RN EIEIEREE
HEARTIMENER  THEFEERAEKES
g IEMBEAETEEESR RAREHERE
FrEE - ARERAT BB C S EImARR -

AEBRREENAREERSRNTEHENT

o BIIIEBUNZEER

iz

:
=

o BHABERESEE TEHAKEREY
BRI TR :

o  EIMABATEE

ol

P BEEE

o EBEXEBZBEKFT
- HESEBKER
T &

BEBET - ABHR
O B A B T2 I B

o NBERIYMHBARIBEEARBRSRR &
REGEES KRR - BRHESRFEIER
RPrE - FEREEEMEREIERARBEIEE

EXECRERENEMRARES - BERTE R
MRS LR EHENARREBNEAER
EEECRMABETEENEARERFHNA
BHERBERR - ARARME B LARRARH
ETERBEEEMMINGIAL  FRIFBIESS
#fE o Bt AR B T & O M55
BE - BRIFGEIRRE - MHN - BRI 2K
MR T AR T AT TR ST 26D o

The Company'’s Internal Audit Department is responsible to execute
the risk management and internal control functions, including but not
limited to: (1) organizing and guiding the Group's all departments,
regions and business units to establish and improve the systems of
risk management and internal control, and carry on various work
under such systems; (2) supervising and inspecting implementation of
risk management and internal control systems in the Group's all
departments, regions and business units, suggesting rectification
measures and monitoring the implementation of such measures on an
on-going basis; (3) establishing internal evaluation mechanism,
assessing the Group’s risk management and internal control,
formulating an impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its
findings to the Audit Committee, the Chairman and the senior
management concerned as well as following up on all reports to
ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved.

Features of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
include the following:

o internal audit is independent from operational management;

o internal auditor is fully authorized with access to all operational
and financial data of the Group;

o internal auditor is well qualified and highly professional,

o implement real-time dynamic process risk management on areas
with significant risks including procurement and sales, with fully
coverage on operational procedures and business units of the
Group; and

o target to identify and eliminate material risk of the Company,
business oriented risk screen process, whilst proactively promote
system-risk prevention to build effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Board is responsible for handling and dissemination of inside
information. In order to ensure the market and stakeholders are
timely and fully informed about the material developments in the
Company’s business, the Board has adopted the Inside Information
Disclosure Policy regarding the procedures of proper information
disclosure. All staff members of the Company must ensure that inside
information is not communicated to any external parties unless with
approval from the Board. As such, staff members of the Company
shall not respond to market speculation and rumours unless they are
authorized. In addition, all external presentation materials or
publications must be pre-vetted before release.
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The Group's risk management and internal control systems and
procedures are designed to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement, errors, losses or fraud.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process. It
receives each year the letter from the independent auditor confirming
their independence and objectivity and holds meetings with
representatives of the independent auditor to consider the scope of
its audit, approve its fees, and the scope and appropriateness of non-
audit services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee also
makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
retention of the independent auditor.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Disclosure of the fees of Messrs. Ernst & Young is shown in Note 13
to the financial statements. In the year ended 31 December 2020, a
provision of RMB4.73 million was made in the financial statements for
the annual audit fee payable to Messrs. Ernst & Young of the
Company. In addition, the Group paid RMB0.70 million, RMB0.53
million, RMBO0.26 million as service fees for review of 2020 interim
financial statements, ESG consultation and issuance of special
corporate bonds for housing lease.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company’s company secretary (“Company Secretary”), Mr. Lo
Chi Lik, Peter, is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. Although the
Company Secretary is not a full time employee of the Company, he
reports to the Board and in his capacity as Company Secretary advises
the Board on governance matters. The primary contact person of the
Company with the Company Secretary was Mr. Guo Shiging,
Executive Director of the Company. The Company Secretary has
confirmed that he has attended at least 15 hours of professional
development in 2020.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

CONVENING EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
(“EGM") AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
GENERAL MEETINGS

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM. General
meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any two
or more members of the Company deposited at the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists,
provided that such requisitionists hold as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company.

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionists themselves or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general
meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

Article 120 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides
that no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election to the
office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of
the intention to propose that person for election as a director and
notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall
have been given to the Company provided that the minimum length
of the period, during which such notices are given, shall be at least
seven days. The period for lodgment of such notices shall commence
no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven days prior to
the date of such meeting.
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Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company wishes to nominate a
person to stand for election as a Director at a general meeting, the
following documents must be validly served on the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
within the period specified in Article 120 of the Articles of Association
of the Company, namely (1) his/her notice of intention to propose a
resolution to elect a nominated candidate as a Director at the general
meeting which must include the name of the nominating shareholder
of the Company, his/her contact details and the number of the
Company’s ordinary shares held by the nominating shareholder; (2) a
notice signed by the nominated candidate of the candidate’s
willingness to be elected; (3) the nominated candidate’s information
as required to be disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules;
and (4) the nominated candidate’s written consent to the publication
of his/her personal data.

The aforesaid procedures have been uploaded to the Company’s
website.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company developed and adopted Dividend Policy on 4 December
2018, effective from 1 January 2019, aiming to provide shareholders
of the Company with an annual dividend payout of not less than 20%
of the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders in any financial year,
subject to the criteria set out below. Such declaration and payment of
dividends shall remain to be determined at the absolute discretion of
the Board and subject to all applicable requirements (including
without limitation restrictions on dividend declaration and payment)
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company.
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In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into
account the following criteria, including: (1) the Group's actual and
expected financial performance; (2) shareholders’ interests; (3) general
business strategies; (4) retained earnings and distributable reserves of
the Company and each of the other members of the Group; (5) the
Group’s indebtedness level, key financial ratios (such as the Group’s
debt to equity ratio and return on equity) and any financial covenants
to which the Group is subject; (6) the Group’s expected working
capital requirements and future expansion plans; (7) liquidity position
and future commitments at the time of declaration of dividend; (8)
taxation considerations, and legal and regulatory restrictions; (9)
possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness; (10) general
economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and other
internal or external factors that may have an impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Company; and (11) other
factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board may from time to time pay to the shareholders such interim
dividends subject to the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
the Articles of Association of the Company. Except in the case of
interim dividend, any dividends declared by the Company must be
approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders at an annual
general meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by
the Board. Dividends may be distributed in the form of cash or shares
subject to and in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and the Articles of Association of the Company. The Company
will regularly review the Dividend Policy and reserve the right in its
sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the
Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall in no way
constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company that
dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way
obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time
to time.
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PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING SHAREHOLDERS'’
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders of the Company may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the investor
relations team of the Company. The contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations

China Resources Land Limited

46th Floor, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: ir@crland.com.cn

Tel: 852-2877 2330

Fax: 852-2877 9068

INVESTOR RELATIONS

As at 31 December 2020, details of shareholders by type, aggregate
shareholding and public float capitalization are set out as follows:

RERE BFRME

Aggregate
shareholding Capitalization
BETET
RER¥EH Shareholder type HKD billion
N (EF) GFEAT China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited 4,246,618,418 135.89
NRFFK Public Float 2,884,321,161 92.30




076

ERERHRE

“E-TFEHRE  ANNUAL REPORT 2020

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ARALE—RBREZ/_F_FTFRIEFK
g gER_TC gix\ﬂ HERBEFBE
B HARREERNEICRBET @ LFRNTIE

SHARBRAROROFBIIRMAT

The last shareholders’ meeting of the Company is the 2020 AGM of
the Company, the meeting was held at 46th floor, China Resources
Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on 2 June 2020.
Details of major items discussed and voting particulars are set out as

follows:
RERBEASLREEZ Ordinary Resolutions proposed ZY (%)
BERER at the AGM Number of votes (%)
B k¥
For Against

1. HEREEHE_ZT—NT-H 1. To receive and consider the audited 6,498,422,839 0
=t BUEFERERZMBRSE Financial Statements and the Directors’ 100% 0%
HEZeWE KBRS o Report and the Independent Auditor’s

Report for the year ended 31 December
2019.

2. BEHR-Z-ZFELA+HHARE 2. To declare a final dividend of HK$1.026 per  6,504,510,584 0
BEZZ-NAT-A=+—HILHF share for the year ended 31 December 2019 100% 0%
2RI E SR AR1.0267T payable on 15 July 2020 to shareholders
WY E_TFA-+-HEE whose names appear on the register of
RRRIRERAMAE D2 MR © members of the Company on 22 June 2020.

3. (1) EEIEREERES 3. (1) Tore-elect Mr. Wang Xiangmingas  5,970,186,352 534,324,232

Director. 91.79% 8.21%
) EEBERABLEARES - (2)  Tore-elect Mr. Zhang Dawei as 4,844,904,745 1,553,560,083
Director. 75.72% 24.28%
() EEHBELEERES- (3)  Tore-elect Mr. Xie Ji as Director. 6,448,899,806 55,610,778
99.15% 0.85%
4) EZREMEERES- (4)  Tore-elect Mr. Yan Biao as Director.  4,430,996,503 1,967,468,325
69.25% 30.75%
(5) ERBELLERES- (5)  Tore-elect Mr. Chen Ying as Director. ~ 4,430,996,503 1,967,468,325
69.25% 30.75%
(6) EEMBEREERES - (6)  Tore-elect Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco as  6,215,449,946 289,060,638
Director. 95.56% 4.44%
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RERBEAGLEZZ Ordinary Resolutions proposed =22 (%)

EERER at the AGM Number of votes (%)

{74 %3]
For Against
(7) EBEBE-_Z-_ZF+_-A (7)  To fix the remuneration of the 6,474,854,762 26,714,132
=T-BUEFEZESME Directors for the year ending 31 99.59% 0.41%
REBAHTESRIENTE December 2020 at the rate of
EHFABT A ETIERE HK$160,000 for each executive and
BV IFTESTFHBE Non-Executive director and
m+ErE - AL HK$400,000 for each Independent
£ EREE - RAAL Non-Executive director, except Mr.
£ BEEE IR E Wang Xiangming, Mr. Li Xin, Mr.
£ REHEE - BRI Zhang Dawei, Mr. Xie Ji, Mr. Shen
£ BREXE TERER Tongdong, Mr. Wu Binggji, Mr. Yan
PR 2R 5 A T IR R 1 ) Biao, Mr. Chen Ying, Mr. Wang Yan
E e and Mr. Chen Rong who will not
receive remuneration from the
Company.

4.  BELXSIMEEANDRIZ To re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as the  6,497,474,894 7,035,690

AR EEEESETAMNS - auditor of the Company and to authorise 99.89% 0.11%
the board of directors to fix their
remuneration.

5. KTEFCBOEARRRM 2K To give a general mandate to the Directors  6,488,432,074 13,136,820
i - HBEMERARETRG to repurchase shares of the Company not 99.80% 0.20%
BAZT exceeding 10% of the issued shares.

6. HBTEZCBRIARFRFBHZ— To give a general mandate to the Directors  4,996,672,054 1,504,872,840
MRE  EHBETMSHRBEETR to issue new shares of the Company not 76.85% 23.15%
MEHZ=T° exceeding 20% of the issued shares.

7. ENMARERARBRELAER To extend the general mandate to be given  5,034,764,362 1,469,722,222
BAEE R EE  UBAES to the Directors to issue shares by the 77.40% 22.60%
SRITRD 2 —RITHE - addition of the shares repurchased by the

Company under Item No.5 above.
L ERZRYBERB AT RAEE - All the resolutions were duly passed as ordinary resolutions.
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AQAB T —HRFENREEZEETHGFYIM  The important shareholders’ dates in the coming financial year of the
g Company is set out as follows:

BE_Z_ZF+_-A=1+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December 2020

—EEFERENMRERRE _T_ZFRPRE

Announcement of 2020 annual results and proposal of 2020 final dividend
T TFEEEOMEMRE

2020 annual results analyst meeting

“ T TFFEREE BRRAFAGRHEAREERBER
Dispatch of 2020 Annual Report, AGM Circular and Proxy Form

R BEF RS HEELLBP BERRREF AN Gci B

Latest time for lodging transfer documents for registration for Annual General Meeting and

Record Date for AGM
AR HERREAFASTRE ERENEREEHIERMNBEFER S

Closure of Register of Members for Voting in Annual General Meeting
REREAFAE

Annual General Meeting

—E_TFERARERFER

Ex-dividend date for proposed 2020 final dividend

R EERARENKEEILABFBEH

Latest time for lodging transfer documents for registration for 2020 final dividend
—ECTERAREHEEAH
Record Date for 2020 final dividend
RAWR—T _TFRBRENERGEHER DB FERD
Closure of Reglster of Members for 2020 final dividend
k3 — T — TEREARE A A
Payment date for proposed 2020 final dividend

—E-—®%=A=1+hA
29 March 2021
—E-—f5=H=+H
30 March 2021
—ZE_—FmEA=+NH
29 April 2021
—T_—FXA—H
TFUEB=+5
4:30 p.m.1 June 2021

—?— £'E/\}EJ El—
~NANB

2 June-9 June 2021

—ZE_—FXANA

9 June 2021

—E-—FA+N\H

18 June 2021

—ZE-_—FXA=Z+—H
TR =+%

4:30 p.m. 21 June 2021

—E-—FXAZTZH

22 June 2021

—E-—FXAZ+T=H

22 June 2021

—E-_—F+tANA

9 July 2021
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BE-E-—H%xXA=1HILXEA
Six months ended 30 June 2021

T FRRREANMRERIRE T —FHHRE

Announcement of 2021 interim results and proposal of 2021 interim dividend
RO FRHRRESNEERE

2021 interim results analyst meeting

—E-—FHEBRERFER

Ex-dividend date for proposed 2021 interim dividend

—T - -FRHRENKREREIBFEH

Latest time for lodging transfer documents for registration for 2021 interim dividend
—T - —Fh RSB
Record Date for 2021 interim dividend
RAWR - - —Fh RSN EREERERHEBFFERSR
Closure of Register of Members for 2021 interim dividend
T FRHRESFEN
Dispatch of 2021 Interim Report
kBT = —FRHRE A
Payment date for proposed 2021 interim dividend

—ZE-—FN\AZTH

26 August 2021

T —FN\AZ+H

26 August 2021

—E-—FhANH

8 September 2021

—E_—FNANR
THFEE=+5

4:30 p.m. 9 Sep 2021

Sy =
10 September 2021
—E-—FhA+H

10 September 2021
—E_—FHhAZt+NH
29 September 2021
—E_—FhAZ+WMH
24 September 2021
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The Company is committed to establishing and maintaining good
investor relations, and continuously improves investor relations
management through expanding communication channels, increasing
information transparency and enhancing market feedbacks to
management. In 2020, the Company proactively created various
opportunities for investor communication, updated investors with the
latest business development as well as the long-term strategy of the
Company on a timely manner, so as to establish smooth and positive
interaction with investors and to enhance the Company’s credibility in
the capital market.

During 2020, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.

The principle and vision of the Company’s investor relations function
is to communicate operational performance and the outlook of the
Company with its investors and potential investors via precise and
efficient disclosure in compliance with the relevant rules in order to
enhance capital market’s recognition to the Company. It also reports
to senior management of the Company the market trend and
feedbacks from the investors to promote management improvement
and corporate governance, to build up positive interactions between
investment community and the Company, and to enhance the market
capitalization of the Company on a continuous basis.

In 2020, the Company arranged on-line roadshows for investors in
mainland China, Hong Kong, Singapore and Europe covering topics
from its financial results to its business strategies and outlook.

In addition, the Company attended 23 major virtual investor forums,
held physical meetings and telephone conferences with the investors
globally and analysts from both buy-side and sell-side; and arranged
on-site visits for investors during the year.
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The following table sets out the major investor relations events of the

Company in 2020:

B
Month SEE Events
—A E NG R UBS Greater China Conference
January EERR 4= A1 B b 5 A Morgan Stanley China Cyclicals Corporate Day
=] N2019F FE AR Announcement of 2019 Annual Result
March MERhE Press Release
EeRgENSTEMRE Briefing with Analysts and Fund Managers
B EREERE Virtual Post Results Roadshow
F T = EmfE MR E RE 23rd Credit Suisse Asian Investment Conference
HA T R Bl smiE HSBC China Conference
May FE2H20KIE S CICC Strategy Forum 2H20
FRIFEF2020F P HIR LSRR S Huachuang Securities 2020 Interim Strategy Forum
APACE RS - B ERETRIEEWRE APAC Financial and REIT Equity and Credit Conference
~H 2020 fEFEEE MR A AR 1E Citi's Asia Pacific Property Conference 2020
June (22020584 PEATERATHE  Credit Suisse 2020 HK/China Property Virtual Corporate Day
R E RS FEARREA CIMB HK/China Property Conference Day
2020 NI B g 5% Nomura Investment Forum Asia 2020
iR E AR, A RwmE UBS Virtual HK/China Property Conference
R EBRAREATH GS Virtual Greater China Corporate Day
BEEEEMES RS Haitong International Property Virtual Property Day
B E2020F R EIR IS & Industrial Securities 2020 Interim Investment Strategy Forum
EEAR KA B9 & & 5w iE J.P. Morgan China Investor Conference
+A Bl A% 75 252020F h HsR B 2 Guosheng Securities 2020 Interim Strategy Forum
July
AVE AH20205 R HRZE AR Announcement of 2020 Interim Annual Result
August FEEMGE Press Release
EeRENSTEMRE Briefing with Analysts and Fund Managers
R AR Virtual Post Results Roadshow
LA F27EHERESERKREERE 27th Annual CITIC CLSA Flagship Investors’ Forum
September HEHEMRE Jefferies Asia Forum
F11fEmEEPRERERE 11th Credit Suisse China Investment Conference
+—A 2020 F 15 EEEFEIREE 2% 15th Citi's China Property Conference 2020
November ERFEH2020 FHIRERIE BAML China Investment Conference 2020

202075 5% Blim g

Goldman Sachs China Conference 2020

AR IR AP G B A i B

B EENE

=
B RREFRAEESHE THRARER  FAE
g AR EEE RIS E R 2 MOE T IR ERR -
AU ERRBAFER - BFENRERKTFH

TR -

Looking ahead, we will continue to improve the communication with
investors and provide them with more opportunities to understand
the business of the Company as well as to enhance the mutual
understanding and recognition between the senior management and
the investment community, with an aim to refine the internal
management, profitability and governance of the Company.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased to
submit to the shareholders its report and audited financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (hereafter referred to as “the
Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
detailed activities of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates are shown on pages 275 to 285 of this annual report.

The segment information of the Group is set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion
on the Group's prospects, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group,
relationships with its key stakeholders and environmental policy are
provided in the Chairman Statement on pages 22 to 27, Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 28 to 35 and Corporate Governance
Report on pages 48 to 81 of this annual report. Description of key risk
factors and uncertainties that the Group is facing is provided in
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 34 to 35 and note 49
to the consolidated financial statements while the financial risk
management objectives and policies of the Group can be found in
note 50 to the consolidated financial statements.

GROUP PROFIT

The consolidated income statement set out on page 120 shows the
Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2020.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends the declaration of a final dividend of
RMB1.102 per share, equivalent to HK$1.312 per share at the
exchange rate of HK$1:RMB0.8396 (2019: a final dividend of
RMB0.937 per share equivalent to HK$1.026 per share), together
with the interim dividend of RMB0.150 per share, dividends per share
for the year amount to RMB1.252. The final dividend is payable on 9
July 2021 to the shareholders whose names appear on the Register of
Members of the Company on 22 June 2021.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set
out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES

Summary of the principal properties of the Group is set out on pages
306 to 315.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital during the year are set out in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES AT THE COMPANY

The Company'’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium and retained profits. Under the Companies Law (Revised)
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the
Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to
Shareholders subject to the provisions of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company and provided that immediately
following the distribution or dividend, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Reserves of the Company available for distribution to Shareholders as
at 31 December 2020 amounted to RMB35,909,112,000 (2019:
RMB39,042,412,000).
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) who held office during
the year and at the date of this report are:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Xiangming
Mr. Yan Biao

Mr. Chen Ying

Mr. Wang Yan

Mr. Chen Rong

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xin

Mr. Zhang Dawei

Mr. Xie Ji

Mr. Wu Binggqi

Mr. Guo Shiging (Appointed on 22 December 2020)
Mr. Shen Tongdong (Resigned on 22 December 2020)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco
Mr. Andrew Y. Yan

Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter
Mr. Zhong Wei

Mr. Sun Zhe

As at the date of this report, pursuant to Articles 99 and 116 of the
Articles of Association of the Company, Mr. Li Xin, Mr. Chen Rong,
Mr. Wang Yan, Mr. Yan Y, Andrew, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter and Mr.
Guo Shiging shall retire from office at the upcoming annual general
meeting and shall be eligible for re-election.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set
out on pages 36 to 47.
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DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), including interests and short positions
which the Directors and chief executive of the Company are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, which are required
to be recorded in the register maintained pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise required to be notified to Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (“Model Code”) contained
in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

() AR SrTEmIR R AR (@)  Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of the
R Company:
ZBERBROHE SR H DO
HEMAR Number of Approximate
" Long position/ ordinary percentage of
Name short position shares interest ™
F m Sy 40,000 0.001
Li Xin Long position
LI e 1,992,000 0.028
Yan Biao Long position
R & we 500,000 0.007
Chen Ying Long position
Hiat - Notes:
(1) BEFEFSREAAR KRG RAEERGEERN (1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in

“ERCRF+ A=+ - BERRREETR
(RESE GOIERR)¢

() ENFEBENFEEEHSESUEEESA
HHFEAE

() RARAMBAREBEERLEEBRAA

shares and underlying shares of the Company to the total issued
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2020.

2) The above disclosed interests were held by directors as beneficial
owners.

(b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

([FTEEBRAF ) BRI ER ARG China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (“CR Mixc
RYER R Lifestyle”), the subsidiary of the Company:
EERROSE HEERE DO
BRME Number of Approximate
i Long position/ ordinary percentage of
Name short position shares interest
R & we 3,461 0.00015

Chen Ying Long position
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(1) BOEFROEBEES AR RBBERMEE
R-E-EF+_A=+—REEBEERER
BREITROBHENEDLL -

Q) LEXFRENMERGZASEEUNESEAA
F0RE -

(R) RARBEBEE — FHEE(ER) AR
RAN([ERWE]) B HTEBR RN
AR

Notes:

(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
shares and underlying shares of CR Mixc Lifestyle to the total issued
shares of CR Mixc Lifestyle as at 31 December 2020.

2) The above disclosed interests were held by directors as beneficial
owners.

() Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“China
Resources Beer"”), an associated corporation of the Company:

HERROBE HEEZEIHO

BEME Number of Approximate
i Long position/ ordinary percentage of
Name short position shares interest
I R 500,000 0.015
Yan Biao Long position
xF E e 167,999 0.005
Wang Yan Long position

Mt -
(1) MRS REEREER D MR B
TR BB DL

(2) LEXFRENMAEEGHSESAERERA
SRR -

(T) RARBREEER — EFENERARRD
A([FEHEN ) B #ITE B MAABARN
AR

Notes:

(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
shares and underlying shares of China Resources Beer to the total
issued shares of China Resources Beer as at 31 December 2020.

(2) The above disclosed interests were held by directors as beneficial
owners.

(d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CR
Power”), an associated corporation of the Company:

EERROBE HEBZEFILO

BEMAE Number of Approximate
i Long position/ ordinary percentage of
Name short position shares interest
I R 570,080 0.012
Yan Biao Long position
£ 2 e 44,000 0.001
Wang Yan Long position

Mt -

(M) RIS REERENRD KAABRN A
R-Z-ZFE+-A=+—HEERENEH
TR EENBE DL

Q) EIXFERBENMERSASEEAESEAA
F0RE -

Notes:

(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
shares and underlying shares of CR Power to the total issued shares
of CR Power as at 31 December 2020.

2) The above disclosed interests were held by directors as beneficial
owners.
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() MARRREESEE — FRHAOREREMRZA () Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
Al ([E MR ]) B BT MR MR D China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), an
HHEER associated corporation of the Company:

EERRAEE HiLRERZF DD

HRME Number of Approximate

" Long position/ ordinary percentage of

Name short position shares interest "

R B Sy 230,000 0.003
Chen Ying Long position

Btat - Notes:

(1) RIT A FE R B KR AR (D R AR R 1D 4 8k (1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
RIE-TF+-A=+—HMEEBHNKEE % shares and underlying shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares
TROBEOE DL © of CR Cement as at 31 December 2020.

(2) LEXFHENMEEZESESUTRERA (2)  The above disclosed interests were held by directors as beneficial
HMEE o owners.

(2) RAEATEEEE — E=P2EeE AR A () Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

A([FEHEE ) BT ERRMARER N P

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (“CR

BEOER Pharmaceutical”), an associated corporation of the Company:
ETERROHE HEEZFIHLO
HRME Number of Approximate
i 4 Long position/ ordinary percentage of
Name short position shares interest ™
£ 2 we 2,000 0.00003
Wang Yan Long position
Biat Notes:

M

TREFR PP R OZE T 8 B 4D AR BE R0 MR R
RIZB-ZFE+_A=t+—HEEEEED
TR BB DL -

EXFRENEERERLGERE

(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
shares and underlying shares of CR Pharmaceutical to the total issued
shares of CR Pharmaceutical as at 31 December 2020.

(2)  The above disclosed interests were held by the spouse of the director.
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ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO
SUBSCRIBE FOR SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above in the section “Director’s Interests in
Securities”, the Company or any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries
or its parent company was not a party to any arrangement which
enables the Directors to benefit from a purchase of the shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate during the
year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2020.

DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors had any service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
terminable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual independence confirmation from
all independent Non-Executive Directors pursuant to rule 3.13, and
considers the independent Non-Executive Directors to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
connection with business of the Company, to which the Company, its
parent company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries were a party and
in which any Director of the Company or his connected entity had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director of the Company should be entitled to be indemnified out of
the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him as a Director, in defending any proceedings, whether
civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favor, or in which he
is acquitted.

The Company maintains a directors’ liability insurance policy against
potential legal liabilities and related expenses that may be incurred by
the Directors in the event of any litigation.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions”,
the “Continuing Connected Transactions” and “Equity-Linked
Agreement” as set out in this report, there were no other contracts of
significance between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, or any contracts of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS

RZZE-_TF+_A=1+—H LA FNAL(KAQAR] Asat31 December 2020, the following persons (not being a Director
BERITHREZBIN AR ATIHIRG RABERD  or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
FHARB(BEERBEBRAIYEXVIEIE2RE3  the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
HOHEBMANT RSN ERCESKLE  be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Division 2 and 3

/

HIEM)E 36 IEMEFHELMOEZRS AR of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register

i maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

12020

128318 %

RpNERER

BRARBET

RGHEDL

Percentage of

the aggregate

long position

in shares to

EERRGEE the issued

#RI%E Number of shares of

RREH &t ERME Long position/ ordinary the Company

Name of Shareholders Capacity Nature of interest  short position shares  as at 31/12/2020

CRH (Land) Limited (" CRHL") BRfAA BiifEn f7e 4,43,788,418 59.51%
Beneficial owner Beneficial owner Long position

£R(5B)ARRA(ZEEE])" SNl NGIL 3 e 4,246,618,418 59.55%
China Resources (Holdings) Company Controlled company'sinterest  Corporation interest  Long position

Limited ("CRH")"

CRC Bluesky Limited (“Bluesky")" REEH D AlER NelER e 4,246,618,418 59.55%
Controlled company'sinterest  Corporation interest  Long position

EEROARAR(TEBRA O REHAAER Nals 35 4,246,618,418 59.55%
China Resources Inc. ("CRC")" Controlled company'sinterest  Corporation interest ~ Long position

REERERAA ((REER)O REH R AER NGl 5 e 4,246,618,418 59.55%

China Resources Company Limited (“CRCL")"

Controlled company'sinterest  Corporation interest  Long position

Bitat - Note:

(1) CRHL A & Commotra Company Limited 5 B B35 H (1) CRHL and Commotra Company Limited directly held 4,243,788,418 shares
KA B]4,243,788,418 i% DA £ 2,830,000 i% @ E H &£ and 2,830,000 shares of the Company, respectively. CRH is the sole
[ 5 CRHL LA & Commotra Company Limited 2 i — % shareholder of CRHL and Commotra Company Limited. Moreover, CRH is a
B T EEH % B 2 Bluesky ) 2 & M @B A &) + Bluesky wholly-owned subsidiary of Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRC.
EEHBROHEERBAR @ MEBRMASHEE CRC is wholly-owned by CRCL. Thus, CRH, Bluesky, CRC and CRCL are
HH2EWEBAR - ALt Z=E%EME - Bluesky ~ ZE deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 4,246,618,418 shares in the
B&fp - BRI RAR A% A AN F)4,246,618,418 Company.

PRERR 15 MO 25
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BAR (T REEREESE)
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(v) EEREEEAENENARRARREZMEE
ENEFEA -

R-ZZ-ZTF+-A=+—H ' BIHRN Lt

12 4858 A7 60,949,857,166 7T (1A 49 A
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Save as aforesaid, as at 31 December 2020, no other person had any
interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES

Particulars regarding principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates are set out in note 48 on pages 275 to 285 of the
consolidated financial statements.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Certain loan agreements and bond terms of the Group include a
condition that imposes one or more of the following specific
performance obligations on the Company’s controlling Shareholder:

(i)  CRH remains the single largest Shareholder of the Company
which has an aggregate beneficial ownership (directly or
indirectly) of not less than 35% or 50% (as the case may be);

(i) CRH maintains the direct or indirect ownership of at least 35%
of the shares of the Company;

(i)~ CRH remains the single largest Shareholder (whether directly or
indirectly through its subsidiaries) of the Company;

(iv)  CRH remains to be beneficially owned as to more than 50%
shareholding by the central government of the PRC;

(v)  CRH retains the ability from a practical perspective to control
the appointment by the Company’s Shareholders of Directors to
the Board.

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate reserved facility subject to
the above conditions were HK$60,949,857,166 (equivalent to
RMB51,297,684,795). Such reserved facility will expire on no later
than 28 October 2029.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

A.

ACQUISITIONS OF THE TARGET COMPANIES

On 22 June 2020 (after trading hours), the Company (through
its subsidiaries) entered into four separate sale and purchase
agreements (“SPAs”) with certain subsidiaries of CRH for the
proposed acquisitions of the target companies for a total
consideration of approximately RMB2,557,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,796,338,623), subject to the terms and
conditions as set out in the respective agreements for the
acquisitions.

The acquisitions are not inter-conditional with each other and
the termination and/or completion of any one of the acquisitions
will not affect other acquisitions.

(1) Acquisition of the Shenyang Sale Equity

On 22 June 2020 (after trading hours), the Company
(through its subsidiary) entered into the Shenyang SPA
with vendor for the sale and purchase of the Shenyang
sale equity, representing the entire registered capital of
China Resources Vanguard (Shenyang) Land Limited (the
“Shenyang Target”), for a consideration of approximately
RMB1,299,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,420,588,139). The Shenyang Target directly owns
the entire interest in the Shenyang project.

The Shenyang Target is a property development company
which directly holds the entire interest in the Shenyang
project. The Shenyang project is a property development
project strategically located in the central district of
Shenyang city on Changbai Island, Heping District,
Shenyang, Liaoning Province, PRC. As the superstructure
of line 4 of the Shenyang Metro that is being built, the
Shenyang project is in the core district of Changbai Island
of Shenyang, the largest ecological island in Northern
China and the most liveable area of Shenyang city centre.
The Shenyang project occupies a total site area of
approximately 46,500 sq.m. and is expected to be
developed into a mixed-use integrated development with
residential buildings and a shopping mall of a total gross
floor area of approximately 296,000 sqg.m..
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Acquisition of the Beijing Sale Equity

On 22 June 2020 (after trading hours), the Company
(through its subsidiary) entered into the Beijing SPA with
vendor for the sale and purchase of the Beijing sale equity,
representing the entire registered capital of Runxin Land
(Beijing) Limited (“the Beijing Target”), for a consideration
of approximately RMB497,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$543,519,865). The Beijing Target
directly owns the entire interest in the Beijing project.

The Beijing Target is a property development company
which directly holds the entire interest in the Beijing
project. The Beijing project is a property development
project located in a residential area at Yaojiayuan Road,
Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC. The Beijing project is
approximately 4-6 kilometers from the core central
business district of Beijing. The Beijing project occupies a
total site area of approximately 19,000 sg.m. and will
have a total gross floor area of approximately 84,900
sg.m. respectively. The Beijing project will be developed
into a shopping mall.

Acquisition of the Ningbo Sale Equity

On 22 June 2020 (after trading hours), the Company
(through its subsidiary) entered into the Ningbo SPA with
vendor for the sale and purchase of the Ningbo sale
equity, representing the entire registered capital of Ningbo
Qianhu Ledu Land Limited (“the Ningbo Target”), for a
consideration of approximately RMB238,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$260,277,119). The
Ningbo Target directly owns the entire interest in the
Ningbo project.

The Ningbo Target is a property development company
which directly holds the entire interest in the Ningbo
project. The Ningbo project is a property development
project located at Songzaogiaocun, Yinzhou District, one
of the core and central districts of Ningbo. The Ningbo
project is adjacent to a residential area as well as a
planned commercial land, with line 3 of the Ningbo Metro
beingless than 500 meters away from the Ningbo project.
The Ningbo project occupies a total land area of
approximately 20,900 sq.m. and will have a total gross
floor area of 96,400 sg.m.. The Ningbo project will be
developed into a shopping mall.
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Acquisition of the Shenzhen Sale Equity

On 22 June 2020 (after trading hours), the Company
(through its subsidiary) entered into the Shenzhen SPA
with vendor for the sale and purchase of the Shenzhen
sale equity, representing the entire issued share capital of
China Resources Huan Le Song (Hong Kong) Limited (“the
Shenzhen Target”), for a consideration of approximately
RMB523,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$571,953,500). China Resources Runxin Commercial
Management (Shenzhen) Limited (“CR Runxin”), a
subsidiary of the Shenzhen Target, has a property interest
in the Shenzhen project as the lessee of the property of
the Shenzhen project.

The Shenzhen Target is an investment holding company
which directly holds the entire equity interest of CR
Runxin. The Shenzhen project is a shopping mall located
at the intersection of Xiangge Road and Nanhuan Road,
Buji Area, Longgang District, Shenzhen. The mall has a
gross floor area and a gross leasable area of approximately
124,500 sg.m. and 69,200 sg.m. respectively. The mall
can accommodate a maximum of 326 shops, 99% of
which are now being rented.

It has always been the Group's strategy to develop,
operate and manage high quality properties and replenish
land bank in the strategically important regions in the
PRC. While the projects are located in Shenyang, Beijing,
Ningbo and Shenzhen, the projects are located in
municipality or sub-provincial city of the PRC. The
Directors consider that the projects are also ideally located
within the respective cities of PRC, being able to enjoy
advantages in the transportation network of the cities and
supported by residential or commercial neighborhoods
with immense potential for growth. The Directors believe
that the projects will strengthen the market share and
competitiveness of the Company in the PRC in the long-
run.
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The Board (including the independent Non-Executive
Directors) is of the view that terms of the SPAs and the
Acquisitions are determined after arm’s length
negotiations, which are fair and reasonable, and the
entering into of the SPAs are conducted in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Company, on normal
commercial terms and in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.

CRH is the controlling Shareholder of the Company, CRH
is therefore a connected person of the Company. As the
vendors are indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of CRH
and the purchasers are indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company, the acquisitions constitute connected
transactions of the Company. As all the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the acquisitions exceed
0.1% but are less than 5%, the acquisitions are only
subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
under the Listing Rules.

Details of the above transactions are set out in the
connected transaction announcement of the Company
dated 22 June 2020.

ACQUISITION OF A PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
COMPANY

On 26 August 2020, China Resources Land (Wuhan) Property
Management Company Limited (“CRL Wuhan"), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
agreement with China Resources Company Limited (“CRCL")
for the sale and purchase of the sale equity, representing the
entire registered capital of Hubei Runlian Property Management
Company Limited (the Target Company), for a consideration of
RMB47,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$52,774,219),
subject to the terms and conditions as set out in the agreement.

The Target Company operates housing rental and property
management business mainly in Hubei province of the PRC
where cities and towns with immense potential for growth are
located. The Directors believe that the acquisition represents an
attractive investment opportunity for the Group to strengthen
the market share and competitiveness of the property
management business of the Company by further expanding
the geographical reach and scale of property management
business of the Group in the Hubei province of the PRC in the
long run.
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CRCL is a controlling shareholder of the Company, CRCL is
therefore a connected person of the Company. CRL Wuhan is
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and thus
the acquisition constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company. As one of the applicable percentage ratios in respect
of the acquisition exceeds 0.1% but is less than 5%, the
acquisition is only subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements under the Listing Rules.

Details of the aforesaid transaction are set out in the connected
transaction announcement of the Company dated 26 August
2020.

LEASE AGREEMENTS

On 19 November 2020, China Resources Land (Shenzhen)
Development Company Limited (CRSZ ,as lessee) entered into
the lease agreements with China Resources Vanguard
(Shenzhen) Development Company Limited and China
Resources Shenzhen Bay Development Company Limited
(collectively as lessors), respectively, for a term of 5 years
commenced from 18 December 2018 to 17 December 2023,
for operating the properties as shopping mall.

The Directors believe that the entering into of the lease
agreements represents an attractive investment opportunity for
the Group to acquire a property interest in the properties at a
competitive rent for operation of shopping mall or to sub-let the
properties for higher return, as well as to improve overall cost
efficiency in the provision of management services of the
premises and the shopping mall which are within proximity.

CRH is the controlling shareholder of the Company and
therefore a connected person of the Company. As lessors are
the indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of CRH, the entering into
of the lease agreements constitute connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules. As the highest percentage
ratios calculated based on the value of the right-of-use assets to
be recognized by the Group in connection with the lease
agreements exceeds 0.1% but is less than 5%, the transactions
contemplated under the lease agreements are only subject to
reporting and announcement requirements under the Listing
Rules.

Details of the aforesaid transactions are set out in the connected
transactions announcement of the Company dated 19
November 2020.
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ACQUISITION OF 26% EQUITY INTERESTS IN A
TARGET COMPANY

On 24 December 2020, Shenyang Runtou Property
Development Company Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with
Shenyang Jinshan Energy Company Limited for the sale and
purchase of the sale equity, representing 26% of the entire
registered capital of Shenyang China Resources Thermal Power
Company Limited (Target Company), a subsidiary of CR Power
for a total consideration of approximately RMB265,718,000.

The Target Company operates a thermal power station in
Shenyang, the PRC, and is principally engaged in the business of
electricity and heat production and sales, energy exploration,
consultation on energy reservation and relevant services.

The Group is involved in a strategic cooperation project for the
development in Shenyang, the PRC and is responsible for the
redevelopment of certain areas in the Dadong District including
where the power station is situated and the surrounding areas
upon acquisition of the land by way of tender, auction and
listing following resumption by the government. Despite that
the Group has already acquired the land for redevelopment, as
part of the terms of the land grant by the government to the
Group, possession of the land can only be granted to the
Group, and the redevelopment plan of the land can only be
implemented, after the power station is shut down. As at the
date of the announcement, the power station is situated on the
land and in operation, and there is no consensus on the
expected date for the shut down of the power station and/or
when the Group can gain possession of the land. For purpose of
increasing productivity and preventing cost overrun and delay of
the redevelopment project of the land, the Group considers that
it is crucial to efficiently monitor, control and execute the close-
down, relocation and demolition of the power station in the
area such that the subsequent planning and construction works
could be carried out safely, effectively and in a timely manner.
The Board believes that by acquiring the minority interests, the
Group will have better control of the pre-construction
procedures with CR Power, and the Group can also gain
possession of the land for redevelopment as soon as practicable
so as to reduce any cost overrun for the development project or
the capital cost for the paid land price.
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CRH is the controlling shareholder of the Company and
therefore a connected person of the Company. CRH is also a
controlling shareholder of CR Power and thus CR Power is an
associate of CRH. As China Resources Power Investment Co.,
Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Power and also an
associate of CRH, is interested in over 10% of the entire
registered capital of the Target Company, the acquisition
constitutes a connected transaction under Rule 14A.28(2) of the
Listing Rules. As more than one of the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the acquisition exceed 0.1% but is less than
5%, the acquisition is only subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements under the Listing Rules.

Details of the above transaction are set out in the connected
transaction announcement of the Company dated 24 December
2020.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
INTRA-GROUP LENDING BETWEEN MEMBERS OF THE
CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

On 9 December 2019, the Company and CRH entered into offshore
framework loan agreement and guarantee for three years ending 31
December 2022 ("Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019").
Pursuant to Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019, the
Company and any of its subsidiaries which has become a party to
Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019 by acceding to its terms,
but excluding any entity which is established in the PRC could make
loans denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars,
whereas, Borrowers were:

(@) CRH; and

(b) any China Resources Group listed company as defined in the
continuing connected transactions announcement of the
Company dated 9 December 2019 (the “CCT Announcement”)
and any of their subsidiaries, which has become a party to the
Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019 by acceding to its
terms, but excluding any entity which is established in the PRC
and any member of the Group.
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On the same date, the Company and CRC also entered into an
onshore framework loan agreement for the three years ending 31
December 2022 (“Onshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019")
(Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2019 and Onshore Framework
Loan Agreement 2019 shall collectively be referred to as the
“Framework Loan Agreements 2019"). Pursuant to the Onshore
Framework Loan Agreement 2019, any subsidiary of the Group
established in the PRC which has become a party to Onshore
Framework Loan Agreement 2019 by acceding to its terms can make
loans denominated in Renminbi. Borrowers were CRC, and any PRC
established subsidiary of CRC or a China Resources Group listed
company, which has become a party to the Onshore Framework Loan
Agreement 2019 by acceding to its terms, but excluding Zhuhai China
Resources Bank Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank"”), China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd. (“CR Trust"”) and any subsidiary of the Company.

The Company has been provided with higher flexibility through the
entering of the Framework Loan Agreements 2019, with respect to its
management of surplus cash resources and it was permitted to lend
its own surplus cash resources and part of its subsidiaries’ to other
members of China Resources Group (including CRC and CRH).

By virtue of CRC being the controlling shareholder of CRH which in
turn holds the controlling interest of the Company, CRC and CRH are
the connected persons of the Company within the meaning of the
Listing Rules. As such, Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Framework
Loan Agreements 2019 constituted continuing connected
transactions.

Details of the Framework Loan Agreements 2019 are set out in the
CCT Announcement.

The proposed annual lending caps for the Group for the term of the
Framework Loan Agreements 2019 are as follows:

BET-AZT-HLEFENEFESRERLR
Daily lending cap for the year ending 31 December

2020 2021 2022
AREBER AREBEER ARBEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million
4,000 4,000 4,000

HE_Z_ZF+_A=T—HLEFEAR X&F
EE—S-NFERERBRBATRABEAL
REER -

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there was no loan lent to
connected persons by the Group pursuant to the Framework Loan
Agreements 2019.
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STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
BETWEEN MEMBERS OF THE CHINA RESOURCES
GROUP

On 9 December 2019, the Company and CR Bank entered into a
strategic cooperation agreement for the three years ending 31
December 2022 (“CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2019"),
pursuant to which, any deposit made with CR Bank under these
arrangements will bear the same interest and be on the same terms
and conditions as would apply to a similar deposit made by any other
customer of the bank, which rates are determined with reference to
such other more preferential rates. Pursuant to CR Bank Strategic
Cooperation Agreement 2019, other than deposit services, from time
to time, the Group may use the commercial banking services of CR
Bank including, but not limited to, letter of credit, letter of guarantee,
granting of loans with collaterals, bill acceptance and discount
services, account receivable factoring services, RMB and foreign
currency settlements, provision of loans and security, wealth and cash
management services, financial consulting service and other financial
services as agreed by the parties. These services will be provided on
normal commercial terms which apply to other customers of CR Bank.

On the same day, the Company and CR Trust entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2022
(“CR Trust Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2019", together with
CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2019 referred to as
“Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019"), pursuant to which, from
time to time, the Group may use services provided by CR Trust
including, but not limited to, cash management, asset management,
custodian trust loan services, equity cooperation, account receivable
factoring services, buying and resale services consulting services and
other trust services. These services will be provided on normal
commercial terms and will be charged at a rate no less favorable as
would apply to similar services provided to any of CR Trust’'s other
clients.

The proposed annual caps for financial services under both of the
Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019 have been determined after
taking into account of the Group’s liquidity, business needs and the
expected level of services to be received from CR Bank and CR Trust
under the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019.
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The Group is permitted to use the deposit services and other financial
services of CR bank and CR Trust as a result of the entering of the
Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2019, which, under normal
commercial terms, supported the internal development of CRH in a
scale not causing resource exposure to the Group and not
jeopardizing the relationship between Group and other financial
institutions.

By virtue of CRC being the controlling shareholder of CRH which in
turn holds the controlling interest of the Company, CRC and CRH are
connected persons of the Company within the meaning of the Listing
Rules. CRC held 70.28% and 51% of the registered capital in CR
Bank and CR Trust respectively. As such, CR Bank and CR Trust are
connected persons of the Company and the above arrangements
constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company,
details of which were set out in the CCT Announcement.

The proposed maximum daily deposit amount, inclusive of interest
payable, placed by the Group with CR Bank for the term of CR Bank
Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2019 is set out as follows:

BE+-A=+-BLFENSHEERSELR
Maximum daily deposit amount
for the year ending 31 December

2020 2021 2022
AREEETT ARBEET AREBETT
RMB million RMB million RMB million
= HIRTT CR Bank 3,500 3,500 3,500

REBEE_Z-_ZTF+_A=+—HLEFER ' K
SEGTRREBRTHNERSGSBSHEAARE
#93,255,489,000 7T + T B 5% F 17 SR ER B 42 ) 2
WA BAREA 26,412,000 7T ©

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the highest daily deposit
amount by the Group with CR Bank was approximately
RMB3,255,489,000, total Interest income received from the deposit
amounted to approximately RMB26,412,000.
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Besides, the proposed maximum daily amount of financial services
and products provided by CR Bank and CR Trust to the Group for the
term of Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019:

BE+t-A=1T-RLFEZSATELR
Maximum daily amount
for the year ending December

2020 2021 2022

ARBEER ARBEET ARBEER

RMB million RMB million RMB million

HEHRIT R EH(=3EM Financial services and products 5,000 5,000 5,000

AEERHE S BARTS

RE S and CR Trust

provided to the Group by CR Bank
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, the maximum daily amount of
financial services and products provided by CR Bank and CR Trust to
the Group was approximately RMB2,089,190,000 under the terms of
the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2019.

PROVISION OF CONSTRUCTION, DECORATION
AND FURNITURE SERVICES AND SALES OF
CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT

The Group has been, during the normal course of its businesses,
providing construction and decoration services and selling furniture
and construction material to members of the CRH Group and
associates of CRH. Construction services provided by the Group
include building construction, mechanical and electrical engineering
and installation as well as urban utilities. Decoration services provided
by the Group include interior design, decoration and furnishing of
offices, commercial and residential properties. Furniture services
provided by the Group include furniture manufacturing and sale.

On 9 December 2019, the Company and CRH, entered into the
Provision of Construction Services, Decoration Services and Furniture
Services and Sales of Construction Material Framework Agreement
2019 (“Provision of Construction Services, Decoration Services and
Furniture Services and Sales of Construction Material Framework
Agreement 2019") to govern the principal terms of the provision of
construction and decoration services and furniture manufacturing and
sale services as well as the sales of construction material in the PRC by
the Group to the members of the CRH Group (namely CRH and its
subsidiaries, excluding the Group) and associates of CRH for the three
financial years ending 31 December 2022.
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Each contract of construction, decoration or furniture services or sales
of construction material will be entered into on normal commercial
terms and the prices will be either at market prices or at prices no less
favorable to the Group than those available from independent third
parties.

The annual caps are determined taking into account the business
needs of members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH and the
expected level of services to be provided by the Group under the
Provision of Construction Services, Decoration Services and Furniture
Services and Sales of Construction Material Framework Agreement
2019.

The proposed annual caps for the Provision of Construction Services,
Decoration Services and Furniture Services and Sales of Construction
Material Framework Agreement 2019 for the three years ending 31
December 2022 are as follows:

BE+-A=+—HLEFE

For the year ending 31 December

2020 2021 2022

AREBEERL AR®BEERT AR¥EER

RMB million RMB million RMB million

BELR The Construction Caps 1,800 1,800 1,800
RELR The Decoration Caps 650 650 650
MR EBR The Construction Material Caps 1,000 1,000 1,000

EBREEREARARZERER  WEBEER
RERBIREBREBREARBRNRARZEEAL
(EERLMRA) - At - ZEXFEBUARF]
MRERER S - ARARENZBERERS

N

TS ERER SN —_E_EEE FREERS
OO

As CRH is the controlling shareholder of the Company, the members
of the CRH Group and associates of CRH are the connected persons
of the Company as defined under the Listing Rules. Such transactions
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company and
details of which are set out in the CCT Announcement.

The caps and the actual amount of the above continuing connected
transactions in 2020 are shown as follows:

20205 E LR 20208 BERXZ L5

R Annual caps  Actual transaction
No. ¥ HE5I Business Type in 2020 amounts in 2020
AREEBEER AREBEER

RMB million RMB million

1 fee Construction 1,800 1,380
£ Decoration 650 70
FEEMEEE Sales of Construction Material 1,000 72
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PROPERTY LEASING AND CONCESSIONAIRE
FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

The Group has been, during the normal course of its businesses,
entering into leasing and concessionaire arrangements regarding its
property portfolio where members of the Group lease premises to
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH. On 9 December
2019, the Company and CRH entered into the Leasing and
Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2019 (”the Leasing and
Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2019”) to govern the principal
terms of the leasing and concessionaire arrangements.

Subject to further definitive written agreements, from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive), the Group will enter into
new leasing agreements or new concessionaire agreements with
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH in the ordinary
and usual course of business on the following terms:

(@) each of the leasing or concessionaire arrangements to be
entered into by a member of the Group with a member of the
CRH Group or an associate of CRH will be documented in a
separate written agreement; and

each leasing or concessionaire arrangement will be entered into
on normal commercial terms with the rents, management fees
and other charges received by the Group from any members of
the CRH Group or associates of CRH being either at market
prices or at prices no less favorable to the Group than those
available from independent third parties.

The proposed annual caps for the Leasing and Concessionaire
Framework Agreement 2019 for the three years ending 31 December
2022 are as follows:

BE+-A=T—-HLEE

For the year ending 31 December

2020 2021 2022

ARMEERT ARWEEBRT ARBEER

RMB million RMB million RMB million

HENFTR LR The Leasing and Concessionaire Caps 650 650 650
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The annual cap and actual transaction amount in 2020 of the above

CEY(INE continuing connected transaction are set out below:
2020FE LR 20205 BRRZEHE
Annual caps  Actual transaction
xR Business Type in 2020 amounts in 2020
ARBEER ARBEER
RMB million RMB million
MERTALR The Leasing and Concessionaire Caps 650 476

EHEEREARB 2D HEBFRER
B RBIREEEEY %AEZIS’ATZF%EL/\:E
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MERER S -

BIE ETIEBIRRRIZE 14A5515 - BUIERITES
EHT LABEEREERS - BRI

1. ZRERZFEAEENHERBEPRIL

2. BERPRER—BEBHERLE EERE
7R

3. BERHRRBEEMR SN HE GRS
MR BHRATEE  LAKHARAR
SET R

2
i HQ%

BRESESHMASHEGHDT EEFZEBELSE
300058 (&5]) [ IEEZ A BHBEV B ERHE
BIEIRTE  W2REFHAE 7405 [ERE
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HAEZERAEENFEREISELRSE -
REME N ERERG  ETHEERAEERE
FIR TR AIZE 14A56 (KR FEISEEF 105 B
BrRERERD CHBERERERS ] 2%5
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a. REBTAZFAEEMNEER SRBECDH
BREWEXHUARERDNREEGHE -

CRH owns the controlling interest of the Company. Therefore,
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH are the connected
persons of the Company, as defined in the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the above arrangements constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Company.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the abovementioned continuing
connected transactions, and confirmed that:

1. these transactions have been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group;

2. these transactions have been entered into on normal
commercial terms or better; and

3. these transactions have been entered into according to the
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interest of the Company’s shareholders as
a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued his letter containing his findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group on pages 98 to 105 (the “Disclosed CCTs") in
accordance with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56:

a.  nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him to
believe that the Disclosed CCTs have not been approved by the
Board.
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b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that
causes him to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group.

C. nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions.

d.  nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him to
believe that the Disclosed CCTs have exceeded the annual caps
set by the Company.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
Stock Exchange.

The related party transactions except those with joint ventures and
associates as disclosed in paragraph (A) in note 47 to the consolidated
financial statements also fall under the definition of connected
transaction or continuing connected transactions within the meaning
of the Listing Rules, and the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

MODEL CODE REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY THE DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in the Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors of the Company. Having made specific
enquiry with all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the year under review.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there are sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.



FEEF AL E R

REFR  REBZRAARERLEAARED
HEREBE DN 30% 2 EREEFE N fHERE -

i 45 3k JE ) 4
BE_Z-HAF+A-+-_BNEES  BHEER
fE 1% + 200,000,000 ARG (D - HEREES
120,000,000 tER -—E—NE+—H—BRE
SRR B BT o

B EMMRHEMT -

ZEHEMAR AR China Resources Land Limited

107

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the Group's five largest suppliers and
five largest customers together accounted for less than 30% of the
Groups purchases and sales respectively.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Pursuant to the placing, underwriting and subscription agreement
dated 22 October 2019, total of 200,000,000 shares with a nominal
value of HK$20,000,000 were issued upon completion of the
subscription on 1 November 2019.

Details of the use of net proceeds are as follows:

R-E-1F+A=t-A R-B-8F+2A=t-R

REBALE EHRLE NNFAEBALE ABALE EHBARER
Amount intended Amount utilized Amount utilized Amount unutilized Expected timeline
fESENRERE Intended use of net proceeds to be utilized as at 31/1212019 during the year as at 31/12/2020 of utilization
AT ARBTR 8T ARETR BRI ARBTR BRI ARRT R
HK$'000 RMB'000 HK$'000 RMB'000 HK$'000 RMB'000 HK$'000 RMB'000
BERAZEAEEER Acquisition and development of the 6,050,000 5,506,125 695,813 633,261 3,579,903 3,012,981 1,774,284 1,493,304 2o
AENHDHE [and in elation to the projects of S
the Group By 2021
-puELS General working capta ofthe Group 670,000 609,769 70,000 609,769 0 0 0 0 TR
NA
&3t Total 6,720,000 6,115,894 1,365,813 1,243,030 3,579,903 3,012,981 1,774,284 1,493,304

i 5% 43 &4 o itk

PR AR S TR ERSN « ROANGF [ PO A 4 R4
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BEMK
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1,811 87T °
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FIHAARFRE316H ©

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements have
been entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

CHARITABLE DONATION

In 2020, the Group's charitable donation amounted to approximately
RMB18.11 million.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 316 of this annual
report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there are no restrictions against such rights
under the laws in the Cayman Islands.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the audit committee comprises Mr. Wan
Kam To, Peter (Committee Chairman), Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Zhong
Wei, Mr. Sun Zhe, Mr. Wang Yan and Mr. Chen Rong, all members of
the audit committee are either independent Non-Executive Directors
or Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The audit committee has
reviewed, together with the management and the Company’s auditor,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing, risk management, internal control and financial
reporting matters including the consolidated financial statements for
the year.

AUDITORS

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 1 June 2018,
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired as the auditor of the
Company and Messrs. Ernst & Young was appointed as the
independent auditor of the Company. At the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 2 June 2020, Messrs. Ernst & Young was re-
appointed as the auditor of the Company.

Messrs. Ernst & Young will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming
annual general meeting and is eligible to stand for reappointment.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Xiangming
Chairman

China, 29 March 2021
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RIS KE2212

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 120 to 305, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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BAREZEE

Key audit matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

EfzEgnNEE@REREH

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REYRAE1E

Valuation of investment properties

BB REDEEERE RBERERSZE - JIARNZSRE

BABEREY R GENEFEE

HiGFaMBERRIBREREZUANEETAFEEAFLE

RHE

o FHMEMERMNEE BN RFEE AR TBRMEER
TirEHE :

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter due to the significance of the balance to
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined
with the significant judgements associated with determining
the fair value.

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the investment
properties included:

o Assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the Valuers; as well as obtained an understanding of
the Valuers’ scope of work;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

RMAzERNMEERRERSEH

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REW#FulEE (&)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

EEEREYMEDNNTREAM BERER BT
—EF+ - A=1+—HiEAARKI187,379BETL ' &
RBOERIREMEARKE142,0078 BT - ERREYE
ARM39,827A B L MEAEEEARKS 54558 T -
HER BEE-_ZT_ZF+-_A=+—HBEEY
22% - WEMEATEEBHREZARES 4B TLER
HE T - ZF+ A=+ BHUEFEZHELANERE

The investment properties of the Group were located in the
Mainland China, Hong Kong and the United Kingdom (the
“UK") and carried at RMB187,379 million as at 31
December 2020, including completed investment properties
of RMB142,007 million, investment properties under
construction of RMB39,827 million and right-of-use assets
of RMB5,545 million, which represented approximately
22% of the Group's total assets as at 31 December 2020.
A gain on changes in fair value of investment properties of
RMB8,884 million was recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2020.

o BRMNAMBEZER2ERBBHFAFEEETTEN
&k BEEEEBRERMGEMARAERTITHEREA
g AR REIB IR < R - T AR
BERZENMRAROES HENELBYEZ AR
BRARRPIEFEHETE Z AE

o Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the significant unobservable inputs
and the accuracy of the source data adopted by
management of the Group and the Valuers by
comparing them, on a sample basis, to existing tenancy
profiles, publicly available information of similar
comparable properties and our knowledge of the real
estate industry;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EfzEgnNEE@REREH

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REWFufEE (&)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

EREENEIREMERBBEYEEAERMEEN ( [
BE] ) ETHNR/RERAFEETIR - EEKKREDE
MAEERTETERTAEREHABENE @ BREANL
NEEFHENRTHSEEE - ERREVENBEIORR
BAREM= - FENBRTHHES REFFREBONE
Ko BEEBHREMEATEZAGBHERMSBELN
RASEBBREFELERHE Rt

BRARBEHNREMBRRW TS [ X Z S5 H R
At RMEE17 [REWE] -

All of the Group's investment properties were stated at fair
value based on valuations carried out by independent and
professionally qualified valuers (the “Valuers”). The
valuations of the completed investment properties were
dependent on certain significant unobservable inputs,
including the capitalisation rate and assessed prevailing
market rents. The valuations of investment properties under
construction were dependent on the capitalisation rate,
assessed prevailing market rents and estimated developer’s
profit margin. Management's assessment on the fair value
of investment properties was significant to the audit
because this process requires significant judgements and
estimates.

Related disclosures are included in note 6 “Significant
accounting judgements and estimates” and note 17
“Investment properties” to the consolidated financial
statements.

o HHEEEEREETABRGARBRENGZED
i UAHEREHAFENFERE &

o HERAMBEBRARBEVMEGHELRBEENRSSR
E o

° Examined the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management on the significant unobservable inputs to
evaluate the magnitude of their impacts on the fair
values; and

o Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures of the
valuations of investment properties in the consolidated
financial statements.
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We identified the accuracy of land appreciation tax (“LAT")
calculations in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") as a
key audit matter since significant judgement was required
in estimating the amount of LAT to be paid by the Group
for each of the property development projects.

LAT arises in the PRC when properties are delivered to the
buyers and revenue is recognised. LAT recognised in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31
December 2020 was RMB12,933 million, which was
material to the Group. Significant judgement was required
in estimating the amounts of land appreciation and the
applicable LAT rate due to the uncertainty of proceeds of
sales of properties and deductible expenditures. The
amount of the land appreciation was determined with
reference to proceeds of the sales of properties less the
estimated deductible expenditures, including the cost of
land use rights and all relevant property development
expenditures.

Related disclosures are included in note 6 “Significant
accounting judgements and estimates” and note 12
“Income tax expenses” to the consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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Our procedures in relation to the accuracy of LAT calculations
included:

° Evaluated the reasonableness of the estimated sales
revenue and the related deductible amounts used in
the LAT calculation with reference to the market prices
and development costs of similar properties of the
Group;

o Involved our internal tax specialists in the PRC to assess
the accuracy of the land appreciation amount
calculations for development projects, on a sample
basis, and to assess the appropriateness of the LAT rate
used for property development projects, on a sample
basis, by comparing it to the LAT rate announced by
the State Administration of Taxation in the PRC; and

o Evaluated the judgements applied by the management
in estimating the land appreciation amount and LAT
rate by comparing their past estimates made in
previous years to actual results as well as the current
year's estimates.
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BEREZEE
Key audit matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EfzEgnNEE@REREH

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HEYREER ZWA

Revenue recognised from sales of properties

HE-_ZT-ZF+-_A=1—HIFE  RE-EBHZEX
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TTRARE14,927T88TT °
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue recognised
from sales of properties at a point in time and over time
were RMB142,213 million and RMB14,927 million,
respectively.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the
properties is transferred to customers. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the relevant laws that apply to
the contract, control of the properties may be transferred
over time or at a point in time. Control of the properties is
transferred over time if the Group’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date, otherwise, control of the
properties is transferred at a point in time.

BAIB B H E Y WA TERIR FF 8248

o HRAEHHESHGN AREMERZNMERER
i BEREZARBRREFUFEHERHEEAD
Rz @B THER -

o  FEHARBEANMMERASHIZEER 2 ER
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BEEERETEAEER

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from sales
of properties included:

o Obtained and reviewed the terms of sales contracts,
relevant local laws and supporting legal cases, internal
policies of the Group, etc. to assess the enforceability
of the right to payment for each type of sales contracts;

o Reviewed legal advices and evaluated the basis used to
support legal opinion;

o Checked whether the sales contracts were properly
classified and whether the Group applied appropriate
revenue recognition policy;
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HEYFER KA (&)
Revenue recognised from sales of properties
(continued)
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The properties have generally no alternative use due to
contractual restrictions. However, to assess the
enforceability of right to payment which depends on the
terms of the sales contract and the interpretation of the
laws applicable to the contract, a significant judgement is
required. The Group has reviewed the terms of the
contracts, the relevant local laws, the local regulators’ view
and obtained legal advice, to classify sales contracts into
those with an enforceable right to payment and those
without, and therefore apply different revenue recognition

policy.

For revenue from sales of properties recognised over time,
the Group recognised revenue by measuring the progress
towards satisfaction of the performance obligation at the
reporting date, which was measured by the percentage of
the contract costs incurred to the total estimated cost.

Related disclosures are included in note 6 “Significant
accounting judgements and estimates” and note 7
“Segment information” to the consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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For revenue recognised over time, assessed the
estimates used by management to determine the
progress towards completion at the reporting date and
checked the accuracy of revenue and costs recognised;
and

Reviewed the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
SO.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Law Kwok Kee.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2021
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For the year ended 31 December

2020 2019
et AR®T R ARBT T
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
(f &%)
(Restated)
Was Revenue 7 179,587,269 148,167,235
FHER A Cost of sales (124,172,054) (92,028,716)
EH Gross profit 55,415,215 56,138,519
WEYE 2 N EE SRS Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties 17 8,884,264 10,732,358
WAFEFAEBRZEBTEZ  Netgain on changes in fair value of
N EZF I FEE financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss 59,888 29,961
EUA - Efhlies & EE Other income, other gains and losses 8 4,536,310 2,858,028
HERTISHEREY 1 Selling and marketing expenses (5.351,916) (5,163,040)
— R AT General and administrative expenses (5,087,244) (5,779,010)
EIEREE B FIRE 2 FE Share of profit of investments in
joint ventures 1,899,799 1,976,713
EIEREZ AR E 2 F)E Share of profit of investments in associates 1,099,806 1,740,993
MBER Finance costs 11 (1,284,073) (1,389,547)
R ADA R Profit before taxation 60,172,049 61,144,975
P52 Income tax expenses 12 (26,081,775) (26,681,970)
F A A Profit for the year 13 34,090,274 34,463,005
AT ATEEFERER Profit for the year attributable to:
RATER A Owners of the Company 29,809,959 28,783,682
KEEARTEHEAA Owners of perpetual capital instruments 220,569 289,224
eI i e Non-controlling interests 4,059,746 5,390,099
34,090,274 34,463,005
AR® T AR¥TT
RMB RMB
(Fg=751)
(Restated)
RNAFEBERTA ARESR  EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
E 7 ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY
BN Basic
— FE A A — For profit for the year 15 4.18 4.13
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For the year ended 31 December

2020 2019
ARBT T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
(F&&E7)
(Restated)
F s Profit for the year 34,090,274 34,463,005
E2mmas Other comprehensive income
HE [t EDHZ B B A Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
NFEEERRIBRTRER Fair value hedges and cash flow hedges:
FANEEMEIRTAEAFEEE  Changes in fair value of hedging instruments
#EHAE D RB BB D due to forward elements and effective
portion arising during the year 232,423 (6,559)
MEGINETSFREEE ZEHZR  Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations 39,894 210,808
RBEFEEAfENEZEZM  Net other comprehensive income that
Hith 2 E W FEE may be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent years 272,317 204,249
HESTEESEZE5HIEA  Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
M - BENRREBEEERKE Revaluation gain of property, plant and
YR 2 Sl e equipment at the time of transfer to
investment properties - 643,896
B RERE A 2 E W (Loss)/gain on changes in fair value of
BAFEYRZEATER equity instruments designated at fair value
ZAFEEE (EB), WS through other comprehensive income (10,420) 24,473
REEBEFEBETI2EHEZTIEZA  Other comprehensive (loss)/income that
Hih 2| (E51E), M will not be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent years (10,420) 668,369
FAHMEE WS Other comprehensive income for the year 261,897 872,618
FAREEK AR Total comprehensive income for the year 34,352,171 35,335,623
AT ATEEEEBGEERE : Total comprehensive income attributable to:
iN/NGIE 2 =N Owners of the Company 30,058,329 29,603,480
KEERTEER A Owners of perpetual capital instruments 220,569 289,224
R Non-controlling interests 4,073,273 5,442,919
34,352,171 35,335,623
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31 December 31 December 1 January
2020 2019 2019
s ARETR AREFT ARETT
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(e =5) (mE5)
(Restated) (Restated)
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
ME  BERRE Property, plant and equipment 16 14,095,322 11,130,699 10,806,401
TREEE Right-of-use assets 18 5,816,935 4,674,492 3,529,120
REmE Investment properties 17 187,379,425 161,214,781 132,211,926
EVEAE Intangible assets 19 40,913 424,977 407,579
BE Goodwil 11,544 11,544 11,544
REEREZIRE Investments in joint ventures 20 35,586,348 25,044,774 9,873,381
RSN RZIRE Investments in associates 21 17,848,954 15,785,956 21,067,592
EEABBEMAIEWGIRATE  Equity instruments designated at fair value
SRz RAT A through other comprehensive income
("FvOoCI”) 22 1,116,163 1,131,496 1,110,346
BATES A BR e RERE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL") 23 150,124 - 49,030
PTHEERIA Derivative financial instruments 24 - 12,220 =
ERBEE BIFE Prepayments for non-current assets 25 2,121,759 3,307,284 1,209,723
EEFIEEE Deferred taxation assets 26 10,306,764 8,640,760 7,193,980
A& EIE Amounts due from joint ventures 30 11,198,863 8,494,891 5,373,477
il NG Amounts due from associates 30 3,098,460 3,721,911 5,025,906
PRSI R R Amounts due from non-controlling interests 30 6,216,637 3,199,816 1,659,818
294,988,211 246,795,601 199,529,823
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS
HEE 2 M Properties for sale 27 376,161,525 356,030,497 305,104,449
HizE Other inventories 928,754 1,087,786 1,094,343
FEURER ST - EAENERIE - TEMNZIE  Trade receivables, other receivables,
kR prepayments and deposits 28 49,163,844 50,579,080 43,634,961
BHEE Contract assets 29 1,388,227 728,257 561,007
BATEG B 2REE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 23 4,783,678 866,022 1,562,320
PR AR PR A R RE Amount due from the ultimate holding company 30 324 786 =
Gl b NI Amounts due from intermediate holding
companies 30 32,307 21,328 46,023
EWRZNBARITIE Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 30 1,091,039 2,134,724 1,070,897
A EMNETIA Amounts due from joint ventures 30 21,889,112 19,018,012 12,406,093
PR E N AR Amounts due from associates 30 7,060,716 7,105,703 10,676,946
FEU SRR R Amounts due from non-controlling interests 30 10,654,057 9,074,523 5,152,173
ARHE Prepaid taxation 11,449,061 11,784,837 10,689,054
BeMRITER Cash and bank balances 31 89,450,545 64,661,399 71,821,947
574,053,189 523,092,954 463,820,213
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31 December 31 December 1 January
2020 2019 2019
i ARETR AREFT AREFT
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(& E5) (sE5)
(Restated) (Restated)
REAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
BRI R A e BRIE Trade and other payables 32 117,898,821 99,082,091 88,694,028
HEAR Lease liabilities 18 187,785 288,532 75,092
BHER Contract liabilities 33 232,584,967 228,811,678 193,452,512
BATEST A BE 2RAR Financial liability at fair value through
profit or loss 23 - 243,941 -
B SAIER A B IE Amount due to the ultimate holding company 34 313 230 92
[ R AR TTAIE Amounts due to intermediate holding companies 34 2,954,713 899,891 3,003,233
ENRZNBARZE Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 34 1,270,346 1,343,003 781,979
[ERA&ETIA Amounts due to joint ventures 34 11,580,417 4,148,000 1,884,574
BRI TMIE Amounts due to associates 34 5,654,752 3,183,451 2,216,706
e IR A RS 2R Amounts due to non-controlling interests 34 5,311,492 7,041,359 15,614,023
R Taxation payable 30,863,640 28,565,346 22,406,736
BITREMEES — —F M5 Bank and other borrowings — due within
one year 35 25,721,787 17,472,159 14,494,284
BAEE — —FREH Senior notes — due within one year 36 - = 5,569,887
REIRIE — —F 5 Medium-term notes — due within one year 37 9,821,573 3,872,649 2,036,594
443,850,606 394,952,330 350,229,740
RBEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 130,202,583 128,140,624 113,590,473
EELBERTBEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 425,190,794 374,936,225 313,120,296
EH EQUITY
AR Share capital 38 673,829 673,829 655,829
f#1E Reserves 202,784,299 175,218,563 139,908,197
ARAHE AEGER Equity attributable to owners of the Company 203,458,128 175,892,392 140,564,026
KEBAIR Perpetual capital instruments 39 - 10,000,000 5,000,000
RS Non-controlling interests 52,784,050 49,898,438 37,328,934
256,242,178 235,790,830 182,892,960
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31 December 31 December 1 January
2020 2019 2019
i3 ARBTT ARETT ARETT
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(B3l (B3l
(Restated) (Restated)
FRBER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
RITRAMEE — —F&2H Bank and other borrowings — due after one year 35 102,232,609 80,798,068 83,501,063
BEZRE — — &5 Senior notes — due after one year 36 12,878,137 13,743,971 7,990,439
HRHEIRIE — — 1255 Medium-term notes — due after one year 37 14,330,869 18,657,750 18,619,448
HEaE Lease liabilities 18 5,256,522 3,102,965 2,789,054
BATEG N ERz 2RA R Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss 23 15,789 6,417 232,420
e — B EERA A Amount due to an intermediate holding company 34 6,733,100 - -
FEf ?’Vé@?mlﬁ Amounts due to associates 34 - = 41,420
FEfIEE H%’é S50R Amounts due to non-controlling interests 34 2,823,148 3,002,386 1,463,082
E%ﬁﬁgﬁl Long-term payables 111,379 = =
ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ‘llﬁi\ Derivative financial instruments 24 100,262 = =
ELRIBEE Deferred taxation liabilities 26 24,466,801 19,833,838 15,590,410
168,948,616 139,145,395 130,227,336
BEAERFRBEE TOTAL OF EQUITY AND
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 425,190,794 374,936,225 313,120,296
HNE 1208305 BV G KHEE R —_F——  The consolidated financial statements on pages 120 to 305 were
FZA-t+hBEBREZEESH ARERTE - Il approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29
LTATRERZ March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:
F 38 WANG XIANGMING
= DIRECTOR
= LI XIN
EF DIRECTOR
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LN
Attributable to owners of the Company
BE RbEE  HeEE  EXGE  AbEE  REEN AEEAIR o XEEAIE FiRER &5t
Perpetual Perpetual Non-
Share Share Hedging ~ Translation Other Retained capital capital  controlling
capital premium reserve reserve TeServes profits ~ instrument Total  instrument interests Total
NEEFRL  ARBTL  ARETRT  ARETR  ARRTR ARETR ARETR  AR¥TR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(GED) (HtzED)
(note ) (note b)
R=F-\F+=A=1-A At 31 December 2018 655829 52,497,187 - (1,005676)  (8333,881) 94,562,348 - 138375807 5000000 37328934 180,704,741
AfEHES) Merger accounting restatement - - - - 1470% 959,798 - 220684 - - 2206854
REBIBREENE 16 Opening adjustments arising
EE2ENER from adoption of HKFRS 16 - - - - - (18,635) - (18,635) - - (18,635)
RZZ-AE-A—A(EE5)  At1January 2019 Restated) 655829 52,497,181 - (1,005676) (7,086,825 95503511 - 140,564,026 5000000 37328934 182,892,960
Emar Profit for the year = = = = - 28,783,682 - 28,783,682 289224 5390099 34,463,005
FRESHHEBTANFERSN  Changesin fair value of hedging instruments
e due to effective portion arising
during the year - - (6,559) - - - - (6,559) - - (6,559)
WEENEBRELZELEE  Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - - - 157,988 - - - 157,988 - 52,820 210,808
0% BERZEEAZ Revaluation gain of property, plant and
REMFS 2 EflE equipment at the time of transfer to
investment properties - - - - 643,896 - - 643,896 - - 643,896
KEABRAMAELE Gain on changes in fair value of equity
RATEIIRZRATAL instruments designated at fair value through
AFER NG other comprehensive income - - - - 4473 - - 21473 - - 1473
FR2ENELE Total comprehensive income for the year - - (6,559) 157,988 068,369 28,783,682 - 29,603,480 289224 5442919 35335623
BTHRE Issuance of new shares 18000 6,032,537 - - - - - 6,050,537 - - 6,050,537
HERTARRED2ENE Transfer of fair value reserve upon
BRATEIEZRATAR disposal of equity instruments
ERN\TERE designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income - - - - (5293) 5293 - - - - -
BKEERTA(ME39) Issuance of perpetual capital
instruments (Note 39) - - - - - - 738143 7381436 5,000,000 - 12,381,436
JHERER LA Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - 3254707 3254707
MAEEATEEBAEL ZHTK  Distrioution to the owner of perpetual
capital instrument - - - - - - - - (289,224 - (289,224)
REBTER Appropriation of retained profits = = = - 2939612 (2939612 = - - - _
WERE AR (3 43) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 43) - - - = = = = = - 2484400 248440
BENBAR ER Acaquisition of additional interests in
subsidiaries = = = = (33327) = = (33,327) - (722,066)  (755,393)
HE-BHEATRAER Partial disposal of a subsidiary without
@£ EHE loss of control - - - - 68 - - 68 - 35753 321581
EftEERERRS Dividend paid to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - (1,106,211)  (1,106,211)
“T-NERERE Interim dividend for 2019 = = = = - (894091) - (394091) = - (394091)
~3-\EXKHRS Final dhvidend for 2018 - - - - - 671973) - 671973) - - 671973)
WZF-AETZA=+-B  At31 December 2019 (Restated)
(&=5)) 673829 58529724 (6,559)  (847,88) (3517,396) 113679046  7,381436 175892392 10,000,000 49,898,438 235,790,830
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ARRERAEL
Attributable to owners of the Company
Bx  RGEE  HAEE  EXRE  HbRE  REEN AmERIR @y KEEAIR FERER @it
Perpetual Perpetual Non-
Share Share  Hedging  Translation Other  Retained capital capital  controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserves profits  instrument Total instrument interests Total
AR¥TR  ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARETr ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARMTn ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Hista) (H&b)
(note a) (note b)
RZE-NE+-R=1-H At 31 December 2019 (Restated)

(&&5) 673,829 58,529,724 (6,559) (847,688)  (3,517,396) 113,679,046 7,381,436 175892,392 10,000,000 49,898,438 235,790,830
EREF Profit for the year - - - - - 29,809,959 - 29,809,959 20569 4,059,746 34,090,274
FRELNHFTAATEREE  Changesin fairvalue of hedging instruments

RESARERSA due to forward elements and

effective portion arising during the year - - 32423 - - - - 232423 - - 232423
WEENEBRELZELEE  Exchange differences on translation of

foreign operations - - - 26,367 - - - 26,367 - 13,521 39,894
KEABAEM2 AN Loss on changes in air value of equity

BATEIRZRATAL instruments designated at fair value

ATEEDEE through other comprehensive income - - - - (10,420) - - (10,420) - - (10,420)
FREAANEEE Total comprehensive income for the year - - 232,423 26,367 (10,420) 29,809,959 - 30,058,329 220569 4073273 34352171
BOXEERTA Redemption of perpetual capital instruments - - - - - - - - (10,000,000) - (10,000,000)
FARER L E Capital contribution from

non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - 2103907 2,103,907
AXEERTABBA Distribution to the owners of perpetual

fEtiZ Ak capitel instruments - - - - - (268320) - (2683200 (220569) - (488889)
REEH R Appropriation of etained profits - - - - 3178632 (3178632 - - - - -
WEHE AR (3 43) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 43) - - - - - - - - - B8 4B
ERRELTER Acquisiion of additional interest

in subsidiaries - - - - 153,113 - - 153,113 - (788,627) (635,514)
RRFEHNEREAR Acquisition of subsidiaries under

common control - - - - (2,604,000) - - (2,604,000) - - (2,604,000)
HERBARDH B Partial disposal of subsidiaries without

Ml EXEEHE (i) loss of control (Note ¢) - - - - 7,986,035 - - 7,986,035 - 3654423 11640458
RiELERBAR(H4) Deemed disposal of subsidaries (Note 42) - - - - - - - - - (@me0m)  (4718071)
BRFEERERRE Dividend paid to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - (1912421)  (1,912421)
ZE-TERHRE Interim dividend for 2020 - - - - - (1,069,641) - (1,069,641) - - (1,069,641)
“2-NERERS Final dividend for 2019 - - - - - (6,689,780) - (6,689,780) - - (6689,780)
R-E-ZE+-f=+-H At 31 December 2020 673829 58,529,724 225,864 (821321) 5185964 132,282,632  7,381436 203458128 - 52,784,050 256,242,178
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Notes:

(a)

(b)
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Other reserves mainly comprise capital reserve, general reserve, special
reserve, merger reserve, revaluation gain of property, plant and equipment
when transferred to investment properties and changes in fair value of equity
instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"), the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC shall set aside 10%
of their profit after taxation for the general reserve until the general reserve
reaches 50% of the registered capital of the respective subsidiaries. The
reserve can only be used, upon approval by the board of directors of the PRC
subsidiaries and by the relevant authority, to offset accumulated losses or
increase capital.

Special reserve represents amounts arising from the acquisition or disposal of
equity interests in subsidiaries without loss of control. It represented the
difference between the consideration paid or received and the adjustment to
the non-controlling interests of the relevant subsidiaries.

This perpetual capital instrument was issued by the Company other than
subsidiaries of the Company. Detailed information of perpetual capital
instruments are disclosed in note 39.

China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (“China Resources Mixc
Lifestyle”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group as at 31 December 2019,
has listed its shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) with effect from 9 December
2020. On the same date, China Resources Mixc Lifestyle issued 550,000,000
ordinary shares with a par value US$0.00001 at HK$22.30 per share for a
total cash consideration of HK$12,265,000,000 by way of public offering
(“Share Offer”). On 23 December 2020, upon its listing on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, China Resources Mixc Lifestyle over allotmented and issued
82,500,000 additional shares with a par value US$0.00001 at HK$22.30 per
share for a total cash consideration of HK$1,839,750,000. The Group's
percentage of equity interest in China Resources Mixc Lifestyle was then
diluted from 100.00% to 72.29% after completion of the Share Offer and
over-allotment. The transaction was regarded as a deemed partial disposal of
a subsidiary without loss of control, and the difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the net proceeds
from Share Offer was recognised in other reserves.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE+-_A=1T—BILFE

For the year ended 31 December

2020 2019
Kz AR¥T R ARBF T
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
(L&)
(Restated)
EIERESIR TR Net cash generated from operating activities
LEEHMERE Cash generated from operating activities 41 42,744,107 52,839,511
B ATER Income tax paid (20,416,377) (19,042,761)
22,327,730 33,796,750
BREEBARSFE Net cash used in investing activities
YE - R RRENR Payment for property, plant and equipment (2,892,583) (3,201,937)
HEME - BENRREHEHIA  Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment 185,221 221,659
—IAEEEMNK Payment for an intangible asset (9.432) (31,481)
REMERK Payment for investment properties (14,060,310) (13,321,572)
HEREYERSHE Proceeds from disposal of investment
properties 4,460 156,149
WEEIERBEECEMNES Deposits paid for acquisition of
non-current assets (324,381) (2,097,561)
MAETETE Capital injection to joint ventures (7,273,494) (13,964,386)
Mg RREE Capital injection to associates (1,430,454) (3,287,522)
BEEETERE Dividend received from joint ventures 664,481 28,995
B H=ING ¥, Dividend received from associates 467,262 23,208
BER,/ (B T)HKEKAT  Repayment from/(advances to) the
ultimate holding company 462 (786)
(BEF) /48 A bR A T (Advances to)/repayment from
intermediate holding companies (10,979) 24,695
BEA/(BRF)REHBEA Repayment from/(advances to) fellow
subsidiaries 1,043,685 (1,063,827)
BRTEEDRE Advances to joint ventures (1,207,240) (9,207,180)
féi@ lirk/NS Repayment from associates 470,868 5,061,880
BT IEIE R R A Advances to non-controlling interests (4,596,355) (5,462,348)
B F B Interest received 1,991,923 1,456,075
RIEHENBARKRE Bank balances and cash disposed
BOTEFERRS upon deemed disposal of subsidiaries 42 (28,105) =
BB E AR EREE R Acquisition of assets and liabilities
afE through acquisition of subsidiaries 43 (2,282,428) 92,081
HEEAFEGF ABEZ Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
TRUEEMRSHRE at FvPL 780,020 1,582,976
BEEAFEFTAERZ Purchase of financial assets at FVPL
TREE (4,926,608) (779,000)
HE—BEERAERBEMEE Proceeds from disposal of an equity
Wiz A AR ZBATEA instrument designated at FVOCI
PG RIA 1,000 126,013
BEIE Eﬁiﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬁi@ Purchase of equity instruments
WEstE AT ESEZRATE designated at FVOCI - (112,000)
RE (7)) R HISRITIE R Withdrawal/(placement) of restricted
bank deposits 588,160 (599,395)

(32,844,827) (44,355,264)
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BE+-_A=1t—BILFE

For the year ended 31 December

2020 2019
M AR¥T T AREBTT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
(L&)
(Restated)
BEEEAMEREIFE Net cash generated from financing activities
R1TREAE EFTSRUR Proceeds from bank and other borrowings 88,640,881 61,917,415
BERTEE Repayments of bank borrowings (54,367,917) (63,471,888)
TP B EE TS FURF R Net proceeds from issuance of
medium-term notes 5,500,000 4,000,000
BEPHERE Repayments of medium-term notes (3,800,000) (2,000,000)
BIIRARBRERIEFE Net proceeds from issuance of senior notes - 5,299,487
EBREELER Repayments of senior notes - (5,362,000)
BT PTS50E Proceeds from issuance of new shares - 6,050,537
(BBE) 1T REBEEART A (Redemption of)/proceeds from issuance
FT{8 3R of perpetual capital instruments 39 (10,000,000) 12,381,436
EKEEARTERAAEL 2 Distribution to the owners of
ik perpetual capital instruments (488,889) (289,224)
XREEaEREHS Payment of principal portion of
lease liabilities (353,162) (345,440)
EETEE R Finance costs paid (7,414,706) (7,703,946)
(BET) / BFXEREWNERT (Repayment to)/advances from
fellow subsidiaries (1,089,797) 561,024
(B38),/ (BET)PRE/ AT Advances from/(repayment to) intermediate
holding companies 8,790,373 (2,083,486)
PR EREERAT Advances from the ultimate holding
company 83 138
B8 TIEE iR Repayment to non-controlling interests (1,198,271) (7,033,360)
A HERIE S B A 7 Net payment for acquisition of subsidiaries
EFEE under common control 3 (1,586,860) =
ERi G Ttk Capital contribution from non-controlling
interests 2,103,907 3,254,707
BENARAREEA ARE Dividends paid to owners of the Company (7,759,421) (7,673,828)
BT I f i S AR B Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (1,304,422) (1,106,211)
EEMB AR s Acquisitions of additional interests
in subsidiaries (635,514) (452,751)
S BT B A Bl B s Net proceeds from partial disposal of
WK KA F TS IR R 5 subsidiaries without loss of control 11,640,458 3,215,821
BB Redemption of preferred equity certificates (239,638) =
BRERENE Advances from joint ventures 7,443,433 2,228,765
BREHE QA Advances from associates 2,446,051 925,325
36,326,589 2,312,521
BeRIBSEMEEM/ (R )FE  Netincrease/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents 25,809,492 (8,245,993)
FYIzRekReFHE Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the year 62,156,869 69,916,813
GNEE [ SR 5 ) B 2E Effect of change of foreign exchange rates (432,185) 486,049
FRZESERE&EE Cash and cash equivalents at the end of

the year 87,534,176 62,156,869
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE_ZE-_EFt+-_A=+—HItFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

—BE R 1. GENERAL INFORMATION
ARrlA—HERSEEFMKIZ ARE The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the
PRATF - ERMHAESTEBBZA LT - RZE Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Hong Kong
—EF+-A=+—H ARRZREIER Stock Exchange. As at 31 December 2020, the ultimate holding
AEATREBEGRAR(THRHEER]) - K company of the Company is China Resources Company Limited
ARPBEMKY 2 AR o AR R Z A REE (“CRCL"), a company incorporated in the PRC. The intermediate
AR AEEEER)BRAA(TERE holding company of the Company is China Resources (Holdings)
B ) o AN\ BEER AR ACRH (Land) Company Limited (“CRH"). The immediate holding company of
Limited * EARRBRZEEFMKIZZA the Company is CRH (Land) Limited, a limited company
7] ° AR FEMPER 2 R ERH D incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The address of the
BIERI - 2N A T H) 3 B A S 3 B B 4 U registered office of the Company is disclosed in the corporate
EEMHIEAR  ERFRA DG ERH o K information of the annual report and the principal place of
SEECFEEBLAERNTPRHEREEME Y business of the Company is the same as its address of the head
ERENRER  BELS MR ESE - #iE office disclosed in the corporate information of the annual
RS K B ¥ 3 25 R AR A AR A o report. The principal activities of the Group are the development
of properties for sale, property investments and management,
hotel operations and the provision of construction, decoration
services and other property development related services in the
PRC.
Fhn L e 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

RAMBHRIDRBEET B G ASHEMDN
EEMBHREERN(ZREBEMAEEY
BHELER - BESAENNRE) A
ARG RRREE R BGGIE B ERE M
MREL - N IRA M B RREEBBM N
EH LMRARENERREEE - e
BRRBBELNADERE  EREYMER
FTemTARERFENE - REM KR
RIBAREZY - REESBHBI - FAE
CRENBET -

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments which have been measured at fair values.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
unless otherwise stated.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2020. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(©)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same year as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT
MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESS UNDER
COMMON CONTROL

On 22 June 2020, Ting Cao (C.I.) Holding Corp (“Ting Cao”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement, to transfer its entire interest in China
Resources Huan Le Song (Hong Kong) Limited (“Huan Le Song
HK") and its subsidiaries to the Group for a consideration of
approximately RMB523,000,000. Huan Le Song HK in turn
holds 100% of CR Run Xin Commercial Management
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., a company incorporated in the PRC which
manages and provides commercial subleasing services for
Shenzhen Buji MIXONE. The transfer of Huan Le Song HK was
completed on 15 September 2020.
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MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT
(continued)

MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESS UNDER
COMMON CONTROL (continued)

On 22 June 2020, China Resources Vanguard (Hong Kong)
Company Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement, to transfer its
entire interest in China Resources Vanguard Real Estate
(Shenyang) Co., Ltd. (“Vanguard Shenyang”) to the Group for a
consideration of approximately RMB1,299,000,000. Vanguard
Shenyang is a property development company which directly
holds the entire interest in the Shenyang Project. The Shenyang
Project is a property development project strategically located in
the central district of Shenyang city on Changbai Island, Heping
District, Shenyang, Liaoning Province, PRC. The transfer of
Vanguard Shenyang was completed on 9 September 2020.

On 22 June 2020, Hong Kong Runxin Beijing Investments Co.
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH, entered
into a sale and purchase agreement, to transfer its entire
interest in Runxin Real Estate (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“Runxin
Beijing”) to the Group for a consideration of approximately
RMB497,000,000. Runxin Beijing is a property development
company which directly holds the entire interest in the Beijing
Project. The Beijing Project is a property development project
located in a residential area at Yaojiayuan Road, Chaoyang
District, Beijing, PRC. The transfer of Runxin Beijing was
completed on 23 November 2020.

On 22 June 2020, Runxin Marlborough (HK) Co. Limited, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement, to transfer its entire interest in Ningbo
Qianhu Ledu Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Ningbo Qianhu”) to the
Group for a consideration of approximately R\MB238,000,000.
Ningbo Qianhu is a property development company which
directly holds the entire interest in the Ningbo Project. The
Ningbo Project is a property development project located at
Songzhaogiaocun, Yinzhou District, Ningbo, Zhejiang Province,
PRC. The transfer of Ningbo Qianhu was completed on 1
December 2020.
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MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT
(continued)

MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESS UNDER
COMMON CONTROL (continued)

On 26 August 2020, China Resources Land (Wuhan) Property
Management Company Limited (“CRL Wuhan”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group entered into an equity
transfer agreement with CRCL, pursuant to which CRL Wuhan
has agreed to acquire from CRCL all its equity interest in Hubei
Run Lian Property Management Co. Ltd. (“Run Lian”) for a
consideration of approximately RMB47,000,000. Run Lian is a
company incorporated in the PRC with various property
management projects mainly in the Hubei Province. The transfer
of Run Lian was completed on 22 September 2020.

The acquisition of Huan Le Song HK, Vanguard Shenyang,
Runxin Beijing, Ningbo Qianhu and Run Lian (together “the
Acquired Businesses”) has been considered as acquired
businesses as each acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. Since the Acquired
Businesses and the Group are under common control of CRCL,
the acquisition of the Acquired Businesses has been accounted
for as business combination under common control in
accordance with Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for
Common Control Combinations (“AG 5") issued by the HKICPA.

Under merger accounting, the results of the Acquired Businesses
have been combined from the date when they first came under
the control of CRCL. The assets and liabilities of the Acquired
Businesses have been reflected at their existing carrying values
at the date of combination. No amount has been recognised in
respect of goodwill or excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net
fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost at the time of common control
combination, which, instead, has been recorded in other reserve
in equity.

Accordingly, the consolidated income statement, consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been restated to
include the assets and liabilities and the operating results of the
Acquired Businesses. The consolidated statement of financial
position as at 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 have
been restated to include the carrying amounts of the assets and
liabilities of the Acquired Businesses (see below for the financial
impacts).
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3. AirEsrES () 3. MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT
(continued)
BRSHEESERNERSHZE MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
pfast (&) COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESS UNDER

COMMON CONTROL (continued)

The effect of restatements described above on the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2019 by line

EXFmAENEBE_T-AF+_HA
=t -BLEFEFRARERSABNTZEN

T: items is as follows:
BEZZ-NF HE-_Z-NF
TZA=+—H XARZEHEEN +=ZA=1+—H
HEFE XBEH EE
Business
Year ended combination Year ended
31 December of entities under 31 December
2019 common control 2019
ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(B2 RED)) (& E51)
(Audited and
originally stated) (Restated)
Yezs Revenue 147,735,949 431,286 148,167,235
EEMK Cost of sales (91,735,973) (292,743) (92,028,716)
EH Gross profit 55,999,976 138,543 56,138,519
REMEZ A TEES KR Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties 10,559,718 172,640 10,732,358
BATEFAER2EBTI A Netgainon changes in fair value of
N ERE WS T financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss 29,961 - 29,961
Hb A - Bt lias & 1R Other income, other gains and losses 2,828,252 29,776 2,858,028
HE RS HERES Selling and marketing expenses (5,070,001) (93,039) (5,163,040)
—R RIS H General and administrative expenses (5,744,747) (34,263) (5,779,010)
BEREERERE ZFE Share of profit of investments in
joint ventures 1,976,713 - 1,976,713
FEERE S N RIRE 2 FIE Share of profit of investments in associates 1,740,993 = 1,740,993
HER Finance costs (1,326,766) (62,781) (1,389,547)
BRET AT A Profit before taxation 60,994,099 150,876 61,144,975
FREY bR Income tax expenses (26,642,500) (39,470) (26,681,970)
FEREF Profit for the year 34,351,599 111,406 34,463,005
AR AT IR R - Profit for the year attributable to:
Vi UNCIE 2PN Owners of the Company 28,672,276 111,406 28,783,682
KEERTEBERBA Owners of perpetual capital instruments 289,224 - 289,224
RS Non-controlling interests 5,390,099 = 5,390,099
34,351,599 111,406 34,463,005
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3. APrEgsEEY (H) 3. MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT
(continued)
S RESHEESEBNERSHZS MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
Brest (&) COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESS UNDER

COMMON CONTROL (continued)

txpiiEasEEE_—_ZET—NLF+ = H The effect of restatements described above on the consolidated
=t HIEFERFREE2ERERSIHER N statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31
29 : December 2019 by line items is as follows:
BEZZ—NF BEZZ-NF
+tZA=+—H8 XHEREFHEEL +ZHA=+—H
HEFE XA FE
Business
Year ended combination Year ended
31 December of entities under 31 December
2019 common control 2019
ARETT ARETL ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(eEZRIRT)) (g &%)
(Audited and
originally stated) (Restated)
F R H Profit for the year 34,351,599 11,406 34,463,005
Hin 2wl Other comprehensive income
EmESEE BB Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
RYEHHRASREA Fair value hedges and cash flow hedges:
FRNEENERIAANTEZS  Changes in fair value of hedging
#BE D instruments due to effective portion
arising during the year (6,559) - (6,559)
WEBINERFEEZERZE  Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations 210,808 - 210,808
HEEETSESEEERmIEH  Items that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
ME  BERREERERE Revaluation gain of property,
W 2 Bl plant and equipment at the time of
transfer to investment properties 643,896 - 643,896
EERBEREMREKS Gains on changes in fair value of equity
BERATESIRZBRATA instruments designated at fair value
ZAFEZEkKE through other comprehensive income 24,473 = 24,473
FRNEMEE R Other comprehensive income for the year 872,618 = 872,618
FREEWSETE Total comprehensive income for the year 35,224,217 111,406 35,335,623
ITATEEZERES Total comprehensive income attributable to:
ZN/NGIEZEDN Owners of the Company 29,492,074 111,406 29,603,480
KEBARTABEAA Owners of perpetual capital instruments 289,224 = 289,224
FEE R R Non-controlling interests 5,442,919 = 5442919
35,224,217 111,406 35,335,623




ZHEMAR AR China Resources Land Limited

137

3. AirEsrES () 3. MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT
(continued)
BRSHEESERNERSHZE MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
pfast (&) COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESS UNDER

BIER —E-NF+—

BIRRRHFZEMT

COMMON CONTROL (continued)

R=+—B&&8

The effect of restatements on the consolidated statement of

financial position as at 31 December 2019 is as follows:

ZTNE REREGEED TIN5
+=A=+—H ¥%aft +tZR=+—8
Business
combination
31 December  of entities under 31 December
2019 common control 2019
AR®ETF T ARETT ARET T
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(&= RERT) (L&)
(Audited and
originally stated) (Restated)
ERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
mE - BE &R Property, plant and equipment 11,104,072 26,627 11,130,699
FREEE Right-of-use assets 4,664,852 9,640 4,674,492
BB Investment properties 156,489,981 4,724,800 161,214,781
B EE Intangible assets 424,977 = 424,977
HE Goodwil 11,544 = 11,544
RELELEZRE Investments in joint ventures 25,044,774 = 25,044,774
REtE R B2 1RE Investments in associates 15,785,956 - 15,785,956
BEREBEMPEWFZATE Equity instruments designated at fair value
FIBR 2 AT A through other comprehensive income 1,131,496 - 1,131,496
TAESRIA Derivative financial instruments 12,220 = 12,220
ERBEEZBNFE Prepayments for non-current assets 3,307,284 - 3,307,284
ELHEEE Deferred taxation assets 8,619,561 21,199 8,640,760
WA & ERIR Amounts due from joint ventures 8,494,891 = 8,494,891
FE WU & A R FRIE Amounts due from associates 3,721,911 = 3,721,911
e EE R M 2 IR Amounts due from non-controlling
interests 3,199,816 - 3,199,816
242,013,335 4,782,266 246,795,601
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MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT
(continued)

MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESS UNDER
COMMON CONTROL (continued)

3. affastE(4) 3.
BRELAFEZEHEBHEBEHZE

stast (&)

The effect of restatements on the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2019 is as follows:
(continued)

BISHR —E-NF+_A=t+—BEaH
BIRRRHZENT « (B)

NG REREHEEN —T-NEF
+TZHA=+—H ¥%aft +ZA=t—~
Business
combination
31 December of entities under 31 December
2019 common control 2019
AREFT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(fEEZRIRT)) (E5)
(Audited and
originally stated) (Restated)
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS
HIEEZME Properties for sale 355,122,141 908,356 356,030,497
HEmEs Other inventories 1,087,786 = 1,087,786
JEW RSN - HhfEUBRIE « B Trade receivables, other receivables,

FIENE® prepayments and deposits 50,563,490 15,590 50,579,080
EHEBE Contract assets 728,257 = 728,257
BATEFABS 2 EREE Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 866,022 - 866,022
et yNCIb ] Amount due from the ultimate holding

company 786 - 786
RN IR R R 5R0R Amounts due from intermediate holding

companies 21,328 - 21,328
EWRZKB AT A Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 1,106,454 1,028,270 2,134,724
JEMA B PETIA Amounts due from joint ventures 19,018,012 - 19,018,012
G ASYNEIEWE] Amounts due from associates 7,105,703 - 7,105,703
RN FE R i 2 IR Amounts due from non-controlling

interests 9,074,523 - 9,074,523
AN FIIB Prepaid taxation 11,700,600 84,237 11,784,837
HE RRITET Cash and bank balances 63,699,409 961,990 64,661,399

520,094,511 2,998,443 523,092,954
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MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT

(continued)

MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS

COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESS UNDER
COMMON CONTROL (continued)

The effect of restatements on the consolidated statement of

TR R EMT - (&) financial position as at 31 December 2019 is as follows:
(continued)
“T-NE EEREHERD e i
TZA=1-H xHa#t  +ZA=t+—A
Business
combination
31 December of entities under 31 December
2019 common control 2019
ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(EZRIRT) (E7))
(Audited and
originally stated) (Restated)
REBEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
FE S BRI EL A R Y BR IR Trade and other payables 98,213,278 868,813 99,082,091
HEAE Lease liabilities 206,484 82,048 288,532
AREE Contract liabilities 226,719,664 2,092,014 228,811,678
BATESABRZSREAE Financial liability at fair value
through profit or loss 243,941 - 243,941
B B AR A R FR0A Amount due to the ultimate holding
company 230 - 230
FE{F R IR 22 R 5R0E Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies 899,891 - 899,891
FERRZME R AF0E Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 503,174 839,829 1,343,003
Eff &L ETIE Amounts due to joint ventures 4,148,000 = 4,148,000
JEEE & N R FUR Amounts due to associates 3,183,451 = 3,183,451
e I A 2 R Amounts due to non-controlling interests 7,041,359 = 7,041,359
FERTIE Taxation payable 28,562,495 2,851 28,565,346
RITEE — —FRNEH Bank borrowings — due within one year 17,472,159 = 17,472,159
FHIZE — —FREH Medium-term notes — due within
one year 3,872,649 - 3,872,649
391,066,775 3,885,555 394,952,330
REBEERE/(8F) NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 129,027,736 (887,112) 128,140,624
EELERRDAR TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 371,041,071 3,895,154 374,936,225
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3. affastE(4)

REHEBEFHEBNERSHZE
ﬁ¥au (#&)

MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT

(continued)
MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS

COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESS UNDER

COMMON CONTROL (continued)

BIHR-F—
BIRR R E

NE+-_RA=+—B&HF&H
W (&)

(continued)

The effect of restatements on the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2019 is as follows:

ZT-NE RAREGIEEK —TNEF
+=-A=+—H #%at  +ZHA=1+—~
Business
combination
31 December of entities under 31 December
2019 common control 2019
AR®ETF T AR®TFT ARET T
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(=R RED) (1 E7)
(Audited and
originally stated) (Restated)
i EQUITY
N Share capital 673,829 - 673,829
(= Reserves 172,900,303 2,318,260 175,218,563
AARHEA AEGER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 173,574,132 2,318,260 175,892,392
KEBATA Perpetual capital instruments 10,000,000 = 10,000,000
FEERR RS Non-controlling interests 49,898,438 = 49,898,438
233,472,570 2,318,260 235,790,830
*RBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
RITEE — —FREH Bank borrowings — due after one year 80,798,068 = 80,798,068
BEEE — —FREH Senior notes — due after one year 13,743,971 = 13,743,971
HHIEE — —FE 5 Medium-term notes — due after one year 18,657,750 = 18,657,750
HEAE Lease liabilities 1,919,539 1,183,426 3,102,965
BRATEFABREZERBE Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss 6,417 - 6,417
JFEf FEIE A i 25 2 IE Amounts due to non-controlling interests 3,002,386 = 3,002,386
BRERIERE Deferred taxation liabilities 19,440,370 393,468 19,833,838
137,568,501 1,576,894 139,145,395
ERAERFERBER TOTAL OF EQUITY AND NON-CURRENT
LIABILITIES 371,041,071 3,895,154 374,936,225
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3. AirEsrES () 3. MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT
(continued)
B RSHERSEBRNERES S MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
PtEst (&) COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESS UNDER

COMMON CONTROL (continued)

BHEREE T —NF+-_A=1+—HIt The effect of restatements on basic earnings per share attributable
FEMNAANREBRITEAREGRERER to ordinary equity holders of the Company for the year ended
FIFZEMT : 31 December 2019 is as follows:
BHEZZT-NF
+=A=+—8
IEFE
Year ended
31 December
2019
ARETT
RMB
ez RIRT Audited and originally stated 4.12
SEREHEENERASFSIEAFAZE  Adjustments arising from business combination
of entities under common control 0.01

KE Restated 413
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 and the following revised HKFRSs for the first
time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Definition of a business
Interest rate benchmark reform
Covid-19-related rent concessions

(early adopted)
Definition of material

and HKAS 8

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are described
below:

(@)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework"”) sets out a comprehensive set
of concepts for financial reporting and standard setting,
and provides guidance for preparers of financial
statements in developing consistent accounting policies
and assistance to all parties to understand and interpret
the standards. The Conceptual Framework includes new
chapters on measurement and reporting financial
performance, new guidance on the derecognition of
assets and liabilities, and updated definitions and
recognition criteria for assets and liabilities. It also clarifies
the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement
uncertainty in financial reporting. The Conceptual
Framework is not a standard, and none of the concepts
contained therein override the concepts or requirements
in any standard. The Conceptual Framework did not have
any significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to
be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create output. A
business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments
remove the assessment of whether market participants
are capable of acquiring the business and continue to
produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether
acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the
definition of outputs to focus on goods or services
provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and introduce an optional
fair value concentration test to permit a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to transactions or other events
that occurred on or after 1 January 2020. The
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(@}

Amendments to HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 address
issues affecting financial reporting in the period before
the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark
with an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR"). The amendments
provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting
to continue during the period of uncertainty before the
introduction of the alternative RFR. In addition, the
amendments require companies to provide additional
information to investors about their hedging relationships
which are directly affected by these uncertainties. The
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group as the Group does
not have any interest rate hedging relationships.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. The practical
expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a
direct consequence of the pandemic and only if (i) the
change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than,
the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the
change; (ii) any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and
(i) there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease. The amendment is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020 with
earlier application permitted and shall be applied
retrospectively.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d)

(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, certain
monthly lease payments for the leases of the Group’s
plant and machinery have been reduced or waived by the
lessors upon reducing the scale of production as a result
of the pandemic and there are no other changes to the
terms of the leases. The Group has early adopted the
amendment on 1 January 2020 and elected not to apply
lease modification accounting for all rent concessions
granted by the lessors as a result of the pandemic during
the year ended 31 December 2020. Accordingly, a
reduction in the lease payments arising from the rent
concessions of RMB16,786,000 has been accounted for
as a variable lease payment by derecognising part of the
lease liabilities and crediting to profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring
it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. The
amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the
nature or magnitude of information, or both. The
amendments did not have any significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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4. JER BT RBETHEERMBEHE 4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

e Q) ([ 7 v 0 ot e 0 ) () HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

CHEMEMARERNE BT IERELE ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

=[] FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

AREBTERZEZVMIERRANERATEE The Group has not applied the following new and revised

B AR AEREH ] REIES] BB KRS HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

AEH| financial statements:

ERUBRSENETR  RRAAP HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts’®

REMBRERNEIR S EE R Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the conceptual
(BFIA) framework?

BRUBRERAEON - FIEEENE KD Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest rate benchmark reform
BAGHERE 9% - HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, — phase 27
BAMBHREENETS HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
ERUEREENEIRR
BRHERELENZ 165
(B3TK)

ERUBREERNE 0% N REZHEBELAHAE Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or contribution of assets
B QT ERE 285 PEIRZEEL ETE and HKAS 28 (2011) between an investor and its
(Z2——F)(BETR) associate or joint venture®

ERURREENE7E  RRAAP Amendments to HKFRS 17  Insurance contracts*®
(B3TK)

EROHERE 1K (BITAR) BEAEARELERE Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as

current or non-current®>®

BB EHERE 165 WE- BERRE Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, plant and equipment:
(BFIA) REFZRIRATZF R proceeds before intended use?

BEQIENETR(BTX) BESH — BR ALK A Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous contracts — cost of

fulfilling a contract?

BBEH AL ER BEMBREERNE 1T, Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1,
“E-\F2-F-FF  EARKHREENER HKFRSs 2018-2020 HKFRS 9, illustrative examples
AR EE L BBHEREENZ 165 accompanying HKFRS 16, and

BRAAN RO REEGH HKAS 412
EUEMN S (BFTA)?
1 R -——F—F—HRKZBHERZ FEHR ! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
2 E%\ﬁzg::ﬁ—ﬁ — BB RE Tz EEHRE 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
3 E%\ﬁzg:zﬁ—ﬁ — BB RE Tz EEHRE 3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
& %%ﬁi?ﬁlﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%i + MERT R ER AR 4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
5 AEESSHERNE 15 (BETA) » HEZE 2 Z(iost?onnsequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong
FESFEHEHREAZEY — EANGEOSEE Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
SKIEBIEH T E AN EER BT F by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
+AFUMERT * A — R » B mn FHF Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align the
g =h) corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

5 HENR-—ZE-_ZF+ A EMOE ST BHRELE ® As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
BIZE175 (B3I AR) A BREEDF4 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption
SEEEHRBE]  WIBAERER® - RFFRRA that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for
AR T _=F—HF—HZAMAZFEEHM annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

FERERE ST ERIE IR MR BN BHRE
R 957



VP 00 WD B 458 s T A ik B 005 i o
e L) (17 o B 0 e oy YR 0 D) (460)

EEMERRERNEBYHHREE

B (&)

FRRERERANASENEEMFHRELER
HE— S ERFN T -

FEMBREEAFEIRUETAN) EER
T \FRARGH S| AR B REHRIER
BRI R mRmAE R 2FER - M
BARBEREERE - ZFETATRE
B BRERERIEIRMERSI BB SER
NEBEBREEXREBEIART ZHERRAIE
R—IEBIIMENR » ZBIIMERRTE - BRA]
BN BB G ERIE 7 RIEE (BRH
BHERBLEE) -REBE21REBE RN
BERSIREENS  WXFEEBEBE
EMEREHEHTEL  AEABTEVE
SRAUEIRNEREDHZEFES
ZRFI7RAEFE (AR BERERERE
) —RBE21% > MIEBRAER < ptHh -
RZEEARNBBEAREENKBRBATE
RGN - ARBEFE T _—_F—A—
BEIEARICBRARAZFERT A - A%
FERIARARBRZEARNKERRSE
RER B 2 BROEH A Bt AEE
RIBEBRK T ERLFEITANTE -

4.

ZHEMAR AR China Resources Land Limited

147

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also
add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what
constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that,
for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the
scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred
separately rather than assumed in a business combination, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets do
not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January
2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the
date of first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous
amendments which affect financial reporting when an existing
interest rate benchmark is replaced with an alternative RFR. The
Phase 2 amendments provide a practical expedient to allow the
effective interest rate to be updated without adjusting the
carrying amount when accounting for changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and
liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of the interest
rate benchmark reform and the new basis for determining the
contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous
basis immediately preceding the change. In addition, the
amendments permit changes required by the interest rate
benchmark reform to be made to hedge designations and
hedge documentation without the hedging relationship being
discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on transition
are dealt with through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to
measure and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments
also provide a temporary relief to entities from having to meet
the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR is
designated as a risk component. The relief allows an entity,
upon designation of the hedge, to assume that the separately
identifiable requirement is met, provided the entity reasonably
expects the RFR risk component to become separately
identifiable within the next 24 months. Furthermore, the
amendments require an entity to disclose additional information
to enable users of financial statements to understand the effect
of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial
instruments and risk management strategy. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021 and shall be applied retrospectively, but entities are not
required to restate the comparative information. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a
gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify
that if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject
to the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has
a right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the
reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that
date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the
liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items, and
the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use on or
after the beginning of the earliest period presented in the
financial statements in which the entity first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as
contract management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and
shall be applied to contracts for which an entity has not yet
fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment
to the opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group'’s financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group
are as follows:

3 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which the
entity first applies the amendment. The amendment is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

o HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e level1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

o level2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

e level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
(continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESSES UNDER
COMMON CONTROL

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements item of the combining businesses in which the
common control combination occurs as if they had been
combined from the date when the combining businesses first
came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining businesses are consolidated
using the existing book values from the controlling party’s
perspective. The assets and liabilities of the acquired business
should be recorded at the book values as stated in the
consolidated financial statements of the controlling party (i.e., it
will require recording of the fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the acquired business at the date of original
acquisition from third parties by the controlling party, any
remaining goodwill arising on the previous acquisition and
minority interests recorded in the consolidated financial
statements of the controlling party). No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or gain on bargain purchase at the time of
common control combination. The adjustments to eliminate
share/registered capital of the combining businesses against the
related investment costs have been made to other reserves in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income include the results of each
of the combining businesses from the earliest date presented or
since the date when the combining businesses first came under
the common control, where this is a shorter period.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the businesses had been
combined at the end of the previous reporting period or when
they first came under common control, whichever is shorter.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY NOT
CONSTITUTING A BUSINESS

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that
do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to the investment
properties which are subsequently measured under the fair
value model and financial assets and financial liabilities at the
respective fair values, the remaining balance of the purchase
price is then allocated to the other individual identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. Such transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
gain on bargain purchase.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.



5.

ER G BOR (4)

BERRRAEEENRE BENMAGERK
REZETHEAMAZFHEEMBRE - sl
BEDAME ERANBE AR REEREN
PBREZTDVIRABREBERAUR S KRS
MTEHMFRANER S BRER © 1R
BEEDE RBERRNAELENRER
PRAR SR B B IR R VIR FER - BB
HBUERAEEMEBHEARHEELE
BakEME2E W - KBS REME2EK
BZIMBERRRA LR EEFESR
BT RIFAHEEH D EHAKEMN
RAZHEBEEZS  AlEL® o WAKEE
HMERRRALEEENBRERAKER
ZEELmRAELRNEE (BEEE L
BRARERZHE AR EERONE
FE R MEMRPER)  MAKES
RIFEREBIENE—PEIR - BRBREING
BENAKBCELDLRNHEREEIRE
ZBERR RS EEEERNRBR -

BREHERK B RKBERARGELEE
i HEARNAEERINERMAE
AN e R —HBZRARHNAEDRE
HRER REXASNARERERE Y
KA RERI B E M B ERFHENBERER
REE - YT ARBENREE - WASEM
HAIEREERABEN AP FESIRERK
Rz8E - Alg@REFFEENEBERER
& B X 1R 25 R o

ZHEMAR AR China Resources Land Limited

157

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate or joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group'’s share
of losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (continued)

The requirements of HKFRS 9 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition in accordance with HKFRS 9. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture at the date the equity method was discontinued,
and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposal of the relevant interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint
venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related
to the Group.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group a
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Revenue from development properties for sale in the ordinary
course of business is recognised over time when the Group’s
performance does not create an asset with an alternative use
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date, otherwise, revenue is
recognised at the point in time when customers obtain the
physical possession or the legal title of the completed properties.
For revenue from sales of properties recognised over time, the
Group recognized revenue by measuring the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation using in
input method, which recognises revenue based on the
proportion of actual costs incurred relative to the estimated
total costs for satisfaction of the performance obligation.

Revenue from construction and decoration services is recognised
over time, using an input method to measure progress towards
complete satisfaction of the services. The input method
recognises revenue based on the proportion of actual costs
incurred relative to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of
the construction services.

Revenue from management and hotel services is recognised
over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis.

Revenue from sales of goods (including furniture and other
inventories) is recognised at the point in time when control of
the goods is transferred to the customer, generally on the
acceptance of the goods by the customer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (continued)
Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

CONTRACT ASSETS

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a
contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is
conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
CONTRACT COSTS

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an
asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(©)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
consolidated income statement on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the pattern of the revenue to which the asset
related is recognised. Other contract costs are expensed as
incurred.

LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,
or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a
lease component, the Group adopted the practical expedient
not to separate non-lease components and to account for the
lease component and the associated non-lease components
(e.g., property management services for leases of properties) as
a single lease component.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

LEASES (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

(@

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost, and subsequently measured at fair
value, in accordance with the Group's policy for
“Investment properties”. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Land use rights
Buildings
Machinery

40 years
3 to 20 years
2 to 10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

LEASES (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the
in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)
(©)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option, elected by class of underlying asset). It also applies
the recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets
(elected on a lease-by-lease basis). Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the consolidated income statement due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the
same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is
classified as a finance lease or operating lease with reference to
the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the head
lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the on-
balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group classifies the
sublease as an operating lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currencies of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised in
the respective functional currency at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
except for:

o exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings;

o exchange differences on transactions entered into in order
to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

o exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only if
there is a change to the underlying transactions, events and
conditions relevant to the group entity. The group entity applies
the translation procedures applicable to the new functional
currency prospectively from the date of the change. At the date
of the change, the group entity translates all items into the new
functional currency using the prevailing exchange rate at that
date and the resulting translated amounts for non-monetary
items are treated as their historical cost.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e., RMB), using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e., a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.,
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.



5.

FRERBOR ()
R RAE R A K BB AR R

FE R TR KR AT 812 3B B R AR
BAEBEEGHREER R -

EARKETBEMMERERZEEN RAE
B B AR I BB AR N 15 Ry EAR R AN (PARR
RER/E) R - BEBEN T ARER

BiIE

PSR S 4 BN HRRE (S B IR SO AE A TR AR o

BNEAE N R IRIZ FARRBUEMFTE - 2R
H At 5 2 A FE BR A5 3k A FORL U A S B S IR
B ANBERBKTAHHIEAR - BRW
BAEEESWRRME® [BRBADEN | T
[l - AR EBVEIN IR B IR R E BRD R
HEE LR BERFTHE

EER AR MBRENEE,BERE
BRAERRVUEFPIRAAARHRE T
B ERER - EEHARBE ML AER
BE R ZRER - EEHREE RN ER
Tot)as ) A] BE P /EHE 3K P A R 000 E B = B A
SAPAA A HRE By = RE RS » AR (3
B8 BHERSN) DR ISR T A & & 5t A
IRPZEERBBMELNERZE - Al
TeRAEMETCHABEENAE -

EHEMABRAF China Resources Land Limited 169

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS AND TERMINATION
BENEFITS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred taxation.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation” as reported in
the consolidated income statement because of income or
expense that is taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred taxation is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
taxation liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred taxation assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
TAXATION (continued)

Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred taxation assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred taxation liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation liabilities or
deferred taxation assets for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred taxation arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than properties under
construction as described below) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
other than construction in progress less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Buildings under development for future owner-occupied
purposes

When buildings are in the course of development for production
or for administrative purposes, the amortisation of land use
rights provided during the construction period is included as
part of costs of buildings under construction. Buildings under
construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment
losses. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e., when they are in the location and
condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including leasehold properties held as
right-of-use assets and properties under construction for such
purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment property are included in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

Investment properties under construction are transferred to
properties for sale when and only when there is a change in use
evidenced by the commencement of development with a view
to sale. The property’s cost for subsequent accounting shall be
its fair value at the date of change.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

The Group transfers a property for sale to investment property
when there is a change of intention to hold the property to earn
rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the
ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the
commencement of an operating lease to another party. Any
difference between the fair value of the property at the date of
transfer and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit
or loss.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment” up to the date of change in
use, and any difference at that date between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation gain or loss in other comprehensive income.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS OTHER
THAN GOODWILL (SEE THE ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN RESPECT OF GOODWILL ABOVE)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS OTHER
THAN GOODWILL (SEE THE ACCOUNTING POLICY
IN RESPECT OF GOODWILL ABOVE) (continued)

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Properties for sale include properties under development and
properties held for sale which are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

The carrying value of properties for sale comprises the costs of
land use rights together with development expenditure, which
includes construction costs and borrowing costs capitalised.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for the
properties less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

OTHER INVENTORIES

Other inventories represent trading merchandises that are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories
are determined on a weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group'’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated
income statement when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the consolidated
income statement and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair
value changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to the
consolidated income statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity instruments as equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading.
The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the consolidated income statement. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the consolidated income statement when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as
a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which
case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement with net changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
instruments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity instruments classified as financial assets at
fair value profit or loss are also recognised as other income in
the consolidated income statement when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host and
accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated income
statement. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a
financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next 12
months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 45 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
General approach (continued)

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables, the
Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
INSTRUMENTS

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category also includes derivative financial instruments entered
into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by HKFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the consolidated income statement. The net fair
value gain or loss recognised in the consolidated income
statement does not include any interest charged on these
financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied.
Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except for the gains or losses arising from the
Group's own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to
the consolidated income statement. The net fair value gain or
loss recognised in the consolidated income statement does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amount
due to the ultimate holding company, amounts due to
intermediate holding companies, amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries, amounts due to joint ventures, amounts due to
associates and amounts due to non-controlling interests, bank
borrowings, lease liabilities, senior notes and medium-term
notes are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a “pass-through”
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent
of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge its foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the
date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the
fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated income
statement , except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and later
reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects profit
or loss.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

o fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes
in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an
unrecognised firm commitment; or

o cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability
in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly
probable forecast transaction, or a foreign currency risk in
an unrecognised firm commitment; or

o hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
(continued)

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally
designates and documents the hedge relationship to which the
Group wishes to apply hedge accounting, the risk management
objective and its strategy for undertaking the hedge.

The documentation includes identification of the hedging
instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how the Group will assess whether the hedging
relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements
(including the analysis of sources of hedge ineffectiveness and
how the hedge ratio is determined). A hedging relationship
qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of the following
effectiveness requirements:

o There is “an economic relationship” between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument.

o The effect of credit risk does not “dominate the value
changes” that result from that economic relationship.

o The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as
that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that
the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the
hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge
that quantity of hedged item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Hedges which meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge
accounting are accounted for as follows:

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument is recognised directly in other comprehensive income
in the cash flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The
cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the
cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the
cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item.

The amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income are
accounted for, depending on the nature of the underlying
hedged transaction. If the hedged transaction subsequently
results in the recognition of a non-financial item, the amount
accumulated in equity is removed from the separate component
of equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying
amount of the hedged asset or liability. This is not a
reclassification adjustment and will not be recognised in other
comprehensive income for the period. This also applies where
the hedged forecast transaction of a non-financial asset or non-
financial liability subsequently becomes a firm commitment to
which fair value hedge accounting is applied.

For any other cash flow hedges, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to the consolidated
income statement as a reclassification adjustment in the same
period or periods during which the hedged cash flows affect the
consolidated income statement.

If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that
has been accumulated in other comprehensive income must
remain in accumulated other comprehensive income if the
hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur. Otherwise,
the amount will be immediately reclassified to the consolidated
income statement as a reclassification adjustment. After the
discontinuation, once the hedged cash flow occurs, any amount
remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income is
accounted for depending on the nature of the underlying
transaction as described above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Fair value hedges

The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is
recognised in the consolidated income statement as other
expenses. The change in the fair value of the hedged item
attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as a part of the
carrying amount of the hedged item and is also recognised in
the consolidated income statement as other expenses.

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost,
the adjustment to carrying value is amortised through the
consolidated income statement over the remaining term of the
hedge using the effective interest rate method. Effective interest
rate amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists
and shall begin no later than when the hedged item ceases to
be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk
being hedged. If the hedged item is derecognised, the
unamortised fair value is recognised immediately in the
consolidated income statement.

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a
hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change in the fair
value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is
recognised as an asset or liability with a corresponding gain or
loss recognised in the consolidated income statement. The
changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are also
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING (continued)

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective
hedging instruments are classified as current or non-current or
separated into current and non-current portions based on an
assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying
contracted cash flows).

o Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an
economic hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting)
for a period beyond 12 months after the end of the
reporting period, the derivative is classified as non-current
(or separated into current and non-current portions)
consistently with the classification of the underlying item.

o Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the
host contract are classified consistently with the cash
flows of the host contract.

o Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are
effective hedging instruments, are classified consistently
with the classification of the underlying hedged item. The
derivative instruments are separated into current portions
and non-current portions only if a reliable allocation can
be made.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors of the Company have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition from sales of properties

The Group has recognised revenue from sales of properties.
Revenue is recognised over time when the Group’s performance
does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date, otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the buyer obtains control of
the completed property. Whether there is an enforceable right
to payment depends on the terms of contracts and relevant
laws that apply to the contracts. To assess the enforceability of
right to payment, the Group has reviewed the terms of the
contracts, the relevant local laws, the local regulators’ view and
obtained legal advice, and a significant judgement is required.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred
taxation on investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying amount
of investment properties measured using the fair value model is
recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the
Group has recognised the deferred taxation on changes in fair
value of investment properties on the basis that the Group is
subject to enterprise income tax. The carrying amount of
deferred taxation on investment properties at 31 December
2020 was RMB20,395 million (2019 Restated: RMB17,333
million).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Classification of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

The classification of an investment as a subsidiary, a joint
venture or an associate is based on whether the Group is
determined to have control, joint control or significant influence
over the investee, which involves judgements through the
analysis of various factors, including the Group’s representation
on the chief decision-making authorities of an investee, such as
board of directors’ meetings and shareholders’ meetings, as
well as other facts and circumstances.

Subsidiaries are consolidated, which means each of their assets,
liabilities and transactions are included line by line in the
Group's consolidated financial statements, whereas the interests
in joint ventures and associates are equity accounted for as
investments in the consolidated statement of financial position.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables and other
receivables

The Group estimates loss allowance for expected credit losses
for trade receivables and other receivables resulting from the
expected cash shortfalls. The Group bases the estimates on the
information about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. If the
above conditions were to deteriorate, actual provisions would
be higher than estimated. The information about the ECLs on
the Group'’s trade receivables and other receivables is disclosed
in note 28 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties, including those completed investment
properties, investment properties under construction and right-
of-use assets, are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at their fair value, details of which are
disclosed in note 17. The fair value of the investment properties
was determined by reference to valuations conducted on these
properties by independent and professionally qualified valuers
using property valuation techniques which involve certain
assumptions of prevailing market conditions. Favourable or
unfavourable changes to these assumptions may result in
changes in the fair value of the Group'’s investment properties
included in the consolidated statement of financial position and
the corresponding adjustments to the changes in fair value
reported in the consolidated income statement. Details of fair
value of investment properties are disclosed in note 17 to the
financial statements.

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale are
stated at the lower of the cost and net realisable value. Based
on the experience of the directors of the Company and the
nature of the subject properties, the directors of the Company
determine the net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale by reference to the
estimated market prices of the properties under development
and properties held for sale, which takes into account a number
of factors including the recent prices of similar property types in
the same project or by similar properties, and the prevailing real
estate market conditions in the PRC. The directors of the
Company estimate the future cost to completion of the
properties under development by reference to the actual
development cost of other similar completed projects of the
Group, adjusted by certain current market data. During the
years ended 31 December 2020, a write-down of
RMB2,675,041,000 (2019: RMB851,328,000) has been made in
the consolidated income statement. Further details of the
Group's properties under development and properties held for
sale are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

PRC Land appreciation tax (“LAT")

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The PRC LAT is levied at
progressive rates on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds of the sales of properties less the estimated deductible
expenditures, the cost of land use rights and all relevant
property development expenditures.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the amounts of
land appreciation and the applicable land appreciation tax rate
due to the uncertainty of proceeds of sales of properties and
deductible expenditures.

However, the implementation and settlement of the tax varies
amongst different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC
and certain projects of the Group have not finalised their LAT
calculations and payments with any local tax authorities in the
PRC. The amount of land appreciation is determined with
reference to proceeds of the sales of properties less the
estimated deductible expenditures, including the cost of land
use rights and all relevant property development expenditures.
The Group recognised the LAT based on management’s best
estimates. The final tax outcome could be different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, and these differences will
impact the income tax expense and the related income tax
provisions in the periods in which such tax is finalised with local
tax authorities. The Group recognised the LAT of
RMB12,932,766,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: RMB13,129,391,000).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in
a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate
("IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that
do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The
Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market
interest rates) when available and is required to make certain
entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone
credit rating).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision makers (“CODM") of the
Group, was specifically focused on the segments of
development properties for sale, property investments and
management, hotel operations and construction, decoration
services and others for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment. These divisions are the basis on which
the Group reports its segment information under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments.

Segment results represent the profit earned or loss incurred
before taxation by each segment without allocation of income
or expenses which are not recurring in nature or unrelated to
the CODM'’s assessment of the Group’s operating performance,
e.g. other income, other gains and losses, gain on changes in
fair value of investment properties, net gain on changes in fair
value of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss,
central administration costs, and finance costs. Segment
revenues and results are the measure reported to the CODM for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment. Inter-segment sales are transacted at mutually
agreed prices.
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7. HER () 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(A) PEWRERFE (A) SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS
AEERKERFAZHHEE D 2 W The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and
R EEDWTT - results by operating and reportable segments.
BE-ZE-_ZEF+-_A=1t—HLEE Year ended 31 December 2020
HEE NERE BE - £5
BRNE KER BELE PR Rt e
Property Construction,
Development  investments decoration
properties and Hotel services
forsale  management operations and others  Consolidated
ARETT ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARBTR
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
RS R¥EE SEGMENT REVENUE AND
RESULTS
g Revenue
REEPENRE Revenue from contracts with
customers
RE-BHED Recognised at a point in time 142,213,120 - - - 182,213,120
R—BERARER Recognised over time 14,927,034 3,489,062 1,089,179 20459801 39,965,076
it RORMEE Revenue from other sources
REWA Rental income - 9,703,570 - - 9,703,570
PENE Segment revenue 157,140,154 13,192,632 1,089,179 20,459,801 191,881,766
7 EENE Inter-segment revenue - (1,495,098) - (10,799,399)  (12,294,497)
RESNDEF M Revenue from external customers 157,140,154 11,697,534 1,089,179 9660402 179,587,269
£ Result
DL Segment results 43,757,438 5,817,540 (228,101) (241,563) 49,105,314
HiplA - Htplha g Other income, other gains and losses 4,536,310
RENEZ DT EEBNE Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties 8,884,264
BATESABRZERIA Net gain on changes in fair value of
LATEEGUNRTE financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss 59,888
RAET ! Unallocated expenses (1,129,654)
HEER Finance costs (1,284,073)
BUETRR Profit before taxation 60,172,049
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7. SrHEER () 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(A) nEWEREE (&) (A) SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS
(continued)
BE-_E—-NE+=-A=+—HIEE Year ended 31 December 2019 (Restated)
(#=E%)
HER MERE BE R
FRYZ REE il R RAM e
Property Construction,
Development investments decoration
properties and Hotel services
forsale  management operations and others ~ Consolidated
ANREFT ARETT AREFT AREFL AREFTL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
PEWERES SEGMENT REVENUE AND
RESULTS
g Revenue
REEFPALMKE Revenue from contracts with
customers
RE—REER Recognised at a point in time 124,783,654 = = - 124,783,654
R— RS R e Recognised over time 2,414,903 2,004,015 1,491,432 20,788,842 26,699,192
Ei RS Revenue from other sources
HEWA Rental income - 9,687,190 = - 9,687,190
PENE Segment revenue 127,198,557 11,691,205 1,491,432 20,788,842 161,170,036
ARG Inter-segment revenue - (943,611) - (12,059,190)  (13,002,801)
RESPE PR Revenue from external customers 127,198,557 10,747,594 1,491,432 8,729,652 148,167,235
F3 Result
PEXE Segment results 44,194,137 5,696,779 41,795 112,837 50,045,548
EilA - Hplhas REE Other income, other gains and
losses 2,858,028
REME AT EEHNE Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties 10,732,358
BRATE A BRZERIEA Net gain on changes in fair value of
ZATEEDNSFE finandial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss 29,961
RORXH Unallocated expenses (1,131,373)
BRER Finance costs (1,389,547)
BR B A& A Profit before taxation 61,144,975
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(A) SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS

(continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

2020 2019
AR¥ET T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
A AREHINA LB END IR © Revenue recognised that was included in
contract liabilities at the beginning
of the reporting period:
HEME Sale of properties 145,229,581 99,912,739
BERKERS Construction and decoration services 287,588 168,795
145,517,169 100,081,534
BHEE Performance obligations

ERAKERNOEENEMBAMNT -

HEYRE

BHEBERE —RKREHAR —BREH
AZEK REEGOGREERRAELN
ZEBEAGIME - EARBEAL &
AEREMBRENEERAREAR
HIITELE S TR E K WER
B BROEER —BREREAZEMX -
BRINEFPRECERMENEERE
ERIVEEMERAASERA G
B RS 3R B mT U [ (B Y B ]

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
or over time, depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract. It is satisfied over time
when the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date,
otherwise, it is satisfied at the point in time when
customers obtain the physical possession or the legal title
of the completed properties and the Group has right to
payment and collection of the consideration is probable.
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7. SREEFR ()
(A) 2 ¥EUhE R4 ()

- ESEREE )
LR RAE IR

BHEEREHRENH —BRERAT
K BRNR—REERHE30
HR2IE - RFREETADLLHMN
P HEREBEHER  RARSKAHN
BE ARBEABEPR—EHHEA
MERBERR WA EFERENK -

RZZEZZEFF+_A=+—HFI®KRE
EMERBHEFECRTEX KD RTK)
MR SE A AR 272,755,000,000 7T
(Z=2—n4F : AR¥242,500,001,000
T)WEHR=FRNER - 2B TE

ERR IR -

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(A) SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS

(continued)

Performance obligations (continued)

Construction and decoration services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due within
30 days from the date of billing. A certain percentage of
payment is retained by customers until the end of the
retention period as the Group’s entitlement to the final
payment is conditional on the satisfaction of the service

quality by the customers over a certain period as stipulated

in the contracts.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) of sales of properties as at 31 December 2020
amounted to RMB272,755,000,000 (2019:
RMB242,500,001,000) are expected to be recognised

within three years. The amounts do not include variable
consideration which is constrained.

(B) A"EBRZRKLERAZHOAI IS, A (B) The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by
EDfAT : operating and reportable segments:
2020 2019
ARET T ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
(K&&E7))
(Restated)
PEEE Segment assets

HEBBEME Development properties for sale 505,079,554 477,873,682
MERERER Property investments and management 207,716,815 175,990,705
Y S A Hotel operations 12,103,109 9,633,672

BE - RERBREM Construction, decoration services and
others 10,201,975 8,971,414
DIEEELET Total segment assets 735,101,453 672,469,473
AR BC Unallocated 133,939,947 97,419,082
BEMT Total assets 869,041,400 769,888,555
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7. EER () 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(0 HtinEER (C) OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION
BE_E_FEFE+_-_A=+—HIEE Year ended 31 December 2020
HER NERE BE - %
BRME REE EELE R R A b
Property Construction,
Development investments decoration
properties and Hotel services
forsale  management operations and others Total
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETTR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEBENAER Addition of interests in associates 1,227,454 203,000 - - 1,430,454
NERS L EREE Addition of interests in joint
ventures 8,119,701 1,184,105 - 2,450 9,306,256
BRI (i) Capital expenditures (Note) 51,985 18,673,037 2,740,926 83,846 21,549,794
TER#H Depreciation and amortisation 168,724 337,531 362,531 57,670 926,456
BE-ZE-hE+=-BA=+—HLEE Year ended 31 December 2019 (Restated)
(&=5)
HER NERE jee
RS KER il FRTs SR EL At @t
Property Construction,
Development investments decoration
properties and Hotel services
for sale management operations and others Total
ARETT ARBTL ARBFTL ARETL ARBFL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
/_‘EH“%R Al Addition of interests in associates 514,138 420,441 = = 934,579
agbxER Addition of interests in joint
ventures 10,287,844 2,365,831 - 570,000 13,223,675
BARRR (M) Capital expenditures (Note) 442,619 14,791,981 2,614,373 170,375 18,019,348
HER#H Depreciation and amortisation 147,350 295,291 300,177 44,568 787,386
Hiit - BRARXFEEAREYE  BERR Note: The capital expenditures mainly represent additions to
#H ANBEREE RERBEMERR property, plant and equipment, additions to intangible assets,
EFRAEERE - additions to investment properties and additions to right-of-

use assets.
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7. SHEEFR () 7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(D) BERAREEFEIBIOY% HUZE TR B $ (D) No geographical segment analysis is prepared as more
e 7 HEBEREMEP » B4 &K than 90% of the Group’s revenue is derived from activities
SEHEiB0% KRB E E (BRIEL in and from customers located in the PRC and more than
HIBEE BREEDENRIE - B 90% of the carrying values of the Group’s non-current
Bt N B FIE - RIS TR assets, excluding deferred taxation assets, amounts due
EmILEE - RAFEFABRZZSH from joint ventures, amounts due from associates,
EE TESBIANEETAEBE amounts due from non-controlling interests, intangible
2 mkRIEAFEYEZERATER) assets, financial assets at FVPL, derivative financial
Z R @EME £ 8E A ANRK instruments and equity instruments designated at FVOCI,
262,860,287,000 T(ZE— NFK&E amounting to RMB262,860,287,000 (2019 Restated:
H: AR #221,169,530,000 7T ) 7KL RMB221,169,530,000), are situated in the PRC.

PR B - H N AR AR AR M S B D 2
DEINTER o

(E) #z—E—_TF&+-_A=+—HIE (E) There is no single customer contributes more than 10%
B WEE-FPIEAREEKE10% of the Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December
ANE(ZZ2—NEF &) - 2020 (2019: Nil).

8. bW A ~ H At W5k K i 4R 8. OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND
LOSSES
2020 2019
ARET R AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
(seE5)
(Restated)
FLEWA Interest income 2,170,181 2,168,870
LEREYHEEE S Gain/(loss) arising on disposal of
Wz (518) investment properties 313 (141,753)
BT 4 AL Government grants 119,259 42,880
B EEANEGERE Loss on re-measurement of the previously
Ptz 2 E5ia (KIRE43G)) held interest in joint ventures (Note 43(i) (12,309) -
B E AR E QA Gain on re-measurement of the previously
P s 2 ek (B3 43(v)) held interest in associates (Note 43(iv)) - 320,193
RAEL BB A A2 Was Gain on deemed disposal of subsidiaries
(B3t 42) (Note 42) 16,483 =
PE 5 W e, (B518) F58 Exchange gain/(loss), net 1,367,869 (118,131)
A, Others 874,514 585,969
4,536,310 2,858,028
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9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

203

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the sixteen (2019:
seventeen) directors were as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2020

ik Eftie
Fees Other emoluments
By REMHD
HOEE  FUAEE  FHOESE  HEREN  HEMN  RERL BRUESY 8
Contribution
Independent to the Strategic
Non- non- Salaries defined incentive
Executive  executive  executive and contribution Discretionary award
directors directors directors  allowances scheme bonus scheme Total
ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%TR AR%TR AR%Tr ARETR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
THH Wang Xiangming - - - - - - - -
HE Yan Biao - - - - - - - -
KRE Chen Ying - - - - - - - -
TE Wang Yan - - - - - - - -
R4 Chen Rong - - - - - - - -
i Li Xin - - - 1,789 127 1574 3,362 6,852
FAR Zhang Dawei - - - 1,789 125 1,438 3215 6,567
Eil Xie Ji - - - 1451 m 1,338 3,199 6,099
RFH Wu Binggi - - - 1,451 90 1325 3,155 6,021
PHER=F=FF Guo Shiging (appointed on
+-A-t=-BEZEfE) 22 December 2020) - - - 29 4 - - 3
AIVR(R-Z-2F Shen Tongdong (resigned on
+ZA=+=HEE) 22 December 2020) - - - 1374 110 1,239 2,947 5,670
WER Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco - - 356 - - - . 356
ik Andrew Y. Yan - - 356 - - - - 356
FHE Wan Kam To, Peter - - 356 - - - - 35
R Zhong Wei - - 356 - - - - 356
brg s Sun Zhe - - 356 - - - - 356
- - 1,780 7,883 567 6,914 15,878 33,022
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9. FHFME (4)

BE_Z—NF+=-A=+—HILLEE

FEWmE  ANNUAL REPORT 2020

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2019

e Efte
Fees Other emoluments
Bu REMR
YOEE  FHOEF  HNTES  HeREM  HEMR  BETL EREEGRI Lt
Contribution
Independent to the Strategic
Non- non- Salaries defined incentive
Executive executive executive and  contribution  Discretionary award
directors directors directors  allowances scheme bonus scheme Total
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARBFT ARET:
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
THAR-Z-NEF Wang Xiangming (appointed on
TZATLREZER) 17 December 2019) - = = = = = = -
3 Yan Biao = = - - - - = =
RE Chen Ying - - - - = = = =
IE Wang Yan = = = - - - - -
BR& Chen Rong = = = = = = = -
ik Li Xin = = = 1,821 174 1,512 4,733 8,246
L] Zhang Dawei = = = 1,821 163 1,553 4,733 82716
A Xie Ji = = = 1,474 158 1,39 4,327 7,355
REU(R=Z2-1% W Binggi (appointed on
—B-BEEHR) 12 February 2019) = = = 1474 140 1,519 4872 8,005
YR Shen Tongdong = = = 1435 168 1,201 3,955 6,799
RAR(RZZF-1EF Wu Xiang Dong (resigned on
ZAt+ZHET) 12 February 2019) = = = 299 26 1,931 6,770 9,026
EE(R=2-—1% Tang Yong (resigned on
TZATLHEE) 17 December 2019) = = = 1,946 163 1,733 5349 9,191
BR Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco - - 359 - - - - 359
ik Andrew Y. Yan = = 359 = = = = 359
FRE Wan Kam To, Peter = = 359 - - - - 359
& Zhong Wei - - 359 - - - - 359
i Sun Zhe - - 359 - - - = 359
- - 1,795 10,282 992 10,885 34,739 58,693
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9. #WHME (M) 9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
BBEA TN RERNEB 2 EEHEE - AAK Discretionary bonus was determined with reference to the
BRI TIBARET BURETE © Group's operating results, individual performance and

comparable market statistics.
B MEET 2R AN EE R N EE R &2 The strategic incentive award scheme was determined based on
BERRFTELLRET - NS BFE RN a specific rate of the Group’s operating results in each financial
TELEARERERESEGHEMERE - year. The specific rate adopted in each financial year was
assessed and determined by management’s best estimation.
X RBTESME TS RIS A AR The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
RAREEZ EREHIRHERS o EXFIRIE their services in connection with the management of the affairs
HITEENBIYIFNTESTHE IS RESE of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of the Non-
EERARESE Executive directors and independent Non-Executive directors
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

10. 1 5 < 10. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
AEBREERFMATERENZ(ZE Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
—NE: W) ARARESE - HileFHNK L Group, four (2019: four) were directors of the Company, whose
NHFIZIHEBEER - Ep—R(ZZ2— N1 emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 9 above. The
F:—Z)ALTZBEWT : emolument of the remaining one (2019: one) individual was as

follows:

2020 2019
AR®T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
e MoERh Salaries and allowances 1,451 1,474

FTE GBI Contributions to defined contribution
schemes 122 138
[ l=peFAn Discretionary bonus 1,216 1,494
B ] Strategic incentive award scheme 3,172 4,914
5,961 8,020
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10. 1@ B 4 (%) 10. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
—Z(ZE—hFE: —Z)ATZMENTFET The emolument of this one (2019: one) individual was within
P& E the following band:

AE
Number of individuals
2020 2019

756,500,001 T 278 #7,000,0007T HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 1 —

7B #£8,000,001 T 24 %8,500,0007T HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 -

11. BB &N 11. FINANCE COSTS

2020 2019
AR¥T R AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(&%)

(Restated)

RITREMEE - BEZE - PHIZE K Total interest including bank and
S4a%E other borrowings, senior notes,

B2 F &
medium-term notes and others 7,463,021 7,446,513
HEBE 2N BRRE Total interest on lease liabilities 213,032 159,728
IRITWE B Total bank charges 209,803 197,306
W BRBP CHEEYE  EERKRE Less: Amounts capitalised in properties
MEREEIRBETERNZ &5 under development for sale,

investment properties under
construction and construction
in progress (6,601,783) (6,414,000)

1,284,073 1,389,547
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

2020 2019
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(E5)
(Restated)
Frigfif < 81 The income tax expenses comprise of:
B HATE IR Current taxation
FEIERGR ([REMSTE]) PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT")
K FaHIFT1SH% and withholding income tax 10,105,523 10,971,749
+ Hh R E L LAT 12,932,766 13,129,391
BERER Hong Kong Profits Tax - 77
HErliEERANHEY H Tax charge in other jurisdiction 12,158 4,371
23,050,447 24,105,588
RIEFT TR Deferred taxation 3,031,328 2,576,382
26,081,775 26,681,970

(A) EFEH

(B)

REBEHEARIMEEEMASETOE( &
EMEBOE]D REEMEBEE K
- B=FFN\F—A-HEAKE
REMB AR EL25%

PEFAEH SR

RPBRZNARRESIIMEEES
KB —ZZN\F— A BREKRNZA
BRI B B IZ 10% BB R B b B 78
MG - AP ENBRRREERE
Az AR & 1T & P BB EERT L
BB TS IR A BE AR TE Y B IR IR A A
mME » FIERA 5% HBEFENHHE

(A)

(B)

EIT

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law"”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

PRC WITHHOLDING INCOME TAX

PRC withholding income tax of 10% shall be levied on the
dividends declared by the companies established in the
PRC to their foreign investors out of their profits earned
after 1 January 2008. A lower 5% withholding tax rate
may be applied when the immediate holding companies
of the PRC subsidiaries are incorporated or operated in
Hong Kong and fulfil the requirements to the tax treaty
arrangements between the PRC and Hong Kong.
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12, P mi b 2 (4])

(@)

(D)

(E)

(F)

+ it EH

TR ENEEHRBABEDBEBA
RAGDI Pk 2 SR IE AT - L HIB(EH
EREERE RERTBERE B
BETHHRER °

BERMEHR

BB NGB DR A5 R AE NI
165% (— T —NF :16.5%) WX

| st
=T HE o
Al >

BINTEH

ARARASEESREBEFASHE AR
FENERAVEEMAILREREAR
nwE > E BReSMHEERSAH
BB RRARIN IS R LA S A
YZHMBRRRERERELESBK
BERRDAEMMARL - Fitt - E#H%
BMEBELERSEHR

Htt R ZEBEMNBESH

Hr A EEREMOHESHEEER
B RBENEARI A S B o IR B E -
FERARGEZHBARZRER19%
—E—NF :19%) °
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

(@)

(D)

(E)

(F)

LAT

The provision for LAT is estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges of
progressive rates of the appreciation value, with certain
allowable deductions.

HONG KONG PROFITS TAX

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2019:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits.

OVERSEAS INCOME TAX

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands and
accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.
The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands were incorporated under the International
Business Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands and,
accordingly, are exempted from British Virgin Islands
income tax.

TAX CHARGE IN OTHER JURISDICTION

Tax charge in other jurisdiction mainly represents the
current tax charge in the United Kingdom (the “UK").
Under the United Kingdom Tax Law, the tax rate of the
subsidiary operating in the UK is 19% (2019:19%).
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2. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

(G) The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to

209

the profit before taxation per the consolidated income

statement as follows:

2020 2019
ARET T ARBTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(FeE5)
(Restated)
B % Bl v A Profit before taxation 60,172,049 61,144,975
W EIEREEREREZFE Less: share of profit of investments in
joint ventures (1,899,799) (1,976,713)
W FERREE R AR E 2 FH Less: share of profit of investments in
associates (1,099,806) (1,740,993)
57,172,444 57,427,269

REBEHE25% (ZE—NF : 25%)
STEZHIBRY
WERAR TR Rz &

TAMBEE 2 HETE
BERHMAZ HETE

AERVABERAIIIRERZ8 2

TE
TR ER
THRERREEE
FEITEMAEH
Hitp

REEREHRFAX

Tax charge at effective rate of 25%
(2019: 25%)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries

Effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purpose

Effect of income not taxable for tax
purpose

Effect of tax losses and deductible
temporary difference not recognised

LAT

Tax effect of LAT

PRC withholding income tax

Others

Income tax expenses for the year

(14,293,111)
(101,911)

(939,880)

224,478

(118,410)

(12,932,766)
3,233,192

(1,153,367)

(14,356,817)
(259,529)

(1,236,462)

124,648

(306,541)
(13,129,391)
3,282,348
(747,795)
(52,431)

(26,081,775)

(26,681,970)
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13. 4 A Al

13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2020 2019
AR®T R ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
(F&&E7))
(Restated)
FRENENER THEIE Profit for the year has been arrived at
after charging the following items:
BEIXRK(BEESZHE) Staff costs, including directors’
emoluments 9,798,691 9,809,542
FEMFETE 2 B A Costs related to defined contribution
scheme 361,867 610,187
SEN PN Total staff costs 10,160,558 10,419,729
RERAT oHIEE 2 MENEMIFSE  Cost of properties for sale and other
D@ inventories recognised as expenses 110,912,541 79,861,522
1% 2R BN < Auditor’s remuneration 4,730 4,590
WARFTAGTEHEBE 2 HENTR Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities 35,834 33,048
M - BRERZETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 669,859 615,487
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 242,514 157,816
WO SHE 2 MEE B IRFE Write-down of properties for sale to net
realisable value 2,675,041 851,328
w8 EE Amortisation of intangible assets 14,083 14,083
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14. DIVIDENDS

2020 2019
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
“ZE_THEFHRE  BREERARE 2020 interim dividend, RMB0.15
0157 (ZE—hN4F : AR®0.1297T) (2019: RMBO0.129) per ordinary share 1,069,641 894,091
—E_EFEERIRAIKRE SR ER 2020 final dividend, proposed, of
AR¥1102 0 (ZE—NF : RMB1.102 (2019: RMB0.937)
AR¥0.9377T) () per ordinary share (Note) 7,858,295 6,689,780
8,927,936 7,583,871
ftirt - R=—B=—F=A=-t+hBBIZ2EETSE:3 Note: At a meeting held by the Board on 29 March 2021, the Board

t EEega kN8B E_ZS_F+=A
=+ —HIEFEHAR R RARE TR LB
ARK1102 T (T EBEE1.31270) - BEHOA
R#7,858,295,0007T (#& 49781 9,355,793,000
TL) ' W AERA AR RIE HTEBERMHEE
7,130,939,579 iR 5t E o FURAR B AR R UL FER
EMBHRERTRBEEMRE - BFREARQT
BE_Z-_—F+_A=+—RALLEBZEHEE
B TS s I B an B B o

HE-_Z-NAFE+-_A=1+—B I FENKRY
BREFHREBEBEARKIB7IT(HTABE
1.0267T) * 5K AR 6,689,780,000 7T (#7
A48 7,316,344,0007T) - BR - -E4F
NAZRAZARRBREBERGFHAE - W
REFE AR ©

proposed a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2020 of RMB1.102 (equivalent to HK$1.312) per ordinary share of
the Company, totalling approximately RMB7,858,295,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$9,355,793,000) based on the latest number of
ordinary shares of 7,130,939,579 shares of the Company in issue.
This proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable in these
consolidated financial statements, but will be reflected as a profit
appropriation in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ending 31 December 2021.

A final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 of RMB0.937
(equivalent to HK$1.026) per ordinary share, totalling approximately
RMB6,689,780,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,316,344,000),
had been approved in the Company’s Annual General Meeting on
2 June 2020 and paid during the year.
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15. B &A 15. EARNINGS PER SHARE
RRAREEB AEIEERERZF)Z AT R The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to
sTE owners of the Company is based on the following data:
2020 2019
ARBT R AREFT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
(F&&E7)
(Restated)
B F Earnings
RESTESRERRF 2 &7 Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings
(RRRHEE NEEEREF) per share (profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company) 29,809,959 28,783,682
2020 2019
RHOEE Number of shares
REFTEBREARRF Weighted average number of ordinary
N9 L m AR B shares for the purpose of basic
earnings per share 7,130,939,579 6,964,272,912
HRBE-_Z_ZFR_Z-NF+_H No diluted earnings per share is presented for the years ended
=+ — B It EEWEEMBEITEINEET R 31 December 2020 and 2019 as there were no potential

f% SR 25| FIRESE AR - ordinary shares outstanding.
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HENRES
BENE BT HRR A hai:d HEIR a5
Leasehold
improvements,
Hotel furniture and Motor  Construction
properties Buildings equipment vehicles in progress Total
ARETF R AR®TR ARET R AR®TR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
A& cosT
RZZ-TF—-HF—H At 1 January 2020 (Restated)

(B=3]) 5,679,308 3,444,470 2,720,991 168,067 2,862,678 14,875,514
P H AR Exchange realignment (87,684) (38,337) (61,780) (2,398) (12,945) (203,144)
AE Additions 144,335 32,566 367,603 12,953 2,365,259 2,922,716
BEEHERBARNEE  Disposed upon deemed

GETY) disposal of subsidiaries

(Note 42) - - (612) (480) - (1,092)
WERB A RRES Acquired on acquisition of

(MizE43) subsidiaries (Note 43) - 873,829 17,052 137 11,797 902,815
BRERVAE Transfer from intangible asset

(MzE19) (Note 19) - - 243,310 - - 243,310
BROMEE  YE Transfer to properties for sale - (38,423) - - (67,713) (106,136)
B Transfer 1,976,048 316,788 408,639 - (2,701,475) -
k- Disposals - (8,374) (62,914) (16,201) (81,796) (169,285)
RZZZTFE+=A=+—H At31 December 2020 7,712,007 4,582,519 3,632,289 162,078 2,375,805 18,464,698
ESEi ACCUMULATED

DEPRECIATION
R-ZE-Z&—Hf—H At 1 January 2020 (Restated)

(E7) 1,335,312 777,509 1,506,878 125,116 - 3,744,815
ER AR Exchange realignment (20,084) (8.787) (2,89) (925) - (32,692)
BIELEMBARBEE  Disposed upon deemed

GETZY) disposal of subsidiaries

(Note 42) - - (454) (448) - (902)
KEERE Provided for the year 237,046 113,174 319,505 134 - 669,859
HE R S8 Eliminated on disposals - (2,496) (8,247) (961) - (11,704)
RZZE-FFE+-A=F—H At31December 2020 1,552,274 879,400 1,814,786 122,916 - 4,369,376
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZZE-FF+-F=+—H At31December 2020 6,159,733 3,703,119 1,817,503 39,162 2,375,805 14,095,322
RZZE—NF+-A=+—H At31 December 2019
(&ZE5) (Restated) 4,343,996 2,666,961 1,214,113 42,951 2,862,678 11,130,699
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)
MENERE -
BIEMS BT CUINES "E FETR et
Leasehold
improvements,
Hotel furniture and Motor Construction
properties Buildings equipment vehicles in progress Total
ARNTR  ARBTT  ARMTR  ARETL  ARMTR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
7% COST
R-ZE-h&—HA—H At 1 January 2019 (Restated)

(&) 4,934,862 2,948,441 2,598,000 163,783 3,634,412 14,279,498
e Exchange realignment 21,881 54,948 1,022 584 104,192 182,627
NE Additions 592,416 257,541 494,473 21,877 1,861,004 3,227,311
WERBARRSES Acquired on acquisition of

(PzE43) subsidiaries (Note 43) - - 481 206 = 687
BREPAELE Transfer to right-of-use assets

(MizE18) (Note 18) - - - - (621,521) (621,521)
ERSHEE 7 YE Transfer to properties for sale = (42,410) = = (795,416) (837,826)
BRERANZE Transfer to investment

(Ktzx17) properties (Note 17) - - - - (1,570,000) (1,570,000)
RERZRENERZ Revaluation gain at the time of

B transfer to investment

properties - - - - 858,527 858,527
R Transfer 196,888 271,726 94,018 - (562,632) -
HE Disposals (66,739) (45,776) (467,003) (18,383) (45,888) (643,789)
RZT-NF+=-A=1—H At31 December 2019

(&E5) (Restated) 5,679,308 3,444,470 2,720,991 168,067 2,862,678 14,875,514
Rt E ACCUMULATED

DEPRECIATION
RZZE-NE—HA—A At 1 January 2019

(=5) (Restated) 1,105,892 666,651 1,571,990 128,564 - 3,473,097
[ aEE Exchange realignment 7,325 869 4,723 503 = 13,420
KEEEE Provided for the year 238,324 111,856 261,891 3,416 - 615,487
3 Eliminated on disposals (16,229) (1,867) (331,726) (7,367) - (357,189)
RWZZE-NE+=A=F—H At31 December 2019

(&&5) (Restated) 1,335,312 777,509 1,506,878 125,116 - 3,744,815
REE CARRYING VALUES
RZT—NF+-A=1—H At31 December 2019

(&= E5) (Restated) 4,343,996 2,666,961 1214113 42,951 2,862,678 11,130,699
RZE-NE—A—A At 1 January 2019

(FE5) (Restated) 3,828,970 2,281,790 1,026,010 35,219 3,634,412 10,806,401
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

Construction in progress as at 31 December 2020 and 2019
mainly represented the hotel properties which are under
construction in the PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

Hotel properties and buildings 20 to 40 years
Leasehold improvements, Over the shorter of lease

furniture and equipment terms or 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
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17. EME

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

EH "E REME —
REME REME ERREEE @zt
Investment Investment
Completed properties  properties —
investment under right-of-use
properties  construction assets Total
NS ARBTT AREFT ARETFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
A¥E FAIR VALUE
R-ZE—NFE—F—HB (FEF]) At 1 January 2019 (Restated) 103,058,208 25,703,100 3,450,618 132,211,926
B 5 B Exchange realignment 136,005 - - 136,005
NE Additions 284,195 13,352,577 442,117 14,078,389
BRESHEE 7 YE Transfer to properties for sale (408,000) - - (408,000)
BEEROMEE s ME Transfer from properties for sale 1,873,610 1,317,895 = 3,191,505
HERREMEERS Transfer from investment properties
ERIREYE under construction to completed
investment properties 12,207,949 (12,207,949) = =
BREAVE - BE KA Transfer from property, plant and

(K#zE16) equipment (Note 16) 1,570,000 - - 1,570,000

REERRALTEZFE Net change in fair value recognised in

profit or loss 8,401,514 2,129,279 201,565 10,732,358
HE Disposals (57,000) (240,902) - (297,902)
RZZ—-AFE+=-A=1+—H At 31 December 2019 (Restated)

C=27) 127,066,481 30,054,000 4,094,300 161,214,781
[EH AR Exchange realignment (117,413) - - (117,413)
NE Additions 727,934 15,045,634 1,341,078 17,114,646
BERSHEE 7 YE Transfer to properties for sale (161,000) (224,945) - (385,945)
HERREMFEERSE Transfer from investment properties

ERIREYE under construction to completed

investment properties 6,414,812 (6,414,812) - -
B A AEAE (K3 18(A) Transfer from right-of-use assets

(Note 18(A)) - 586,609 - 586,609
BRaERAE (MF19) Transfer from intangible assets (Note 19) - - 136,103 136,103
RNERERATELFE Net change in fair value recognised in

profit or loss 8,080,811 829,694 (26,241) 8,884,264
BIEHE—HHBAREERE Disposed upon deemed disposal of

(Ft3E42) a subsidiary (Note 42) - (1,173,671) - (1,173,671)
Wi — R B 1 RIS Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary

(P3E 43(ii)) (Note 43(ii)) - 1,124,198 - 1,124,198
HE Disposals (4,147) - - (4,147)
R-FT-TF+-A=+—H At31 December 2020 142,007,478 39,826,707 5,545,240 187,379,425
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes:

(a) Valuation processes of the Group

217

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value. The fair
value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2020
has been determined on the basis of valuation carried out by CBRE
Limited and Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited (2019: Jones
Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, Cushman and
Wakefield LLP and Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited), all are

independent and professionally qualified valuers.

Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between
management and valuers at least once every six months, in line with

the timing of Group’s interim and annual reporting.

(b) Valuation techniques

The valuation methodologies adopted in valuations include income
approach and/or direct comparison approach for completed
properties, residual approach, direct comparison approach and/or cost
approach for properties under construction and income approach for

the right-of-use assets.

The income approach operates by taking into account the rental
income of the property derived from the existing tenancies with due
allowance for the potential reversionary income of the tenanted and
vacant portions, which are then capitalised at an appropriate

capitalisation rate.

The direct comparison approach involves the analysis of recent market
evidence of similar properties and comparing them with the premises
under valuation. Comparable properties with similar sizes, characters
and locations are analyzed, and carefully weighed against all
respective advantage and disadvantages of each property in order to

arrive at a fair comparison of value.

The residual approach takes into account the residual value of the
gross development value (“GDV") after deduction of the outstanding
construction costs and expenses as well as profit element. It involves
firstly the assessment of the aggregate GDV of the proposed
development, as if completed, as at the valuation date. Estimated
costs of the proposed development include construction costs,
marketing expense, professional fee, finance charges and associated
costs, plus an allowance for the developer’s risk and profit. The
outstanding development costs are then deducted from the GDV and
the resultant figure is the residual value of the subject property.

The cost approach is a method of using gross replacement costs to
arrive at the value of the subject property in its existing state as at the
valuation date. The cost approach requires estimates of the current
value of the land plus the estimated replacement cost of the land
improvement works. The replacement cost of the improvement works
includes the cost of the building work, site works, finance charges

and relevant associated costs.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use

of the properties is their current use.
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17. BE&EWE (4) 17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Biat - (&) Notes: (continued)
(0 HAEAFEUERBETEQATENHEBER () Information about fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs
R=B=FF
+=HA=+—H fhET R E At RER
ZAYE BEAR(ER He BERAH
Fair value as at Assessed Estimated
31 December Capitalisation prevailing developer’s
2020 rate  market rents profit margins
BRABEREXK
ARBT R AR¥ T
RMB per
RMB’000 % sqm per month %
B ¢ Completed:
LS — Offices 32,205,510 4.0t07.0 47 to 340 TEAN/A
— ZERHEAM — Retail and others 109,801,968 3.8t07.8 36 to 995 TiEAN/A
142,007,478 / / /
fE5E - Under construction:
— TE  PAELEHAM — Retail, offices and others 39,826,707 3.0t0 7.5 53 to 523 2to 25
FREEE Right-of-use assets
— WAERHEAM — Office and Others 5,545,240 5.0to0 7.5 50 to 350 TEAN/A
187,379,425 / / /
R=F-—nE
+=-—A=+—8 ‘ [ERE R EREEE
ZRHE B itk BRI
Fair value as at Assessed Estimated
31 December  Capitalisation prevailing developer’s
2019 rate market rents  profit margins
BAGERK
AREBFT AR
RMB per
RMB’000 % sgm per month %
(#&E51) (LsE75)
(Restated) (Restated)
B : Completed:
— WRE — Offices 29,284,981 44t07.0 93 to 321 AERN/A
— ZERHAM — Retail and others 97,781,500 45t07.5 25 to 927 EAN/A
127,066,481 / / /
pasp= Under construction:
— & PWAZERHEM  — Retalil, offices and others 30,054,000 451075 61 to 385 410 26
FREEE Right-of-use assets
— WAEREAM — Office and Others 4,094,300 5.4107.0 74 t0 312 i B N/A

161,214,781 / / /
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(0 HRAESKFIESEEEAEATENHBEY
(#8)

FABRBABRERFENRE

. AERMEERS  AFETE
. BhEEEES  AFERS

. A EREERFBRS
1K °

AFER

d BEE-—NAE+-_A=+—HIFEER K
SEERETETYEZRSE  SEWMERE
FERIBEIINRA LT LERL - AimEE
BELYMERBIHECMERYE  BEREE
EREREYE CEFHEER  SLWE
WAFEEEEEE(ENRAGER) 258
A R #600,371,000 70 & A K # 643,896,000
TE D RIRERE R E MR EER o

() WEWMELNDEANM BEKREE -

H  AEEABZAERENDERATFERERSES
EFtE - AFERRDRBERFEFTEHAR
BABREEETE - £R AP EAENE
BRF2E AL EEY 3B TEEMNE
ABKEH

il
AEBEFEREEA

AEBBAREEREEN LIOERRE 2
FEBEMEMRESEBEENEESL -
DIRATEE — MM FRABETRBEREL
o FAEAA0F - BFMAPBENTIF
E20%F  MEWHTEBBENT2E10F -
Hib RENHBRE A 12@ASTAT K5
BERRENEEREK - AREREE=ZT=
TE+ A=+ BIFEERHBEAE
BEEMHES KA AR 186,664,0007T (=
T NFLEY : AR 259,738,0007T) °

17.

18.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@] Information about fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (continued)

Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value:
. The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value;

o The higher the prevailing market rents, the higher the fair
value;

o The higher the estimated developer’s profit margin, the lower
the fair value.

(d) During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had changed
the use of certain properties, of which had commenced the operating
lease to outsiders during the year. Accordingly, it results in a transfer
from properties for sale and property, plant and equipment to
investment properties. On the date of reclassification, the differences
between the fair value of the properties and their carrying amount
net of income tax has been recognised in profit or loss of
RMB600,371,000 and other comprehensive income of
RMB643,896,000, respectively.

(e) The investment properties are situated in the Mainland China, Hong
Kong and the UK.

(f) All the investment properties held by the Group are measured at level
3 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy is determined
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable. During the year, there were no transfer
of fair value measurement between level 1 and level 2 and no
transfers into or out of level 3.

LEASE
THE GROUP AS LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land use
rights, buildings, machinery and other equipment used in its
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
the leased land from the owners with lease periods of 40 years.
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms generally between
3 and 20 years, while machinery generally has lease terms
between 2 and 10 years. Other equipment generally has lease
terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of low value.
The Group recognised rental income of subleasing right-of-use
assets of RMB186,664,000 for the year ended 31 December
2020 (2019 Restated: RMB259,738,000).
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18. B (#)

REBEREBA (&)

18. LEASE (continued)

THE GROUP AS LESSEE (continued)

(A) FHREEE (A) Right-of-use assets
MNAFE AEEBFEREEEZERR The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
BEREZHT - and the movements during the year are as follows:
T b fF R gF W st
Land use
rights Buildings Machinery Total
AR¥TRE AR¥TR AR¥®Tr AR¥®TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RZE—-NE—H—H At 1 January 2019 (Restated)

(& =751) 3,233,200 250,754 45,166 3,529,120
INE Additions 408,811 190,901 81,955 681,667
B - R KRB Transfer from property, plant and

(MizE16) equipment (Note 16) 621,521 = = 621,521
ETH Depreciation charge (55,260) (96,250) (6,306) (157,816)
RZE—NF+=ZA=1+—H At31 December 2019

(&= &5l (Restated) 4,208,272 345,405 120,815 4,674,492
INE Additions 539,997 951,598 11,405 1,503,000
Wi —RHB A RRES Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary

(PR 4303)) (Note 43(i)) 486,901 - - 486,901
WESH Depreciation charge (109,155) (123,017) (10,342) (242,514)
BEEREME (HFE17) Transfer to investment properties

(Note 17) (586,609) - - (586,609)
KB HHEAREZAERFES  Covid-19-related rent concessions

HENHEERE from lessors - - (18,335) (18,335)

RZZE-_FTF+-A=+—H At31 December 2020 4,539,406 1,173,986 103,543 5,816,935




18. HE (4)
AEBEREBAA ()
(®) HEAME

EHEMABRAF China Resources Land Limited 221

18. LEASE (continued)

THE GROUP AS LESSEE (continued)
(B) Lease liabilities

RAFEE HEGBZFREABEREE The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
LN during the year are as follows:
2020 2019
ARET T AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(F&&E7))
(Restated)
R—A—BHERmE Carrying amount at 1 January 3,391,497 2,864,146
HE New leases 2,209,726 713,063
R SRR Y A S 38 N Accretion of interest recognised during the year 213,032 159,728
KA HEANEFETARRS Covid-19-related rent concessions
R E SRR from lessors (16,786) =
NEN Payments (353,162) (345,440)
R+ A=+—HEAE Carrying amount at 31 December 5,444,307 3,391,497
DR Analysed into:
meNE S Current portion 187,785 288,532
SEMENER Y Non-current portion 5,256,522 3,102,965
HEBFEMR A DI ER B ®R The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note
FHIFES0 o 50 to the financial statements.

(O RESHEIARBERHZ

TR ©

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

2020 2019

AR¥TT ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

(F£E%))

(Restated)

HEAEMNER Interest on lease liabilities 213,032 159,728

FREEETE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 242,514 157,816
HEMHEREBEEERE Expense relating to short-term leases and leases

BREANREX of low-value assets 35,834 33,048

REHHEAREREEARR S Covid-19-related rent concessions
EEE SR from lessors 16,786 =
RIEEERNB SR Total amount recognised in profit or loss 508,166 350,592
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18. f1E (4) 18. LEASE (continued)
REBEAEHEA (F) THE GROUP AS LESSEE (continued)
(D) HEBREHHEE (D) Total cash outflow for leases
STARSRERNRE SR L ARENT The total cash outflow included in the statement of cash

flows is as follows:

2020 2019

ARET AREFTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

(IBE5))

(Restated)

R E RN Within operating activities (35,834) (33,048)
REBEEBA Within financing activities (353,162) (345,440)

AEBESHBAA THE GROUP AS LESSOR
RS IR - AN E B A B 5T S A AT At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
SHACETRA) - BEOA TR B B R SRR BEER with lessees for the following future undiscounted lease
MERFNT : payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due
as follows:

2020 2019

ARETR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

(EE)

(Restated)

—%FR Within one year 6,253,177 6,526,765
F_EZERF (REEEMF) In the second to fifth year, inclusive 9,374,454 10,132,384
RFENRE After five years 2,793,468 2,809,838

18,421,099 19,468,987
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19. ML K & 19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2020 2019
AR®T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
M—BA—HBZAR - Ik 251835 Costat 1 January, net of accumulated
amortisation 424,977 407,579
NE Addition 9,432 31,481
NS R Amortisation provided for the year (14,083) (14,083)
EBEME  BE MR Transfer to property, plant and equipment
(ffE16) (Note 16) (243,310) _
HER S EYE (HE17) Transfer to investment properties (Note 17) (136,103) -
Rt+t-—A=+—B2Zkx Cost at 31 December, net of accumulated
Mk RerEds amortisation 40,913 424,977
Rt+—A=1+—8: At 31 December:
D Cost 40,913 455,490
2t Accumulated amortisation - (30,513)
REVFE Net carrying amount 40,913 424,977
EREERIEAREBMNTR S REE The intangible assets represent the Group's exclusive operating
B REBEBZBREERE - BREE rights for hotel and commercial units, as well as senior housing
ERAXHARNE R EE - services located in the PRC. The exclusive operating rights are
amortised on a straight-line method over the contractual period.
20. REBREZIBRE 20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
2020 2019
AR¥ET T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
JE ETHIRE AN Cost of investments, unlisted 30,471,054 21,164,798
FEMRUEE R s F - FNBRAE B ULA Share of post-acquisition profits, net of
dividend income 5,115,294 3,879,976
35,586,348 25,044,774
RZE_EF+_A=+—H ' AEELE Particulars of the Group’s joint ventures as at 31 December

7 FFIBHMIEE48(C) ° 2020 are set out in note 48(C).
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20. REBLEZTRE () 20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(continued)
—BEARGELECHBERBE SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A

MATERIAL JOINT VENTURE

AEBSAGECE LEBAREFARAA The summarised financial information in respect of /&@B#=E
([ BBz c MEERBENSE DT - EEFR AT (" L8@25"), the Group’s material joint venture, is
set out below.
HEETENGEVBHRRERETEA This joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in
iR : the consolidated financial statements:
2020 2019
AR%T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
mEBEE Current assets 1,605,123 1,212,061
FEMEBEE Non-current assets 6,036,048 5,945,074
mEAaE Current liabilities (1,330,650) (874,955)
IERBaE Non-current liabilities (1,714,831) (1,735,293)
B ENEESEAEIATNEE . The above amounts of assets and liabilities
include the following:
ReERFSEE Cash and cash equivalents 105,906 359,586
nEcRBE(TEERMNERA R Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and
Hofh A BRIE R k) other payables and provisions) (900,000) (100,000)

RSB E(TEEEMERE  Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade
Hofh fE A AR IE K ) and other payables and provisions) (750,000) (900,000)
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20. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(continued)

SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A

(£8) MATERIAL JOINT VENTURE (continued)

2020 2019

AR®T ARBTIT

RMB’000 RMB'000

Iz Revenue 405,042 776,651
FNE A Profit for the year 100,116 1,069,652

FalFEREFBIEATEIE : The above profit for the year includes
the following:

& Rk g Depreciation and amortisation (419) (407)
A EHA Interest income 18,013 15,203
B Interest expense (47,646) (52,261)
TSR X Income tax expense (138,270) (377,090)

R E R E RN A T ISR R
REABLEY 2 EEE 2 HE

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2020 2019

ARBT T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

LEBRFEE Net assets of /& i@z 4,595,690 4,546,887
REER EEmm AR Proportion of the Group's ownership interest

- Eadedtl in B8l 50% 50%

2,297,845 2,273,444

Bk Goodwill 284,869 284,869

AEBER B @mER 2 REE Carrying amount of the Group's interest
in FE@ms 2,582,714 2,558,313

RERAECETBREAREFRRLUZE
% HAKEBMEZRR LR EXRGARKE

B HI2EEMHATE -

The material joint venture is principally engaged in similar
activities as the Group and is strategic to the Group’s activities

as property development and investment. Its principal place of

business is the PRC.
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20. RAEBERFEZEE (M)
WHBRHERAZEE LR ZERER

20.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(continued)

AGGREGATE INFORMATION OF JOINT VENTURES
THAT ARE NOT INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL

2020 2019
AR®T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
REE R FRRF The Group’s share of profit for the year 1,849,741 1,441,887
REBRZESELHEIERZ Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's
REARE interests in these joint ventures 33,003,634 22,486,461
21. RBEEAFRZRE 21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
2020 2019
AR®T R ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
JEETIRE AR Cost of investments, unlisted 14,209,878 12,779,424
FEAGUREE RS R - H0BRAR S A Share of post-acquisition profits, net of
dividend income 3,639,076 3,006,532
17,848,954 15,785,956

R_ZB-_2F+_HA=+—8"
RALZ BRI 48(D)

Particulars of the Group’s associates as at 31 December 2020
are set out in note 48(D).
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21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A

21. JABE 2 F 2 B ¥ ()
—HEABE AR ZHBEENRE

MATERIAL ASSOCIATE
RNEESEABESNANT EEENNEREWER The summarised financial information in respect of _E/&ZE)5A
BHBR AR ([ EFERLEE]) 2 M ERE fEEMERBEER AR (" L/EZER®E"), the Group’s material
ZH)FHT o associate, is set out below.

IEBEE N BIRAR B M SRR E AR AN -

consolidated financial statements.

This associate is accounted for using the equity method in the

2020 2019
AR¥T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
mENEE Current assets 9,051,504 12,153,617
FERHEE Non-current assets 2,369 188,612
nRBEE Current liabilities (2,215,729) (5,747,798)
ERBBE Non-current liabilities (2.314) =
FHBENBELESIEATSIE : The above amounts of assets and liabilities
include the following:
BERBELEE Cash and cash equivalents 182,259 167,666
nEemeE (TeEREMER R Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and
H b e BRIE R ) other payables and provisions) - -
ERFESRAE (T EEEMEZRE  Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade
HAtb fETBRIE R ) and other payables and provisions) - -
2020 2019
AR®T R AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
e Revenue 7,559,578 4,749,938
FRE Profit for the year 1,219,981 712,671
L FE AR BIEATFIA The above profit for the year includes
the following:
ITE R 5 Depreciation and amortisation - (408)
F B U A Interest income 164,727 79,193
FTi5H: 5 2 Income tax expense (423,952) (237,666)
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21. REEE AR Z8E (4#) 21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
—EBEAREENTZ2HEERME SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF A
(&) MATERIAL ASSOCIATE (continued)
LB AR BB AR S B TS R R NRER Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
AR AUNCIWR - Sl =3 the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised

in the consolidated financial statements:

2020 2019

ARBT T ARETF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

EBERNREZFEE Net assets of _E /&%=, & [& 6,835,830 6,594,431

REBMN LFERLNE A Proportion of the Group’s ownership

FEZ LE ) interest in /5L M 2 50% 50%
REER DBEFAHEER 2 Carrying amount of the Group's interest

REE in AR EPE 3,417,915 3,297,216

WHERHERZHE AR ZELER AGGREGATE INFORMATION OF ASSOCIATES THAT

ARE NOT INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL

2020 2019

ARETT ARBEFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

RE B e (L F a7 The Group's share of profit for the year 489,816 1,384,658

REBRZEH L NRZERLZ Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
AREA2E interests in these associates 14,431,039 12,488,740
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22. BELBBHMETB LA F  22. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED AT

AR 2 A T H FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2020 2019
AREET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
JELETRAKRE @ AT E Unlisted equity investments, at fair value 1,116,163 1,131,496

EA AR T AT AR HE 4 E A B R E
EEPRERAFEIE - HEAREERSZ
FREBRREEE -

The above equity instruments were irrevocably designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group
considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

23. AP FE AN Z & B E  23. FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT FAIR

& VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2020
BE i=F
Assets Liabilities
AR® T ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’'000
MEEFAR Derivative financial liability
— FIEmH — Interest rate swaps - 15,789
BAFEFABRZEMEE Financial assets at FVPL
—ERES — Wealth management funds 4,933,802 -
2019
BE afE
Assets Liabilities
ARHEEFTT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
EemEE A& Derivative financial assets/liabilities
— R X Etkia H — Cross currency swaps 84,317 _
— F&in HA — Interest rate swap - 6,417
84,317 6,417
BEAFEFABSZEMERE AfE Financial assets/liabilities at FVPL
—ERES — Wealth management funds 781,705 =
— BEERE — Preferred equity certificate = 243,941
866,022 250,358
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23.

EAFHG ARG Z & #E
B (4])

P

RBEE—+E+-A=+—HIL&FE -
AEBFVR_ZE-_ZTFAANBEHAR
N &g AEH B ZEERNERR
FEREB 2 ER - AEBTFI LR T =
FRA-TNBEHOFIREE  FBE—
TE Lb 5 B 5 SR BN SR 2 B I R AR AL & E
FIE - BHEBRAEEES ([R5 ZE%E
R FERBR - XN E B2 B Al R 5 B
RIEEE AR IR AT ET A= -

LSl - 7R 4 4 53 26,200,000 3 £5 (485 7
AR #231,123,0007T ) B & T K A B [ 4
BRELERSEBARR—HHB AR
IT—BBIE=)  ZEBAERELE
BARPTET R ZET AR REFAE AR
HEE BRI - TR EEING A B B3R -
It BEEGEE S EAEAFET ABS
Z2emAE - AEEAEERZPEERE
1% BRBEEBARENOEEFE KA
EIRAIEL GlIFE D - AEBR T =%
F+HA=—+—BURE27,086,000 % &5 (48
B4 A B #239,638,000 7T ) & & fE [0 (8
SEDE BHELEZEZREARE
1,999,000 JLIAAR & U 5k A TERR o

EMESTERTREBERTHERESR
B - BUESHANGINBERBEEN
ReRnBXFEAHASRREERSHE

BER o Bt - BMEES S B ARATEF
ABHRZEREE -

RXEERH - B E R R B R
SHRZAFEIBERFHFRITRIBILG
ERMERH

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS/LIABILITIES AT FAIR

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group entered
into cross currency swaps which mature on 8 May 2020 to
manage the exposure to fluctuation in the foreign exchange
rate and interest rates on HK$ floating rate loans. The Group
also entered into an interest rate swap which matures on 29
September 2022 to manage the exposure to the interest rate
risk on the Group’s Great Britain Pound (“GBP") floating-rate
borrowing by swapping a portion of the interest payment on
borrowing from floating rate to fixed rate. The cross currency
swaps and interest rate swap are not designated for hedge
purposes and are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

In addition, certain preferred equity certificates with a principal
amount of GBP26,200,000 (equivalent to RMB231,123,000)
with redemption features were issued to an independent third
party by a subsidiary of the Company, which contain an
embedded derivative that the instruments may provide an
additional variable return on top of its fixed return to the holder.
Accordingly, the preferred equity certificates have been
classified as financial liabilities at FVPL. The Group has the
option to redeem all the price of par value plus accrued unpaid
fixed interest plus a pro-rata portion of the variable return. The
preferred equity certificates were fully redeemed by the Group
on 21 July 2020 at the consideration of GBP27,086,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB239,638,000). The gain on
redemption of the preferred equity certificates was
RMB1,999,000, which was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Wealth management funds are mainly investments in financial
funds issued by financial institutions. The contractual terms of
the wealth management funds give rise on specified dates to
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding. Accordingly, the wealth
management funds are classified as financial assets FVPL.

The fair values of cross currency swaps, preferred equity
certificates and interest rate swap at the end of the reporting
periods are provided by counterparty banks and an independent
valuer.
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24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2020 2019
Assets Assets
ARBT T ARETTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
MESBIACEHEEIET) Derivative financial instruments
(under hedge accounting)
&S R Cash flow hedges
— R X E#i8 Hf — Cross currency swaps - 3,295
NEEE R Fair value hedges
— R X B2 5 — Cross currency swaps - 8,925
- 12,220
2020 2019
as BfE
Liabilities Liabilities
ARBT T ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000
MESHBITAEHEHIET) Derivative financial instruments
(under hedge accounting)
WemEEH Cash flow hedges
— RXXEBIFH — Cross currency swaps 52,716 =
NESEH Fair value hedges
— R X EHkis 5 — Cross currency swaps 47,546 =

100,262
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24.

154 Ak TR ()
REREH — SNERR

RZZEZZEF+-A=+—H  ~5EBHFH
48 | B 32 # H) & % 4 %8 300,000,000 3£ T 2
RN EWBE B ® - 2R ARE AEE
/300,000,000 %70 3.75% & FE Il KB AL E
BERINER R ©

EEFﬁ?ﬂfﬁﬁ?—,ﬁﬂ&Tﬁ%ﬁé%’ﬂZﬂ%ﬂ(Eﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂr

AREMETRRIR 5 KB REAER (B4
%\/%ﬁ&ﬁ,ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ,ﬁﬂ)ﬁ@@ﬂ e E N
JHE BT AZAFELERE - AR
XE#m R RE A0 2 HER M,\;TFFJ—L
RERDAER) - AR B LB AR E
BVEDRELR - BETEHM Z BRIE K;‘%
ERBRRITETRE  LBRHHPTAZRF
BEE2FEETEBRABNRENEE ZAF
BEEE -

i EANEZRRE

o BHEELYWSNTACESRERM
=8

o ERANEAF 4R BL IR 1 ¥R IE B
REHRT A

o RGHFHZEERBREEMTEY
ST ARWEhIEE 2 A EES

. WYAEEREHIAZBERLR
SSEL 2D

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
CASH FLOW HEDGE — FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cross currency swap
agreements in place with notional amounts of US$300,000,000
with no exchange of interest. The swaps are used to hedge the
foreign currency exposure of a 3.75% fixed rate senior note
with a face value of US$300,000,000.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged items
and the hedging instruments as the terms of the cross currency
swaps and swap contracts match the terms of the expected
highly probable forecast transactions and the senior note (i.e.,
notional amount and expected payment date). The Group has
established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging relationships as
the underlying risks of the cross currency swaps and swap
contracts are identical to the hedged risk components. To
measure the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses the
hypothetical derivative method and compares the changes in
the fair value of the hedging instruments against the changes in
fair value of the hedged items attributable to the hedged risks.

Hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:

o Differences in the timing of the cash flows of the
forecasted sales and purchases and the hedging
instruments

o Different interest rate curves applied to discount the
hedged items and hedging instruments

o The counterparties’ credit risks differently impacting the
fair value movements of the hedging instruments and
hedged items

o Changes to the forecasted amounts of cash flows of
hedged items and hedging instruments
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fir A 42 b T ()
AT EH — SHERR

R-ZE-TF+-_A=+—H K&EEFAH
7 B 2R % & $ 58300,000,000 % 7T 2
RXEBEBA® - 2R AR AEE
/500,000,000 70 4.13% & EFI KB L E
BRAFEZFHRE -

BRI X B 2 R BB RIEZ R
(AEESH  NRREATAH) AT - &
WHIHIEE B T A BFELERR -
AR X B B 12 B 2 4R B R e B e L e
DR MAREREREERRE 18
St o SBIFHE I 2 BRIE - ARERE
RARJROTETRZE  LBEWHTAZAFE
SEELINERBANKEHRIRER 2 A FE

£ °

i ERNEERRE

e WHMEREHWMTAZRERER
MEX

s XPHUFHZEERREEMTEY

FE B & A T A kI

EHSBEEASER ST R L E AR
EREMEBRE LT EEERYERS N
ERNFEBE - BEZETF+_A=1—
B AEBDARE L HFE AEE -
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
FAIR VALUE HEDGE — FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cross currency
swap agreements in place with a notional amount of
US$300,000,000 with no exchange of interest. The swaps are
used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a
4.13% fixed rate senior note with a face value of
US$500,000,000.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and
the hedging instrument as the terms of the cross currency
swaps match the terms of the senior note (i.e., notional amount,
payment and reset dates). The Group has established a hedge
ratio of 1:1 for the hedging relationships as the underlying risk
of the cross currency swaps is identical to that of the hedged
risk component. To test the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses
the hypothetical derivative method and compares the changes
in the fair value of the hedging instrument against the changes
in fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

The hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:

3 differences in the timing of cash flows of the hedged item
and the hedging instrument

o the counterparties’ credit risks differently impacting the
fair value movements of the hedging instrument and the
hedged item

PREPAYMENTS FOR NON-CURRENT ASSETS

The amounts represent the prepayments made by the Group for
the acquisitions of land use rights in the PRC for the
development of investment properties and properties held for
own use. The land use right certificates have not yet been
obtained by the Group as at 31 December 2020.
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26. WAL PiIE 26. DEFERRED TAXATION
MEAMBERRERZEFME @ & TELER For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
HEENBGBD TUEHE - N ARSREH of financial position, certain deferred taxation assets and
REVRIERTBAERR DT liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the

deferred taxation balances at the end of the reporting period:

2020 2019

AR¥ET T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

(ieE5)

(Restated)

REFRIEBEE Deferred taxation assets 10,306,764 8,640,760
REFIEAE Deferred taxation liabilities (24,466,801) (19,833,838)

(14,160,037) (11,193,078)

NTRAFEZEEREREEAE (8 The following are the major deferred taxation assets/(liabilities)
&) - HERET MR ARG A AR E A during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting
£R of balances within the same tax jurisdiction:
ARERS IHEER TEHEAR
REME HARZRUE HBER B ZAR2WER it by
Unrealised
gain from Undistributed
inter- profits
Investment company LAT of PRC
properties  transaction Tax losses provisions  subsidiaries Others Total

ARETR  ARETT  ARETT  AR¥TR  AR%TE  ARETT  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

MZE—NF—F—H(EE5) At 1 January 2019 (Restated) (13,935,113) 674,026 789,883 4,663,759 (777121) 188,136 (8,396,430)
EHAR Exchange realignment 6,377 12,021 (1,618) 10,103 (18,042) (10,120) (1,279)
WEHBATRES Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries

(M5E43) (Note 43) - - - - - 3803 3803
(Mn8)/HABR (Charge)/credit to profit or loss (3,404,634) (315,968) 566,946 1,385,053 (75,077) (732,702)  (2,576,382)
IRkl 6 Charge to other comprehensive income - - - = = (222,790) (222,790)
RZE-NE+-A=+—H At31 December 2019 (Restated)

(E=50) (17,333,370) 370,079 1,355,211 6,058,915 (870,240) (773,673)  (11,193,078)
B AR Exchange realignment (101,353) (17,461) 17,835 21,794 58,785 71,7% 57,396
BIEHEHBARREE Disposed upon deemed disposal of

(BtE42) subsidiaries (Note 42) 22,863 - (18,487) - - (1,903) 2,473
WE-—HRB R RRNES Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary

(B EE43(ii) (Note 43() - - 1,027 - - - 1,027
(38)/FARS (Charge)/credit to profit or loss (2,983,392) (254,769) 290,816 909,294 (242,255) (751,022)  (3,031,328)
SARMZ NS Credit to other comprehensive income - - - - - 3473 3473

W=B-FF+-F=1+—H At31 December 2020 (20,395,252) 97,849 1,646,402 6,990,003 (1,053,710)  (1,445,329)  (14,160,037)
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26. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Hiet - Notes:

(@ RKRZZEZZTF+-A=1+—80 ££EEEXD (@
FA 7% 5 18 A R #11,042,553,000 T ( = &
—hWEEEY : AR¥9,378,510,000 7T ) AT f
RERFEARERT AN HPARK
6,585,608,000 L(ZZF—NFLEY| : AR
5,420,844,000 7T) KB 5 518 B FER BIEER
BEE - ARA R EERAEHATEZEH
BAR BEAEFR M ERAR TG EE
AR ¥ 4,456,945,000 T ( Z T — NFLKLET :
AR 3,957,666,000 70 ) FERELEF B E E ©
RSB ERZAEEAE -

by RZZ=TF+=-A=+—8 ' ~EELE (b)
FEMBARMNAEHRENARE
29,275,098,0007t (—E— L FELEY : AR
#42,222,680,000 7T ) T IRIEER BEEAR
¥ 1,463,755,000 L (ZZ— NFELEY - AR
#2,111,134,0007T) * RERAEE W &5t S
BFBESIRZERT] -

At 31 December 2020, the Group had unused tax losses of
RMB11,042,553,000 (2019 Restated: RMB9,378,510,000) available
for offset against future taxable profits, of which RMB6,585,608,000
(2019 Restated: RMB5,420,844,000) tax losses have been recognised
as deferred taxation assets. No deferred taxation asset has been
recognised on the remaining tax losses of RMB4,456,945,000 (2019
Restated: RMB3,957,666,000), as in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the future profit streams of these subsidiaries are
uncertain. The tax losses could be carried forward for a maximum of
five years.

At 31 December 2020, the Group has not made provision of deferred
taxation of RMB1,463,755,000 (2019 Restated: RMB2,111,134,000)
for the unremitted earnings of the PRC subsidiaries of
RMB29,275,098,000 (2019 Restated: RMB42,222,680,000) as the
Group does not have a plan to distribute these earnings out of the
PRC.

27. PROPERTIES FOR SALE

2020 2019

ARBT T AREFTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

(geE5)

(Restated)

BERPME Properties under development 336,943,088 340,427,017
HIHE 2 Y= Properties held for sale 39,218,437 15,603,480
376,161,525 356,030,497

R HE 2 MR R HRE R+ (@
AglE BARELELZERN A
B HOIRRBEE °

N—BE-_BE+_A=+—0 BRTW%
NMAFEHE Y BN 2= n] 25 )5 E 2 B
HBAEARK3723BEBT(R=22—NF+=
A=+—8: AR¥1238H&87T) °

Properties for sale which are expected to be recovered in more
than twelve months after the end of the reporting period are
classified under current assets as it is expected to be realised in

the Group’s normal operating cycle.

As at 31 December 2020, the provision for write-down of
properties under development and properties held for sale to
net realizable value amounted to RMB3,723 million (31

December 2019: RMB1,238 million).
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28. MEW IR ~ H i BEWMRIE - ¥HAF  28. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES,

o MuT &

PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

2020 2019

ARET T AREFIT

RMB’'000 RMB’000

(#&&E7))

(Restated)

FEU AR FN N e R R (Fd5Ea) Trade and bills receivables (Note a) 2,611,627 2,559,146
B OREEE (Bt a) Less: provision for impairment (Note a) (90,061) (90,572)
2,521,566 2,468,574

FUEE T HE R 2 Prepayments for acquisition of land use rights

TR RIE (M5 Db) (Note b) 10,317,530 13,651,542
H At EUARTE (M3t ©) Other receivables (Note c) 17,494,720 16,173,884
B RE R (MR o) Less: provision for impairment (Note c) (470,817) (420,741)
17,023,903 15,753,143

A FIE N2 (FFEd) Prepayments and deposits (Note d) 19,300,845 18,705,821
49,163,844 50,579,080

e

FEMRR R & FE M SR 1%

& Y3 2 FEW PR 1S FROR IR IR B B 16 AT 381 16k
AT - HEWMENE S WA RZES LT
15 30IA —ARAR IR AR A 199k ) fER SR LR

BHEEMEZAEHE  HEYEESKRAR
BEANZMSFIRGAREE B GETUIR
BN ARE—REHE TEF THEIB30E45
AONEEH BTG TEREFEFEE
H o

Notes:

Trade and bills receivables

Proceeds receivable in respect of the sale of properties are settled in
accordance with the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase
agreements. Rental income from leases of properties and proceeds
from construction contracts are generally receivable in accordance
with the terms of the relevant agreements.

Except for the proceeds from sales of properties, rental income from
leases of properties and proceeds from construction contracts which
are receivable in accordance with the terms of the relevant
agreements, the Group generally allows a credit period of not
exceeding 30 to 45 days to its customers or does not grant its
customers with any credit period.
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28. MEW IR ~ H i REWMRIE - YA 28. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES,

xR & (8) PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (continued)
et : (&) Notes: (continued)
(@) EUERREREEE) (@)  Trade and bills receivables (continued)
AT ARERR(EMBRRERE) 2 BIKIE The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills receivables (net of
AR EWRE 2 R DT provision for impairment) at the end of the reporting period:
2020 2019
AR%T T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(g =35)
(Restated)
0-30K 0-30 days 919,751 1,137,325
31-60K 31-60 days 168,711 204,377
61-90K 61-90 days 130,503 143,860
91-180K 91-180 days 414,361 329,939
181-365K 181-365 days 428,759 393,230
Bil1F Over 1 year 459,481 259,843
2,521,566 2,468,574
R-B-_TE+_A=+—08  REERAT As at 31 December 2020, the gross carrying amount of trade
ENRBIERREAERARE2,611,627,000 receivables measured at amortised cost was RMB2,611,627,000 (2019
T(ZE—hFLES : AR¥2,559,146,000 Restated: RMB2,559,146,000), with expected credit loss rates ranging
) BEHEEBEENF0.1%%E05% (= from 0.1% t0 0.5% (2019: 0.1% to 0.5%).
T—NF:01%Z05%) °
REENR A s EAERE A EHERR - A The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
TRERRRZRERERZE) Movements in the provision for impairment for trade receivables are
as follows:
2020 2019
AR®T T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FHREA Balance at the beginning of the year 90,572 89,657
[ 5 = Exchange realignment (555) (1,605)
REEIEFRE Impairment losses, net 773 3,916
F R Written off during the year (729) (1,396)
FIR SR Balance at the end of the year 90,061 90,572

e o b Prepayments for acquisition of land use rights
(0 BN R ® Prepay A g
The amount represents the prepayments made by the Group for the
acquisition of land use rights in the PRC for property development for
sale. The land use right certificates have not yet been obtained by the
Group at the end of the reporting period.

ZEeRRRAEEETRABRKEYEM
Ui 3t FR A T S A 2 SRS 30R » RS
R - AREE ARG LR AR o
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28. MEWCHR K - b W B JH - FE AT
Ak JH S nT & (4])

et -

(@

(%)
Hfth U AR TR

ZECRETERERECYERRIBE RIER
HRERS I 2 BREZ0E - ATRBIEIER 5T
R ERIE o

Hip RURIAY B EEERY - MAKERR
ZE MR R A] S B HIRE R — F R E Sk

yom
B e

LNTAEMEREER-_T_TF+=-A
=+—HZERERS T (EHBRRERE) %5

28. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@

Other receivables

The amount mainly includes temporary payments paid for potential
property development projects and project-related deposits which
would be refundable upon completion of the development projects.

There is no fixed repayment term for other receivables and the Group
considers that they are repayable on demand and will be recovered in
one year from the date of advance.

The following is an aging analysis of other receivables (net of
provision for impairment) as at 31 December 2020 which are

FEWBRIAE AR AR B EIRE considered not impaired:
2020 2019
AR%T T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(g=351)
(Restated)
—FR Within one year 10,981,852 12,433,248
BiE—F Over one year 6,042,051 3,319,895
17,023,903 15,753,143
RZZEZZEF+-A=+—0 ' HthEKERIE As at 31 December 2020, the gross carrying amount of other
REBHEKAGEZEELBEARARYE receivables measured at amortised cost was RMB17,494,720,000
17,494,720,000C(Z T — N EKEFT : AR (2019 Restated: RMB16,173,884,000), with expected credit loss rates
#16,173,884,0007T) ' I EEEXHE ranging from 0.1% to 10% (2019: 0.1% to 10%).
N F01%E10%( =T — L F:01%%
10%) °
AN R S RIER A AR R m o AR The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
AEAMBEKRERERE 2 SBFS - Movements in the provision for impairment for other receivables are
as follows:
2020 2019
AR¥T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEEH Balance at the beginning of the year 420,741 346,589
[EE 5 ZE 2R Exchange realignment (3,986) 2,604
REEIE)F R Impairment losses, net 54,072 82,781
F A Written off during the year (10) (11,233)
FIREERR Balance at the end of the year 470,817 420,741
(d) FERFERETE (d)  Prepayments and deposits

ZEBIZEREBKEMTZRES AN
ER K E A E AR -

The amount mainly includes deposits paid for bidding projects and
prepayments of value added tax and other sales related taxes.
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B RIE R 29. CONTRACT ASSETS
2020 2019
ARET T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BHEENRS : Contract assets arising from:
BUS &4 2 A Costs to obtain contracts 634,021 351,509
R REIERK Construction and decoration services 755,864 376,781
NERED Impairment (1,658) (33)
1,388,227 728,257
RZZEZZTF+ZA=1+—H GHEER As at 31 December 2020, the contract assets are expected to be
H R B R3FALE - recovered or settled within 3 years.
30. M WA o5 4% 4 B 2 ] vl B O 30. AMOUNTS DUE FROM THE ULTIMATE

R_B_ZEFR=_FT—NF+=_A=1+—
B - UG AR CERBE AT
RIEZIERBE D AEEE R TEEN —F1%
“EF o BriaFE AR 8,522,661,000 T (=&
—NF: AR¥4,119,656,0007T ) &% B
G BRERIRIRITI S R KA o

RZEZZEFR=_F-NF+A=4—
E'E%#EH&(EZQT AR FEERA
7 ARMBA /\%ﬁ% /NI
ez HX*EETAIE/ML B AEIRENEEE
KEERTEHR —F AL - BREBEBEARE
15,406,529,000 L (= — N FELET| : A
R #13,290,648,000 7T ) AR BN - 425 1R
WITHISFIEET B -

AIRAZER AR - REZERAF - RS
DA BERE BERRMIFERERZ
ERSRUEERCHELAH R -F
FR-F-NAFT-_A=+—HB BiERE
RAER/TEK o

HOLDING COMPANY/INTERMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANIES/FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES/JOINT VENTURES/
ASSOCIATES/NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the non-current portion of
the amounts due from non-controlling interests, joint ventures
and associates is unsecured and expected to be settled after one
year. Except for the aggregate amount of RMB8,522,661,000
(2019: RMB4,119,656,000) which is interest-free, the remaining
amounts bear interest at prevailing market interest rates.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the current portion of the
amounts due from the ultimate holding company, intermediate
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates
and non-controlling interests is unsecured and repayable on
demand or expected to be settled within one year. Except for
the aggregate amount of RMB15,406,529,000 (2019 Restated:
RMB13,290,648,000) which is interest-free, the remaining
amounts bear interest at prevailing market interest rates.

There was no recent history of default and past due amounts
for loans to the ultimate holding company, intermediate holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and
non-controlling interests. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019,
the loss allowance was assessed to be insignificant.
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31.

ﬁé&ﬁﬁ'fj‘mnﬁ

ﬁé_?_YEJr B=+—8 B&RIET

T@%wﬁ THERFEFNENT020% =
426% —RE03%E3.27%) 5 &
Z%M,H%E T,T HbpiERe kRS EE
AR #87,534,176,000 L ( —E— N FEKE
50 AR #62,156,869,0007T) * LA M F R
HIER 1T 1F 7 A R #51,916,369,000 L ( — Z
—NEFKES : AR¥2,504,530,0007T) °
SZRHEBITERAEZ AR AEES THER
REBEZLHWMEFLZEREERZIETE
@ °

R_ZE_ZTF+_A=1+—H RE&KEE
CEBBRIAENYERBEMEREARE
8,494,991,0007T - FTW IR M ETEE 15
HETERBRZABYMENERIEZS - BRI
BAMBITBNRG  ReErE AR L
ZRBPIEZEARIMEBYEEE NER
B  ZSERESHEREEBYENTT
P ER ARRR o

Ba RRITEFRATERHE

31.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

As at 31 December 2020, cash and bank balances comprise
short-term bank deposits which carry interest at prevailing
deposit rates ranging from 0.20% to 4.26% (2019: 0.3% to
3.27%) per annum, which included cash and cash equivalents
of RMB87,534,176,000 (2019 Restated: RMB62,156,869,000)
and restricted bank deposits of RMB1,916,369,000 (2019
Restated: RMB2,504,530,000). The restricted bank deposits are
mainly funds designated for relocating existing residents on the
land of the Group’s certain property development projects.

As at 31 December 2020, cash and cash equivalents included
the regulated pre-sales proceeds of properties
RMB8,494,991,000. The pre-sales proceeds of properties
received as the guarantee deposits for the constructions of
related properties. In accordance with the applicable prevailing
government regulation, the deposits can only be used for
payments of construction costs of related property projects
upon the approval of the local State-Owned Land and Resource
Bureau. Such guarantee deposits will be released according to
the completion stage of the related properties.

The cash and bank balances are denominated in the following
currencies:

2020 2019
ARETT AREF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

(#2&E7)

(Restated)

i HK$ 5,905,361 701,275
AR RMB 82,950,404 62,740,838
e United States dollar (“US$") 415,474 1,008,811
HgE GBP 179,299 210,468
HAith Others 7 7
89,450,545 64,661,399

ARBHEEBRIL R BINE RAINEFHER
R MRTHAFELTE - A8 THhEBA
BB B INEFE B AR A BORAR -

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated cash and bank balances out of the PRC are subject
to relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.
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32. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2020 2019

ARET R ARETIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

(E5)

(Restated)

JESBR IR N BT 2248 (M5 a M b) Trade and bills payables (Notes a and b) 87,278,133 70,974,556
H Ath fE AR IR (B ) Other payables (Note c) 30,620,688 28,107,535
117,898,821 99,082,091

it -

@@ ATAREERRAHZHBERARENRRLE

Notes:

(a)

The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills payables at the

NEBRZRERDHT : end of the reporting period based on the invoice date:
2020 2019
AR®T T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
(ge&5))
(Restated)
0-30K 0-30 days 38,697,290 32,129,253
31-60K 31-60 days 4,944,992 3,115,562
61-90K 61-90 days 3,147,104 2,541,838
91-180K 91-180 days 9,489,712 6,915,441
181-365K 181-365 days 12,573,024 11,041,838
HBiA1F Over 1 year 18,426,011 15,230,624
87,278,133 70,974,556

b) ENERREMNREZ FOERBRARRIH

(b)  The average credit period of the trade and bills payables is determined
according to the terms stipulated in the contract, normally ranging
from 30 days to 1 year.

MIEFEE - ERANFI0OREIF -

© s owe I FEHE M EN RN - BN R TE (0) Amounts mainly include other taxes payable, temporary receipts and

BIE -

33. HHIAHE

accrued salaries.

33. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

AHBBHBIOT Details of contract liabilities are as follows:
2020 2019
AR¥T ARBTIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
(Fg=E%))
(Restated)
RIRFEUWEZ #3K : Advances received from customers:
HED = Sale of properties 228,457,239 228,524,090
B HEREREM Construction, decoration services and others 4,127,728 287,588
232,584,967 228,811,678
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34.

TR A ()
5 ?E%EE%%EEM?@WH*@
1D %A AR #19,715,000,0000( ==
— N AE#19,118,000,0007T ) ° f&
i‘@m%%%m HlEEL AR RIERIK

RZE_EFER_T-NF+_A=+—
H  BRNRRMEAR  &&0E BEQ
A SR FEIE AR AE 5 /TAIEZ//\L@JHB D AEEA R
AREREEIN —FANEER - REEAR

#12,987,704,000 C( — T — N F&KFF :

AR#E8,129,447,0007T) AR BIN - f4%581%
WITHSFIEETR -
RZE_ZEFR_F—NFF+_A=+—

B JT%?H;‘H?Hﬂ%E?KIEZ#/m@JuB DR
HH RN —FREER  BRITHEH R
FTE e

REZZEZZTEF+-A=+—0 ' BHHHEEZE
A RFIERE RIERBIE D) + AEEIF

RBREKIGERER - RXERFAR—RHFP
FERAR — EREERSHERLE

&% A ARK#9,678,831,000 T © WiRIBIT
MZHEFE - RBEARE -

H

RZE—NF+_A=+—8  EPEE
BARREZ RBHD AEEHERER—F
WEE - EEXEZBAFAN P EIZERA A
— EHEENSNERLASE ‘f%ﬁﬁa/\&
¥ 895,766,000 7 * I #Z IR 17 0 H F K 5t
B oREARE o

R_B_BER_FT-NAFT+_A=+—
B BN&KEZERABFAIREDE D HE
B BREKEENRE -

33.

34.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

The value added taxes (“VAT") relating to pre-sale of properties
for year 2020 amounting to approximately RMB19,715,000,000
(2019: RMB19,118,000,000). VAT payable is recognised when
or as the control of the properties is transferred to customers
and revenue is recognised.

AMOUNTS DUE TO THE ULTIMATE
HOLDING COMPANY/INTERMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANIES/FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES/JOINT VENTURES/
ASSOCIATES/NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the current portion of the
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates
and non-controlling interests are unsecured and repayable on
demand or within one year. Except for the aggregate amount of
RMB12,987,704,000 (2019 Restated: RMB8,129,447,000)
which is interest-free, the remaining amounts are interest
bearing at prevailing market interest rates.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the non-current portion of
the amounts due to non-controlling interests is unsecured and
expected to be settled after one year, which bear interest at
prevailing market interest rates.

As at 31 December 2020, the amounts due to intermediate
holding company, both current and non-current portion, are
unsecured and repayable according to contract terms. It mainly
represented loan principal from an intermediate holding
company — CRH during the year amounting to
RMB9,678,831,000, which bear interest at prevailing market
rates, the remaining amounts are interest free.

As at 31 December 2019, the current portion of amounts due
to intermediate holding companies, is unsecured and repayable
within one year. It mainly represented loan principal from an
intermediate holding company — CRH during the year
amounting to RMB895,766,000 which bear interest at
prevailing market rates, the remaining amounts are interest free.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the current portion of
amounts due to ultimate holding company is unsecured,
repayable on demand and interest free.
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35. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

2020 2019
AR¥T R AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
RITEE Bank borrowings 110,437,175 98,270,227
HipEE Other borrowings 17,517,221 =
127,954,396 98,270,227
BHEMA Secured 22,999,736 20,767,372
4T 4R Unsecured 104,954,660 77,502,855
127,954,396 98,270,227
RITREMEE 22 HBER The maturity of the bank and other
DT : borrowings is analysed as follows:
—FR Within 1 year 25,721,787 17,472,159
—Z—=%E Between 1 and 2 years 30,451,550 19,327,377
—ZhF Between 2 and 5 years 61,946,882 50,579,959
RFLE Over 5 years 9,834,177 10,890,732
127,954,396 98,270,227

B RE R BN — AR

ZRIA

JEMBRIEFR —FRBIH 2 TR

Less: amounts due within 1 year shown under
current liabilities

Amounts due after 1 year shown under
non-current liabilities

(25,721,787)

(17,472,159)

102,232,609

80,798,068

AEEZRITREMEEATIEEE -

following currencies:

The Group's bank and other borrowings are denominated in the

2020 2019

ARET T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

T HK$ 19,332,413 18,125,140
AREE RMB 103,674,835 77,387,411
HE GBP 2,681,409 2,757,676
I us$ 2,265,739 =
127,954,396 98,270,227
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35. AT S H A A5 (4]) 35. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)
AEBRTREMEENERGEEEY W Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
T as set out below:
BRFERIZE
Effective interest
rate per annum 2020 2019
AR%F T ARBTF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
EEMEEE Fixed-rate borrowings
v uss$ 2,265,739 =
AR RMB 37,486,991 21,752,553
EEfXEERE Total fixed-rate borrowings 4.73% (2019: 4.21%) 39,752,730 21,752,553
FEREEE Variable-rate borrowings
ks HKS 19,332,413 18,125,140
AR RMB 66,187,844 55,634,858
HeE GBP 2,681,409 2,757,676
FENEEERE Total variable-rate borrowings 3.89% (2019: 4.36%) 88,201,666 76,517,674
e Total borrowings 127,954,396 98,270,227
N-_ZE-—FTE+H+—H  AEEFEBER As at 11 October 2020, the Group issued a commercial
BTIREMERARRISF A B Y5 UE mortgage backed securities (“CMBS”) amounting to RMB2.5
CEBEBNEIN(ELI18E)  BTLEA billion by pledging certain investment properties and the right
NG VIO SE S R Tt W SE S of receiving management fees for the future 18 years from the
EERALIERAE])  AEFBSBEKBETH corresponding properties for a maximum period of 18 years.
HREE3IFELQ2 I RINENELESE - 7 The Group is eligible to redeem all the undue priority securities
K AH380% REIFET ' MEBELEX every 3 years from the date of issue. Interest rate is 3.80% and

F o is fixed each 3 years, interest is payable semiannually.
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HRAT B T At A5 B (4H)

RZZBE-_ZTF+=-_A=+—H BEL5£ES
A ARE39,261,185,000 T(Z 2 —H4E -
AR #33,956,054,0007T) Z SRITIEEM S -
LRABE R HE G EEEBEAERZ

EFEAEMEREFE AR A BITRA

TDR3I5% (ZF—NF : FPR35%)
Heh AEEZHEBARMBRITEEAR
#521,815000 (= —hF: E)ME -

LA E R E 2 6K NRRIARZSE
BERSREASEEEREEFEZN B A
BIEBITIRATRDR51% o NEB 2 R1TME
B AR #37,082,830,000t( —ZT— h & :
A #32,920,964,000 7T ) 1 AN A TR IE
R o

BRI

RZZE—MF - KQAETT700, ooo ooo%
TIREEEZEMNE6% TR T _ME
ﬂJHHZ{Ef‘aﬂF(F_? _mﬁéﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ)&

75 3,500,000,000 oIz E E ZE A E6.1%
*+ BMRZZE-NFRH2ELERE(ZZ
ZNFEBEERE]) -

MZ=F —NF - 27 E77800,000,000 3
LB ERE - H 500,000,000 7T 2 B 5%
ERRETFEMMNRLI255% T EER -
“NAFHH(=Z2E-_NAFEAZEE]D K
300,000,000 7T 2 B £ EFIZE T ZAE 7
KI3T75% B RN _MFRH( ==
“IFEELEERE]) -

BR_T-OERTN_ZT_NFEAER
S A BEFEAN B BB LT -

T ECNEEAER(BREASSES
700, ooo 000 7T } 300,000,000 T 7 =
B) DR ERFFE6.032% &%3.885%
ETE o

TENFEBAER(BEASSEABE
3,500, ooo 0007t % 500,000,000% 7T 2 =
B) DR ERFFE6.106% &% 4.286%
B
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BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

As at 31 December 2020, in respect of bank borrowings of the
Group amounting to RMB39,261,185,000 (2019:
RMB33,956,054,000), CRH is required to hold not less than 35%
(2019: not less than 35%) of the issued share capital of the
Company at any time during the period of the loans in
accordance with the terms of the respective loan agreements,
among which, in respect of bank borrowings of a Group'’s
subsidiary amounting to RMB521,815,000 (2019: nil), the
Company is required to hold, directly or indirectly, not less than
51% of the issued share capital of the subsidiary at any time
during the period of the loans in accordance with the terms of
the respective loan agreements. Bank borrowings of the Group
amounting to RMB37,082,830,000 (2019: RMB32,920,964,000)
are guaranteed by the Company.

SENIOR NOTES

In 2014, the Company issued US$700 million senior notes
which carry interest at a fixed coupon rate of 6% and are due in
2024 (the “2024 Senior Notes”), and HK$3,500 million senior
notes which carry interest at a fixed coupon rate of 6.1% and
are due in 2029 (the “2029 Senior Notes”).

In 2019, the Company issued US$800 million senior notes, of
which US$500 million senior notes carry interest at a fixed
coupon rate of 4.125% and are due in 2029 (the “2029 Senior
Notes”), and US$300 million senior notes carry interest at a
fixed coupon rate of 3.75% and are due in 2024 (the “2024
Senior Notes").

Except for the 2029 Senior Notes issued in 2014, other senior
notes are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The 2024 Senior Notes include notes with principal amounts of
US$700 million and US$300 million, carrying interest at effective
interest rates of 6.032% and 3.885% per annum, respectively.

The 2029 Senior Notes include notes with principal amounts of
HK$3,500 million and US$500 million, carrying interest at
effective interest rates of 6.106% and 4.286% per annum,
respectively.
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36.

e R (4)
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36.

SENIOR NOTES (continued)

All senior notes are unsecured.

BEEBRNERBERSITWOT The maturity of the senior notes is analysed as follows:

2020 2019
ARET ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
—FA Within 1 year - =
—EMF Between 1 and 2 years - -
MERF Between 2 and 5 years 6,629,592 7,081,768
RFEE Over 5 years 6,248,545 6,662,203
12,878,137 13,743,971

W OREBNBER—FRNEIE 2 ZIE Less:  amounts due within 1 year shown under
current liabilities - -

FERBEEMR—FREEZIE  Amounts due after 1 year shown under

non-current liabilities 12,878,137 13,743,971

37.

m_7_7¢+ A=+—RH BiEE%2

NFELH A AR 14,306,000,000 T (=F
—NF : AR¥15,028,000,0007T) * Jh#%
—EEFA-A=t—HZKRMEEE
M & ¥ 3,500,000,000 7T Z B L ZHE A A F
BERE-—RBLREESERGHERMETH
HEETE -

SRS

RZE—AREFE ARABITARE
3,000,000,000 7t ¥ & & 2 M 7 % 3.60% &
BER-ZZE-_—FEHHzAHER([=F
——FREERE ) -

R —tF ARABETARE
1,200,000,000 7t #% [& & 1 F E 4.70% &1
EERZZE_—FRHzPHER( =
ZZFRHERE]) -

37.

The fair value of the senior notes as at 31 December 2020 was
approximately RMB14,306 million, (2019: RMB15,028 million),
which was determined based on the closing market price as at
31 December 2020, except for the HK$3,500 million senior
notes whose fair value was determined based on valuation
carried out by an independent and professionally qualified
valuer.

MEDIUM-TERM NOTES

In 2016, the Company issued RMB3,000 million medium-term
notes which carry interest at a fixed coupon rate of 3.60% and
are due in 2021 (the “2021 Medium-term Notes").

In 2017, the Company issued RMB1,200 million medium-term
notes which carry interest at a fixed coupon rate of 4.70% and
are due in 2022 (the “2022 Medium-term Notes”).
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37. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES (continued)

In 2018, the Company issued RMB6,500 million medium-term
notes, of which RMB6,000 million carry interest at a fixed
coupon rate of 5.38%; and RMB500 million carry interest at a
fixed coupon rate of 4.98%, and are due in 2021 (the “2021
Medium-term Notes”); RMB3,500 million medium-term notes
which carry interest at a fixed coupon rate of 5.23% and are
due in 2023 (the “2023 Medium-term Notes”).

In 2019, FEHEMIEIKBRAR], a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, issued four RMB1,000 million medium-term
notes, of which carry interest at fixed coupon rate of 3.65%,
3.63%, 3.53% and 3.45%, respectively and are due in 2022
(the “2022 Medium-term Notes”).

In 2020, FHEEHIZRER AT issued RMB5,500 million
medium-term notes, of which RMB800 million carry interest at
a fixed coupon rate of 2.65%, RMB1,500 million carry interest
at a fixed rate of 2.42%, RMB1,500 million carry interest at a
fixed rate of 3.20%, and are due in 2023 (the “2023 Medium-
term Notes”); RMB1,200 million carry interest at a fixed coupon
rate of 3.20%, RMB500 million carry interest at a fixed coupon
rate of 2.95%, and are due in 2025 (the “2025 Medium-term
Notes").

All notes are issued in the National Association of Financial
Market Institutional Investors.

The 2021 Medium-term Notes include notes with principal
amounts of RMB3,000 million, RMB6,000 million and RMB500
million, carrying interest at effective interest rates of 3.70%,
5.49% and 5.09% per annum, respectively.

The 2022 Medium-term Notes include notes with principal
amounts of RMB1,200 million, four RMB1,000 million, carrying
interest at effective interest rates of 4.77%, 3.76%, 3.74%,
3.64% and 3.56% per annum, respectively.
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37. MEDIUM-TERM NOTES (continued)

annum, respectively.

The 2023 Medium-term Notes include note with principal
amounts of RMB3,500 million, RMB800 million, two RMB 1,500
million, carrying interest at effective interest rates of 5.30%,
2.76%, 2.53% and 3.22% per annum, respectively.

The 2025 Medium-term Notes include note with principal
amounts of RMB1,200 million and RMB500 million, carrying
interest at effective interest rates of 3.27% and 3.02% per

The maturity of the medium-term notes is analysed as follows:

2020 2019
ARET T ARBTF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
—F R Within 1 year 9,821,573 3,872,649
—EMF Between 1 and 2 years 5,216,206 9,821,574
W R F Between 2 and 5 years 9,114,663 8,836,176
24,152,442 22,530,399

W RBAGERMR—F AT Less: amounts due within 1 year shown under
2RI current liabilities (9,821,573) (3,872,649)

SERBBEMR—FREEZZIE  Amounts due after 1 year shown under

non-current liabilities 14,330,869 18,657,750

NR-BE-_ZFE+-_A=1+—HFHEEHNQ
FE Y A AR E23,780,000,000L( — =
—F: AR#22,398,000,0007T) © JiiR

BE-E—FF+-A=+—HHKHESTE - price as at 31 December 2020.

The fair value of the medium-term notes as at 31 December
2020 was approximately RMB23,780 million (2019: RMB22,398
million), which was determined based on the closing market
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38. A 38. SHARE CAPITAL
BRHEE ot} &
Number of
shares Amount Amount
ST I AREFIT
HK$'000 RMB’000
EREESEE0.10 T2 E@®AE  Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
EIE - Authorised:
R-ZZE—NF—H—H" At 1 January 2019,
—E-NEFERTEFF 31 December 2019 and 2020
+=-—A=+—H 8,000,000,000 800,000
ERITREBRE : Issued and fully paid:
RZZE—NF—A—H At 1 January 2019 6,930,939,579 693,094 655,829
RO BLE (MisE) Placement of shares (Note) 200,000,000 20,000 18,000
MN-IE—NER_ZE-_TF At 31 December 2019 and 2020
+=—A=+—H 7,130,939,579 713,094 673,829
HaE - Note:

39.

R-ZFE—NF+H=—+=H  CRH(Land) Limited (&
EHERZ 2N BERA) RALNBIHEIEEREZT L
& - BiERRE S B ERERERRG
33,65 T BB - & T B A B A B E CRH
(Land) Limited B # A #7 200,000,000 IR E B R 17 ° 1B
HAE - B8 RAE R CRH (Land) Limited % 37
FEE (HHEREEE) 52 5% 200,000,000 B2 7R (7 (16
ESREEERDEE) - BEBATEHEFE(BEHGEE
BRARETEH) 15 EE B KRS+ 1 -
FIERL AR — AR B RS o

KEEAR T H

R-ZT—)\F ARFN—HE2EHE QT
EHEMREAR AR ([BITA T8
K& &5 A ARES5,000,000,0007T 2 KE
BEARITH-

R-ZB—NE  ARRI([BEITA])BEIT—E
A4 £ %5 1,050,000,000 35 7T 2 K 4 ok &
EARTH-

39.

On 22 October 2019, CRH (Land) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH,
and the Company entered into the placing, underwriting and subscription
agreement with the placing agents, pursuant to which the placing agents
placed 200,000,000 existing shares at a price of HK$33.65 per share owned
by CRH (Land) Limited to certain independent placees. Pursuant to the
placing, underwriting and subscription agreement, CRH (Land) Limited
subscribed for 200,000,000 new shares, equivalent to the number of the
placing shares, at the subscription price which is equivalent to the placing
price. The net proceeds from the subscription, net of professional fees and
out-of-pocket expenses, will be used for future acquisition of land bank,
development costs and as general working capital purpose of the Group.

PERPETUAL CAPITAL INSTRUMENTS

In 2018, EHE WL EBGR AR (the “Issuers”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, issued a perpetual capital
instrument with a principal amount of RMB5,000,000,000.

In 2019, the Company (the “Issuers”) issued a subordinated
perpetual capital instrument with a principal amount of
US$1,050,000,000.
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39.

40.

PERPETUAL CAPITAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

In 2019, EHEMZEREFMR AT (the “Issuers”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, issued a perpetual capital
instrument with a principal amount of RMB5,000,000,000.

The Issuers may elect to defer interest payment, which is not
subject to any limit as to the number of times of interest
payment can be deferred. The instruments may be redeemed at
the option of the Issuers.

As the instruments only impose contractual obligations on the
Issuers to repay principal or to pay any distribution under certain
circumstances, which are at the Issuers’ discretion, they have in
substance offered the Issuers an unconditional right to avoid
delivering cash or other financial assets to settle contractual
obligation. Therefore, the net proceeds from issuance of the
instruments are classified as an equity instrument presented in
the equity of the Group. The payment of the respective nominal
interests according to the terms are treated as distribution to
the owners of the perpetual capital instruments.

On 16 April 2020 and 28 June 2020, EHBEHIZEHR A 7
and FEHE T ER A F) redeemed their perpetual capital
instruments with a principal amount of RMB5,000,000,000
respectively.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Guarantees amounting to RMB62,984,860,000 (2019:
RMB43,729,659,000) are given to banks with respect to
mortgaged loans procured by the purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Such guarantees will be released by banks upon the
issuance of the real estate ownership certificate to the
purchasers or the satisfaction of the mortgaged loans by the
purchasers, whichever is earlier. In the opinion of directors of
the Company, the fair value of the financial guarantee contracts
is not significant.
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41. ‘BHEIGEI B4 41. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES
2020 2019
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(r&=5))
(Restated)
B 5 A A Profit before taxation 60,172,049 61,144,975
EE Adjustments for:
B H Finance costs 1,284,073 1,389,547
FEH (Yzs) EiR %5 Exchange (gain)/loss, net (1,367,869) 118,131

WEHEHEE 2 WEE Write-down of properties for sale to net
A B IH R (E realisable value 2,675,041 851,328

WEME 2 N HEE Gain on changes in fair value of investment

Wz properties (8,884,264) (10,732,358)
BT BANREERE Loss on remeasurement of the previously

Fiis a2 B8 held interest in joint ventures 12,309 -
BT EEAREE AR Gain on remeasurement of the previously

P58 a2 W held interest in associates - (320,193)
WAV EGAEZRZEFI A  Netgain on changes in fair value of financial

N EE W FRE instruments at fair value through profit or loss (59,888) (29,961)
WREREWB ARz Wz Gain on deemed disposal of subsidiaries (16,483) =
HERBEEMEE S (Gainyloss arising on disposal of investment

(Uezs) 518 properties (313) 141,753
A2 A Interest income (2,170,181) (2,168,870)
EIEREERFERE 2 FE Share of profit of investments in joint ventures (1,899,799) (1,976,713)

JEAL B2 N B E 2 FE Share of profit of investments in associates (1,099,806) (1,740,993)

KEHHEARNETR ERBS Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors

MERRE SRR (16,786) —
M - WERBEITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 669,859 615,487
EREEECITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 242,514 157,816
Hith Others 43,640 165,721

49,584,096 47,615,670
LEESED Changes in working capital:
HEEsE > MR Increase in properties for sale (21,314,140) (38,446,678)
EmFsERd Decrease in other inventories 159,032 6,557
FEURBRZN  E b pEURBRIE - Increase in trade receivables, other receivables,

SN R prepayments and deposits (2,739,638) (5,958,868)
S UEEREMN Increase in contract assets (659,970) (167,250)
BHE BN Increase in contract liabilities 3,773,289 35,359,166
&~ BR I K2 ELfth FE S BRTE I i1 Increase in trade and other payables 13,830,059 14,430,914
= HA &~ FROIEE A0 Increase in long-term payables 111,379 -

EEEHMERS Cash generated from operating activities 42,744,107 52,839,511
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42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 December 2020

()

Disposal of Shanghai Huayan Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Huayan”)

Shanghai Huayan was established on 26 July 2016, which
was 50% held by China Resources Land (Shanghai) Co.,
Ltd. (“CRL Shanghai”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, and another 50% held by Shenzhen OCT Real
Estate Co., Ltd. (“OCT"), an independent third party to
the Group. Pursuant to the Articles of Association of
Shanghai Huayan, the decision for operating, investing
and financing activities (the “relevant activities”) was
made by simple majority of voting rights. Since CRL
Shanghai had 51% voting rights on the relevant activities
on Shanghai Huayan, Shanghai Huayan became a
subsidiary of the Group.

On 4 December 2019, Shanghai Suzuan Investment Co.,
Ltd. (" Shanghai Suzuan”), an independent third party to
the Group, and OCT entered into an equity transfer
agreement, pursuant to which Shanghai Suzuan acquired
50% equity interest in Shanghai Huayan from OCT. After
the completion of the transaction on 31 March 2020,
Shanghai Suzuan acquired 50% equity interest in
Shanghai Huayan and Shanghai Huayan revised its Articles
of Association that all of the strategic financial and
operating decisions must be approved by all the
shareholders.

The transaction was accounted for as deemed disposal of
a subsidiary resulting in loss of control for the Group.
After the completion of the disposal as at 31 March 2020,
Shanghai Huayan became a joint venture of the Group.
The fair value of the 50% retained interest in Shanghai
Huayan at the date on which control was lost was
regarded as the cost in initial recognition of the Group’s
investment in a joint venture.
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42. HiH P E 2 Bl (4) 42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BE—_E-_ZFEF+-_A=1+—HIEE(HE) For the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

() HEF&GZEZEEIERZEERAF(_F (i) Disposal of Shanghai Huayan Real Estate Development
JEEEGE |) (1) Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Huayan”) (continued)
RAEEBEEEFIES B IR IEFER Assets and liabilities derecognised at the date in loss of
MEERBENT : control of Shanghai Huayan are as follows:

REEBH
TR
ot
Amounts
de-recognised
at the date
of disposal
ARBTT
RMB’000
BEHEAHNEEFE - Net identifiable assets disposed of:
Y - BB MR Property, plant and equipment 52
RIEFRIBE B Deferred taxation assets 11,172
"EYEME17) Investment property (Note 17) 1,173,671
HEHE 2 Properties for sale 4,236,460
HE MBITET Cash and bank balances 3,019
FE 1~ 7038 K H fth fE UG BRTE Prepayments and other receivables 58,592
FEAT BRI B Ath A BR TR Trade and other payables (356,751)
EEFIEAE Deferred taxation liabilities (22,863)
RITEE Bank borrowings (501,676)
4,601,676
IR R L I R B = Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
HEZ I identifiable net assets (2,300,838)
2,300,838
NEBFTE50% REARIE 2 AF{E  Fair value of 50% retained equity interest held by the Group
— DBEARN—BEELEZRE — classified as investment in a joint venture 2,463,371
RAEL & —FM B AR 2 s Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary 162,533
BIEHEEEZ RS RLFE - Net cash outflow arising on deemed disposal:

EHEZRESRIBITET Cash and bank balances disposed of (3,019)
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42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

(ii)

Disposal of Shanghai Fuying Binjiang Development and
Construction Investment Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Fuying”) and
Shanghai Fupu Binjiang Development and Construction
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Fupu”)

As at 31 December 2019, 51% equity interests of
Shanghai Fuying and Shanghai Fupu were held by China
Resources Land (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (“CRL Shanghai”) and
controlled by the Group, the remaining 49% was held by
Shanghai Real Estate (Group) Co., Ltd. On 24 November
2020, Shanghai Fuying and Shanghai Fupu revised their
Articles of Association that all of the strategic financial
and operating decisions must be approved by all the
shareholders.

As a result, the Group lost control over Shanghai Fuying
and Shanghai Fupu and it was accounted for as deemed
disposal of subsidiaries resulting in loss of control for the
Group. Shanghai Fuying and Shanghai Fupu became joint
ventures of the Group. The fair value of the Group's
equity interests in Shanghai Fuying and Shanghai Fupu at
the date on which control were lost were regarded as the
cost in initial recognition of the Group’s investments in
joint ventures.
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42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

(i) HELESEHEIFHZERIREGR (i) Disposal of Shanghai Fuying Binjiang Development and

RE([ EAER]) R L& ERELR
RERREBRAF([ LG (&)

RAREH EBEHR R L8 EHNES
BEARLIERAZEERAGNT

Construction Investment Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Fuying”) and
Shanghai Fupu Binjiang Development and Construction

Investment Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Fupu”) (continued)

follows:

Assets and liabilities derecognised at the date in loss of
control of Shanghai Fuying and Shanghai Fupu are as

RHEERBALE
RN EEE
Amounts

de-recognised

at the date
of disposal
ARBT T
RMB'000
BEHERHBIEEFE Net identifiable assets disposed of:
Y - BB MR Property, plant and equipment 128
BEERIAE E Deferred taxation assets 7,181
HIHERNME Properties for sale 8,546,794
Hoh e W BR TR R TR RUIR Other receivables and prepayments 104.816
ReRRITTET Cash and bank balances 23,020
RITIEE Bank borrowings (2,594,022)
JE A~ BR SR B A FE A< R IR Trade and other payables (2,263,647)
3,824,270
IR R L I R B = Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
HEZ I identifiable net assets (1,717,233)
2,107,037
NEBFT51% REAKE 2 AF(E  Fair value of 51% retained equity interest held by the Group
— D EANREELEIRE — classified as investments in joint ventures 1,965,448
RIEHEWB AR 2 BE Loss on deemed disposal of subsidiaries (141,589)
BRIEHEEEZ RS RLFE Net cash outflow arising on deemed disposal:
EHEZRESRIBITET Cash and bank balances disposed of (23,020)
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42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

(iif)

Disposal of Shanghai Zhuozhi Real Estate Development
Co., LTD. (“Shanghai Zhuozhi”)

As at 31 December 2019, 50% equity interest of Shanghai
Zhuozhi was held by Shanghai Hongzhe Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Hongzhe"”) and
controlled by the Group, the remaining 50% was held by
Shanghai Yingpu Trading Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Yingpu”).
On 15 December 2020, Shanghai Zhuozhi revised its
Articles of Association that all of the strategic financial
and operating decisions must be approved by all the
shareholders.

As a result, the Group lost control over Shanghai Zhuozhi
and it was accounted for as deemed disposal of a
subsidiary resulting in loss of control for the Group.
Shanghai Zhuozhi became a joint venture of the Group.
The fair value of the Group’s equity interest in Shanghai
Zhuozhi at the date on which the control was lost was
regarded as the cost in initial recognition of the Group’s
investment in a joint venture.
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42. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BE—_E-_ZFEF+-_A=1+—HIEE(HE) For the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

(i) HEEFSSEEMERZEERAGG([_E (iii)  Disposal of Shanghai Zhuozhi Real Estate Development
BEE|)(E) Co., LTD. ( “Shanghai Zhuozhi”) (continued)
REEH FBE BN HIRES BRI Assets and liabilities derecognised at the date in loss of

RZBERBEBHET control of Shanghai Zhuozhi are as follows:
REEBEKLE
BRNLE
Amounts
de-recognised
at the date
of disposal
ARBTFT
RMB’000
EHERHNEEFE : Net identifiable assets disposed of:
M - WE k& Property, plant and equipment 10
IEEFRIBE A& Deferred taxation assets 2,037
HIHENE Properties for sale 3,150,093
H fth FEUBRTE R TR 50 IB Other receivables and prepayments 43,851
Re MIRITEHET Cash and bank balances 2,066
RITEE Bank borrowings (217,023)
JE A< BR SR e B A B A AR IR Trade and other payables (1,581,034)
1,400,000
PR TS FE(R Al sk BB Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
FEZ I identifiable net assets (700,000)
700,000
RNEEFTHE50% REIHEZ AFE  Fair value of 50% retained equity interest held by the Group
— AN —HAEELEZEE — classified as investment in a joint venture 695,539
RAIELE—RME A7 2 EE Loss on deemed disposal of a subsidiary (4,461)

BIEHEELZREMIEIFE
BEHEZRE RRITER

Net cash outflow arising on deemed disposal:
Cash and bank balance disposed of (2,066)
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43. Wi K I 2 W)
ERWENBLARENEERARE

BE-_ZT-_FF+-A=+-HLFE

(i)

WHERRBTAERBRARRER
BRF([BARETAL)

RZZF_ZF+A EFHBHIERE
AR ([EHIER]  AEEZ2EW
BAR) BHEASREROABRAT
(FEASRR]  AEEZBYE=
F) RN e B BEHIERFEIE A
FE ASREWER REIITA19.6%
RO - 2BRE A AR 231,200,000
Lo BRFEER T -_TF+—A
e WEEEBEEEEK B BT
E’\F'ﬁ,?wﬂny*rzm S JCRTAY 51 % 1%

2/ 2706% ° At 0 BT
%ﬁ FIERETA  MELERE
nﬁEEEZK%IZA%ﬁ%LQ%W
BATR] e

43. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 December 2020

0

Acquisition of Nanjing Weiyuanzhou Industrial Co., Ltd.
and its subsidiaries (“Nanjing Weiyuanzhou”)

On October 2020, China Resources Land Holdings Limited
("CRLH"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
entered into the agreements with New China Life
Insurance Co., Ltd. (“NCLI"), an independent third party
of the Group, pursuant to which, CRLH agreed to acquire
19.6% equity interest in Nanjing Weiyuanzhou from NCLI,
for a total consideration of RMB231,200,000. The capital
contribution was paid on November 2020. The acquisition
was completed and CRLH’s interest in Nanjing
Weiyuanzhou increased from the previous 51% to the
current 70.6%. As a result, CRLH is able to control
Nanjing Weiyuanzhou, which has been changed from
joint ventures to subsidiaries of the Group since then.
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43. W Bt a2 | (7)) 43. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
FRWBHREBEAGENEERLRERE ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(#8) THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
BE-s-sf8+-A=+—HILEE(#) For the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)
() WEBRETABEZER L FKAR (i) Acquisition of Nanjing Weiyuanzhou Industrial Co., Ltd.
BRa ([BARETA)(E) and its subsidiaries (“Nanjing Weiyuanzhou”) (continued)
RS B &
BRNESHE
Amounts
recognised at
the date of
acquisition
ARBTT
RMB’000
BRI R EEFE - Net identifiable assets acquired:
M - WE k& Property, plant and equipment 902,762
FERELE Right-of-use assets 486,901
JFE Ui B 0 Kz L th FE Uk BRI Trade and other receivables 93,014
He MIRITER Cash and bank balances 3,605
JE A BR FX N B Ah FE A BRIE Trade and other payables (428,692)
|ITEE Bank borrowings (12,553)
1,045,037
eI R Non-controlling interests (307,241)
737,796
EEERE  EFTIAAXN Consideration transferred, satisfied by:
—EEFEMNZEREE Capital contribution paid in 2020 231,200
RWERABENAE2RARE Fair value of previously held equity interest re-measured
&t 2 A FE at the date of acquisition 518,905
EFFT RN EEEMFE Loss on re-measurement of the previously held interest
s 2 BB (HE8) in joint ventures (Note 8) (12,309)

737,796
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43. Wl b &g 2> W) (48)
ZRBBEHNBARENEERAERE

(%)

BE-_Z_ZEFT-A=+T-HLEEE#E

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

43. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

() WEERETAEELSR G REH () Acquisition of Nanjing Weiyuanzhou Industrial Co., Ltd.

BRA([ARETA]) () and its subsidiaries (“Nanjing Weiyuanzhou”) (continued)
ARBFT
RMB'000

HBEHRBARZRERASE Analysis of net cash inflow of cash and cash equivalent

EFRAD in respect of the acquisition of the subsidiary:

ENBEERE Cash consideration paid (231,200)
CESRE RRTER Cash and bank balances acquired 3,605
(227,595)

(i)

EERA EXNFUBREENRF
BERRMOETR LA HRIEE -
AEEBEBERETAARRS R
WEEE - Bt %FX5FHEK
ARBEFEREBWENEARE
BEENEE MIEBHBHREE
AIFE3FER]) [FHEH ] REEDN
EBE6H -

WEEMNZFEEXZERBR AR ([E
B )

RZZF_FFNA  FIITmEEER
BRAR(DRINELR ] AEBZ2E
MEAR) HERE AKERER AR
(TERAK]) RFEEZECRY) BB
PRl (MEAEBZBYLE=H)RE
BERBEEZEDHZ Bt ~&EE
LA#a (B ARE 1,501,778,000 T4 B
BN EE60% iE MR AalE -

(i)

In the opinion of the directors, given substantially all of
the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated
in the above identifiable assets, the acquisition of Nanjing
Weiyuanzhou has been accounted for by the Group as
acquisition of assets. Therefore, the transactions were
determined by the directors of the Company to be the
acquisition of assets and liabilities through acquisition of
subsidiaries rather than a business combination as defined
in HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations.

Acquisition of Guangzhou Zhentong Industrial
Development Co., LTD. ("GZI")

In September 2020, Shenzhen Runtou Consulting Co., LTD.
(“Shenzhen Runtou”) , a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, signed the equity and liability transfer agreement
with Guangdong Provincial Highway Construction Co., Ltd.
("Guangdong Highway”) and Shenwan (Shenzhen)
Infrastructure Co., Ltd., independent third parties of the
Group, pursuant to which the Group acquired a 60%
equity interest and related liability in GZI for a total
consideration of RMB1,501,778,000.
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43. W Vi Bt 5 2> w) (%) 43. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
ERWEHEBEARENREENNARG ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(%) THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
BE—_E-ZEE+-_HA=1+—HILEEE (&) For the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)
(i) WEENZEBEXZEREGRAG(E (i) Acquisition of Guangzhou Zhentong Industrial
M ) (&) Development Co., LTD. (“GZI") (continued)
RS B HA
BRNERE
Amounts
recognised at
the date of
acquisition
ARBT T
RMB’'000
BRI R EEFE - Net identifiable assets acquired:
M - WE k& Property, plant and equipment 53
IRIEFIBE B Deferred taxation asset 1,027
HEsE 2 Properties for sale 6,091,831
P Ui B R e LA B LK AR TR Trade and other receivables 121,489
Be MBITERE Cash and bank balances 34,144
FEAS BR R % B Ath A AR TR Trade and other payables (4,744,050)
1,504,494
FEfE R R A Non-controlling interests (2,716)
1,501,778
DEEAE  ETNNTAXAMN Consideration transferred, satisfied by:
2R EeRE Cash consideration paid (1,501,778)
A WEEE EFRE Less: Net assets acquired 1,501,778
WENB AR 2R RIREEE Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect
FEMADHT of acquisition of the subsidiary:
BEfRERE Cash consideration paid (1,501,778)
CDIESHS RBRITEF Cash and bank balances acquired 34,144
(1,467,634)
BEERE ERTRBREENLT In the opinion of the directors, given substantially all of
BRI ERP il % RIEE - the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated
AREBFBIWEENZRARAS—1EK in the above identifiable assets, the acquisition of GZI has
BEE - At ZXSHFHEEARD been accounted for by the Group as acquisition of assets.
AESERERANE —FWEBARE Therefore, the transactions were determined by the
BEENABE MIEETATEREE directors of the Company to be the acquisition of assets
AIE 35 (185]) [EBEA A NEEMN and liabilities through acquisition of a subsidiary rather
XBa6Ht- than a business combination as defined in HKFRS 3

(Revised) Business Combinations.
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43. W Vi B B 2> W] (%) 43. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
FZRWBHREBEARENEERE R ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(%) THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
BE-sS-sf8+-A=+—HILEE(#) For the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)
(i) WEAREZLZZEFEEGRELA (i) Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Hongyihengli Trading Co.,
A([ARE LEIEF]) LTD. (“IMH")
R_ZE_FF+AH A az2EK B In October 2020, Shenyang Runzhi Business Managing
NEBGEHECEEERAR AR ([E Co., LTD. (“Shenyang Runzhi”) , a wholly-owned
[FHEE D) EASEBEZHMITEER subsidiary of the Company, signed the equity transfer
ERERAR([ANEZHHBRZHET] » K agreement with Inner Mongolia Ordos Investment Holding
EENBYE=)FI N IREEED Co., LTD. (“IMQ"), an independent third party of the
B ARFRBATRHAEE Group, pursuant to which the Company acquired 80%
M8o%m E BREAEARK equity interest in IMH for a total consideration of
652,683,000 7T ° RMB652,683,000.
A UES B 5
ERNEEE
Amounts
recognised at
the date of
acquisition
AREFT
RMB’'000
BB R EEFE ¢ Net identifiable assets acquired:
HesE 2 Properties for sale 684,128
HEYE Investment property 1,124,198
HEEURERTE - BN FUE RG] ® Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 90
e MIRTTHET Cash and bank balances 216
FEASBR TR K E b FE (S BR IR Trade and other payables (992,778)
815,854
VAR e e Non-controlling interests (163,171)
652,683
BEEAE  ZBTAARIM Consideration transferred, satisfied by:
BENEERE Cash consideration paid (587,415)
ERHR(E Consideration payable (65,268)
W WA ETE Less: Net assets acquired 652,683
HUEEH B AR ZRE & Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect
ReEFBEFMEDN : of acquisition of the subsidiary:
BNEERE Cash consideration paid (587,415)
EESRE RIRTET Cash and bank balances acquired 216

(587,199)




43. Wl b &g 2> W) (48)
ZRBBEHNBARENEERAEE

(%)

BE-Z-_ZEFT-A=+-HLEEE@)

(i)

WEARE LEENBEEREER
AI[AR G EEIER]) (&)

EERA BERXfTEBREENRT
BERRMBO KRR LAl BRI EE -
AEBBKRBARETZEENARR
—HKRBEE - At ZRXHFHEE
BARRESEREBRENE QT
EREERAE MIFREVHRE
BHIEIR(ER]) [RBEAH ] AER
MR B -

BE_FE-NF+-A=+t—-HLFE

(iv)

WhE FEERETHEZRIREFR
RE([ LEEw )R L8 ERET R
BERREBRA A LEEF])

R-ZE—NFALA-+ B EHE
#(E8)ERAR([EBE LEE]
ARalz2EBHMBAR)E =R
FEEBEE EEE(EE) AR AT
([EEE] NREEZBIE=7)
RNt Bt EEEM EERE
SRR EEER  EEEBIEAR
¥ 358,000,000t & A R &
698,000,0007T c EA T EE R =ZF
—NE+A-+HEAIH - R =-F
—NWFZAZ+N\B " WEZEHEES
TEREEBEEM ESR ESER - £
BB A TRIAI30% B NEIR
BF251% ° Bt - =B E M FIFEES
TH ESERR EEEE mMAL L
BEREESERERASE B
NEEEEWNE AT -
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43. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

(iif)

Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Hongyihengli Trading Co.,
LTD. (“IMH") (continued)

In the opinion of the directors, given substantially all of
the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated
in the above identifiable asset, the acquisition of IMH has
been accounted for by the Group as acquisition of assets.
Therefore, the transaction was determined by the directors
of the Company to be the acquisition of assets and
liabilities through acquisition of a subsidiary rather than a
business combination as defined in HKFRS 3 (Revised)
Business Combinations.

For the year ended 31 December 2019

(iv)

Acquisition of Shanghai Fuying Binjiang Development and
Construction Investment Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Fuying”) and
Shanghai Fupu Binjiang Development and Construction
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Fupu”)

On 26 September 2018, China Resources Land (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd. (“CRL Shanghai”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into the agreements with Shanghai
Fuying, Shanghai Fupu, and Shanghai Real Estate (Group)
Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Real Estate”), an independent third
party of the Group, pursuant to which, CRL Shanghai
agreed to make a capital contribution of RMB358 million
and RMB698 million to Shanghai Fuying and Shanghai
Fupu, respectively. The capital contribution was paid on
25 October 2018. On 28 February 2019, the acquisition
was completed and CRL Shanghai’s interest in Shanghai
Fuying and Shanghai Fupu increased from the previous
30% to the current 51%. As a result, CRL Shanghai is
able to control Shanghai Fuying and Shanghai Fupu,
which have been changed from associates to subsidiaries
of the Group since then.
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43. W Vi B B 2> W] (%) 43. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
ZRWEHBATENEERAERE ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(&) THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

BE-SE—hE+=-A=+—HILLEE (#) For the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

(v) WEEFBERETHZEEZLZREGR (iv)  Acquisition of Shanghai Fuying Binjiang Development and
NE ([ LBEE]) R LG EEETRE Construction Investment Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Fuying”) and
BRERREBR Al LEEH])(E) Shanghai Fupu Binjiang Development and Construction

Investment Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Fupu”) (continued)

R B A
WRN S
Amounts
recognised at
the date of
acquisition
AREFT
RMB'000
BB R EEFE - Net identifiable assets acquired:
Y~ B K& (FsE16) Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) 444
LRI E & (M 5E26) Deferred taxation assets (Note 26) 2,291
HIHE 25 Properties for sale 6,932,577
FEUBRK « Efb UL BRIA - Trade receivables, other receivables,

FERFRERET S prepayments and deposits 6,639
Be MIBITERE Cash and bank balances 88,896
JE 1<} BR R N2 L Al FE A5 BRI Trade and other payables (1,551,843)
RITEE Bank borrowings (1,652,777)

3,826,227
FEIE AR M B Non-controlling interests (1,717,956)
2,108,271
BEERE E A RINM: Consideration transferred, satisfied by:
T \FENZERNTE Capital contribution paid in 2018 1,055,588
RKERHRENTECBAEES Fair value of previously held equity interest

&gz ANFE re-measured at the date of acquisition 732,490
EIETELARNREERRMES Gain on re-measurement of the previously

Wz 2 Was (BMIEES) held interest in associates (Note 8) 320,193

2,108,271
HWENBATIZES LRSS Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
BEFRADH in respect of acquisition of the subsidiaries:
ENRERE Cash consideration paid -
BESRES MRITERF Cash and bank balances acquired 88,896

88,896




43. Wik b 2 ] (7))
EBUBHEARNEREERAH

(%)

BE-Z-NF+-A=+-HLEEE#)

(iv)

v)

WiEFEERETIHEERIRERR
NE ([ EEEE) R LB ERETRH
RERKREFRA A LEEF]) (B)

EERR ERXRBREENRQT
ERABD KN LA HREE -
AEBEBKBELEEERR LEBERA
RR—BUEBEE - At Z5X5
FHCHARRERE /B BWEN
BRBREREEMBEMIER LMD
WEEAF IR (ER]) [(RFEEH A
EENEBAG

WerE R REREIERREERAR([H
RER])

RZF-AF+t-A=t—H BEX
ERBRRATEBETABEZHA
5 B 0 R RAETL ST AT RO 50% 18 EIREF
Z60% - [ It AN 52 [ BE SR I B A
Mo MmBELkEREREAARENS
EEXBEQHERT -
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43. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

(iv)

v)

Acquisition of Shanghai Fuying Binjiang Development and
Construction Investment Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Fuying”) and
Shanghai Fupu Binjiang Development and Construction
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Fupu”) (continued)

In the opinion of the directors, given substantially all of
the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated
in the above identifiable assets, the acquisition of
Shanghai Fuying and Shanghai Fupu have been accounted
for by the Group as acquisition of assets. Therefore, the
transactions were determined by the directors of the
Company to be the acquisition of assets and liabilities
through acquisition of subsidiaries rather than a business
combination as defined in HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business
Combinations.

Acquisition of Nanjing Huasong Real Estate Development
Limited (“Nanjing Huasong”)

On 31 December 2019, Nanjing Huasong'’s shareholders
agreed to increase the voting rights of the Group, from
the previous 50% to the current 60% by revising the
Articles of Association. As a result, the Group is able to
control Nanjing Huasong, which has been changed from a
joint venture to a subsidiary of the Group since then.
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43. Wb B g 2 w) (48) 43. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
FZRWBHREBEARENEERE R ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(#8) THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
BE-SE—hE+=-A=+—HILLEE (#) For the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
(v) WA REREERZEGRAG([H (v)  Acquisition of Nanjing Huasong Real Estate Development
TREER ) () Limited (“Nanjing Huasong”) (continued)
RS B B
RS
Amounts
recognised at
the date of
acquisition
ARBT T
RMB'000
BRI HR B EFE Net identifiable assets acquired:
Yz - BB KEEAE (H9EE16) Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) 243
EEFRIEE = (M5E26) Deferred taxation assets (Note 26) 1,512
HIHE 2 ME Properties for sale 2,266,138
FEUCER SR - EAbpEULARTE - Trade receivables, other receivables,

BNFRIERET £ prepayments and deposits 73,275
He MIRITETF Cash and bank balances 3,185
FEATBR SR N B B A< AR IR Trade and other payables (811,461)

1,532,892
FEVEI AR Non-controlling interests (766,446)
766,446
EEEAE  ETHARIMA : Consideration transferred, satisfied by:
ERNEBRERE Cash consideration paid -
RWERREFTE S Fair value of previously held equity interest
BEFEREZ AFE re-measured at the date of acquisition 766,446

766,446




EHEMABRAF China Resources Land Limited 267

43. W Bt a2 | (7)) 43. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
ERWENBARENREENNA RS ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(%) THROUGH ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
BE-SE—hE+=-A=+—HILLEE (#) For the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)
(v) WA REREERZEGRAG([FH (v)  Acquisition of Nanjing Huasong Real Estate Development
RER])(E) Limited (“Nanjing Huasong”) (continued)
ARETT
RMB’'000
BB AR R RS Analysis of net cash inflow of cash and cash equivalent
LEFRAD in respect of the acquisition of the subsidiary:
BERNRENRE Cash consideration paid -
BESIEe MR1TET Cash and bank balances acquired 3,185
3,185
EERR ERABEBEEEENQAT In the opinion of the directors, given substantially all of
BRABAOEFRN LA HAEE - the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated
ASEREBERERARS—HER in the above identifiable assets, the acquisition of Nanjing
BEE lkt P RRHFRERAD Huasong has been accounted for by the Group as
RITE S E A IE 18 e — I B 2 w2 acquisition of assets. Therefore, the transaction was

REENBEMIET BN B REER
FIWUBR]) [REEHI AEBRNE
Bast-

determined by the directors of the Company to be the
acquisition of assets and liabilities through acquisition of a
subsidiary rather than a business combination as defined
in HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations.
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44. 7% 44. COMMITMENTS
AEFHEBUATERRE - EEFTHHELR The Group has the following material commitments, which are
RE BT HRR N EE - contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial

statements as follows:

2020 2019
AR®T R ARBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
(#E&E5)
(Restated)
BENTER ZEARRS : Capital expenditure in respect of:
— BRI HEEEYE — Properties under development for sale 104,756,017 72,484,164
— EEREYE — Investment properties under construction 15,186,561 10,463,880
119,942,578 82,948,044
45. & 45. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
RIREHAR - AREFMEIT R EM S ks At the end of the reporting period, the Group had pledged the
WM TUUTEE  (EARNEEER —MRIRTT following assets to banks and other financial institution as
REMEE 7K securities against general banking and other facilities granted to
the Group:
2020 2019
ARBTR AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
"B Investment properties 59,624,910 43,897,201
HIHE 2 Properties for sale 14,978,592 28,447,579
M - WEKRERE Property, plant and equipment 2,167,967 1,538,766
FREEE Right-of-use assets 263,731 418,208

77,035,200 74,301,754
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=y N » = SR
46. KHMEHH 2 A HIR 46. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
TRAMIEAEERARETH ZEBELZ The table below details changes in the Group'’s liabilities arising
SE(PERELRIIERESEH) - KAREE from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
B EEAERERENKIAKRRERER changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
NAREE 7 GZERERERND EAREAR which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
BFEIRERE ° the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.
EfHE
BAVE EMEZ  BRTE  ERER (BINER
itABE  KEAR  BRAR  BRAR EAEER  ENRE  RAME RIR BRREM
ZERAE HE B HE O OBERE  GERE QAR HERE  HBEE  EARE  HRE  ENRE)  ERRE Eh
Interest
Finandial Amounts  Amount  Amounts payable
liabilities ~ Amounts dueto duetothe dueto  Amounts (included
atfair value dueto intermediate  ultimate non- dueto  Amounts Bank and Medium- intrade
through fellow holding holding controlling joint due to Lease other Senior term  andother  Dividend
profitor loss subsidiaries companies  company interests  ventures associates liabilities borrowings notes notes payables)  payable Total
ARBTR ARBTRL ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARNTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETZ
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
R-E-Z5-A-A At 1 January 2020 (Restated)
(lm&3)) 250,358 1,343,003 899,891 230 10,043,745 448000 3183451 3391497 98270227 13743971 22,530,399 337,849 - 158,142,621
—SREREMESERER  — Proceeds from or repayment of
financial iabilities (239,638) (2,676,657)* 8,790,373 83 (1198271) 7443433 2446051  (353,162) 34,272,964 - 1,700,000 - - 50,185,176
— BB A — Finance costs paid - (125301) (69,867) - (496377) (60,939) (45,579) - - (704277) (1,010,649) (4,901,717) - (7,414,706)
—BfiRE — Dividend paid - - - - (1304422) - - - - - - - (1,759,421) (9,063,843)
BARSE financing cash flows (239,638) (2,801,958) 8,720,506 83 (2999,070) 7,382,494 2400472  (353,162) 34272964  (704277) 689,351 (4,901,717) (7,759,421) 33,706,627
EERRE Dividend declared - - - - 19 - - - - - - - 1759421 9671882
HEE New Leases - - - - - - - 2209726 - - - - - 2209726
REHBANEHHTMRES  Covid-19-elated rent concessions
EENERE from lessors - - - - - - - (16,786) - - - - - (16,786)
SEER Foreign exchange translation (3360) - - - - - - - (1.288627)  (872818) - (321,660) - (2,486,465)
HER finance charge - 125301 67416 - 49631 4993 0829 213032 - T8 932692 5219005 - 78858%
RiEHE AN Increase arising from acquistion
of subsidiaries - - - - 65,268 - - - 12,553 - - - - 771,821
REEHEAHD Decrease arsing from disposal of
subsidiaries - - - - (1,384,101) - - - (331272) - - - - (4,69,822)
WESARIEHMBARARE  Consideration for acquisition of
subsidiaries under common control - 2,604,000 - - - - - - - - - - - 2,604,000
AFERR Fair value adjustments 8,429 - - - - - - - - - - - - 8,429
WZFZFETZA=+—H  At31December 2020 15789 1270346 9,687,813 313 8,134,640 11,580,417 5654752 5444307 127,954,396 12,878,137 24,152,442 333,497 - 207,106,849
*

& REBEE-_ZE-"THEL+_F=1+—HItFE K
S E D 4B S LR R FI T E A RIS ARE
AR #1,586,860,0007C ° #4 N &5 AR
1,017,140,000 TE AR ZZE=TF+ A
=t+—HZENRZRKEARKE -

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group settled partial
consideration of acquisition of subsidiaries under common control of
RMB1,586,860,000, the remaining amounts of RMB1,017,140,000
was included in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries as at 31 December

2020.
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46. RKEME R B2 A2 B (4) 46. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued)

FEfFIE.
BATE  EfEZ  EREE ERSE (B5IAER
iARE  MEAA  BRAA SRR EREER  ERAE  BABE Bk
ZERAE B B B EERE  GENE NAAE  BERE  BAEE  BARE  RERR  EABRE)  Efke @t
finandil Interest
liabilities Amounts ~ Amount  Amounts payable
atfar  Amounts due to dueto dueto  Amounts (included in
value dueto intermediate  the ultimate non- dueto Amounts trade and
through felow  holding holding ~ controlling joint due to Lease Bank Senior  Medium- other  Dividend
profitorloss ~ subsidiaries ~ companies  company interests  ventures  associates liabilities  borrowings notes termnotes  payables)  payable Total

ARBTT ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR
RMBOOD VB0  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RVBO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RVBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD

R=Z-nF-A-A At 1 January 2019 (Restated)

(l=3)) 232,420 781979 3003233 9Q 17,077,705 1884574 2258126 2,864,146 97995347 13,560,326 20,656,042 271,351 - 160,584,741
—SHERAETERER  — Proceeds from or repayment of
financial liabiities - 561,024 (2,083,486 138 (7,033360) 2,228,765 925325 (345,440) (1,554473) (62,513) 2,000,000 - - (5364,020)
—BREBRE — Finance costs paid - - (68761) - (B34797)  (16,79) - - - (699671)  (932,050) (5,151.871) - (7,703946)
—Eftke — Dividend paid = = - - (1,106211) - - - - - - - (7673828 (8,780,039
BARERE Financing cash flows - 561,024 (2,152,247) 138 (8974368 2211969 925325  (345440) (1554473  (762,184) 1,067.950 (5,151,871) (7,673,828) (21,848,005)
BERRE Dividend declared - - - - 1,106,211 - - - - - - - 7673828 8780039
HiEE New leases - - - - - - - 713083 - - - - - 713083
SEESR Foreign exchange translation 1,014 - - - - - - - 176576 23138 - U5y - 4953
HHER Finance charge - - 48,905 - 84797 51457 - 159728 - 708441 806,407 5193812 - 7.803547
REHRAREN Increase arising from acquisiion of
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - 165,777 - - - - 165777
ATEEE Fair value adjustments 6,924 - - - - - - - - - - - - 6,924

RZE-NEFZB=+—H At31 December 2019 (Restated)
(& %51) 250358 1,343,003 899,891

~

30 10043745 4148000 3183451 3391497 98270227 13743971 22530399 337,849 - 158,142,621
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47. BEN LS 47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(A) HAEEERAMEXRE(H (A) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH CRCL
HEBHEBE|HNEARS AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (THE “CRCL GROUP")
AT ABREBRFANET 2 EANBE The following is a summary of the significant related party
AETRIHE : transactions entered into by the Group during the year:
2020 2019
AR®T R AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
=gl
(Restated)
(i) BELWUTFATHHMESE & (i) Rentaland management fee income from:
ERBRA
GES =P Fellow subsidiaries 466,230 456,933
A AR A A Intermediate holding companies 96 2,657
SRR A A Ultimate holding company 10,132 10,053
BN NEBENT] Joint ventures and associates 47,920 460
524,378 470,103
(i) KA TATHIESE- (i) Construction, decoration services and other
RAS RS R EH A UA - income from:
A Z B AT Fellow subsidiaries 1,346,012 1,542,970
F AR A R Intermediate holding companies 14,634 40
IR A Ultimate holding company 2,140 854
BEDE Joint ventures 903,333 593,370
il /N Associates 151,247 176,831

2,417,366 2,314,065
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47. BN L5 (4)
ﬁ¢l$ﬂ& LKA ([HE
EHEB|MNEARS (E)

(A)

(iii)

(iv)

RKBERRTROBRAA
(TE#EEERT ) RERREARET
BFRAFATEBERD (F&H
EIRKME L R) 2B ES iR

NZE_TF+_A=+—H -
Be MRTEFRERNERNE
B R T HFERARE
2,494,945,000 T ( = F — NLF K
Z 5 : AR #2,416,820,000
J0) o Eili 7 SRIRIR 1T 17 SR &
NFFEFZ03% E4.26%(—F
—NE:03%FE231%)H 8 °
REBE=ZE=-_ZF+=-_A=1+—
HIEFE  ZEFAREEZFE
U A 4258 & AR 26,412,000 7T

—NFELEN: AR
27,076,0007C) ©

RZZBEZTFR-_F-NF+=
A=+—8 A&£EBEHEGEXK
Q **/FEHE.E% °©

FEEFREARESFE

HE-Z-_ZTF+-"A=+—H
IEFE  AEERFHEBHER
BEAAR22,387,557,0007C( =
T — N F: AR ¥
12,003,404,0007T ) * FH X &
090% £333% (=T — N F:
222%%E333%)c HE_-_ZT =
TFE+-_A=+—HILFEKXRE
FRERSENEREENTS
B RE%E A AR 25,401,000 7T
(Z T — L &F: AR ¥
49,100,0007T) e R=ZZFE =T F
+_A=+—HEMTRERE
EresEA ARE9,686,205,000
T(ZZFE — L F: AR K
899,891,0007T) ©

47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(A) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH CRCL
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES (THE “CRCL GROUP")
(continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Strategic cooperation agreement with Zhuhai
China Resources Bank Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”) and
China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. ("CR
Trust”), fellow subsidiaries of the Group

As at 31 December 2020, cash and bank balances
include deposits of RMB2,494,945,000 (2019
Restated: RMB2,416,820,000), made by the Group
to CR Bank. The said deposits carry interest at
prevailing deposit rates which range from 0.3% to
4.26% (2019: 0.3% to 2.31%) per annum. The
aggregate interest income arising from such
deposits amounted to RMB26,412,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019 Restated:
RMB27,076,000).

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, no borrowings
of the Group had been raised from CR Trust.

Intra-group lending with CRCL Group

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group borrowed RMB22,387,557,000 (2019:
RMB12,003,404,000) from CRCL Group with
interest rates ranging from 0.90% to 3.33% per
annum (2019: 2.22% to 3.33%). The aggregate
interest expenses arising from these borrowings
from the CRCL Group were RMB25,401,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
RMB49,100,000). The amount due to the CRCL
Group as at 31 December 2020 was
RMB9,686,205,000 (2019: RMB899,891,000).
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47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(B) METEELEREE ARRME (B) PROVISION OF GUARANTEES TO CERTAIN
BRHEEEZRER JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES RELATED
TO THEIR BORROWINGS
RZE-_FEF+_A=+—H ' && As at 31 December 2020, the Group provided guarantees
BoRMAERE FEEDELBE of RMB12,272 million (2019: RMB3,540 million) and
NEZEERREIRMEER  #ERE RMB1,760 million (2019: RMB1,637 million) to certain
2 RlAE ARKE12,272,000,000 T (== joint ventures and associates of the Group related to their
— L% : AR ¥ 3,540,000,0007T) & borrowings, respectively, based on the Group's proportion
AR#1,760,000,000 7T( = — N4 : of equity interests in the joint ventures and associates.
A K %1,637,000,0007T ) © Jh iR R A
SEREELERBERA 2 RIEL
BIfmEL
BB IERENIRBHEEHERE R Financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher
VIR EReBREERRART S5 of the ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised
MERSETE - NEBF(HEIEE less the cumulative amount of income recognised. The
RZNRERAFEARFABRE Group assessed that the fair value at initial recognition of
EEERESBETTERX - the financial guarantees and the ECL allowance during the
year were not significant.
(O XEEBAEZHE (C) COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL
KRBT EERASEEMEESE The remuneration of executive directors of the Company
BABRFERNZHMAT : and other members of the key management of the Group
during the year is as follows:
2020 2019
AR¥TR AREBFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
RHESER Short-term employee benefits 43,198 84,085
BEER 1242 A Post-employment benefits 876 1,577
44,074 85,662
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47. BN LS (4)
(D) EFEBEEMBFHEBEER EKX

R5

AEERTFERFERXEREGT L
%%Eﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ@amDﬁI%m
fLEY R HIE T & E - o AKE
$%ﬁﬁ$lﬁﬁ%@ﬂ2¢ﬁ%ﬁ
ET—ERARRREB QR 2 &7 -

B E30(A) K (B)IEH FEE I - ANEBE IR
EEMBTEEEREIT A TR -
AR EERAEZERNBEER
EITRS %FE%%%%@ RIZ)ES
BB IERETT - AEBENEHER
SEBEEK ﬁ%%ﬁ“i?%ﬁi
SHFHREBFHEEEE -

() AEEBEREEOZFBRFEBM
s (BRRTHEER) B
T fEFAAE

(i) AERBERITLEBERE(BR
BFHEER) DETRERTK
LEERS &

(i) AEEHERFPMHENETEE
R MARFESZREBERR
RGBFHZ2HH %ﬁ%”“
SR EEMBTIEREE ST
A ANAIAT ©

B EXX() R (NETFTIR &SN + AN A

EERE HZSRNEEEREETT
MEMRFEHAEEMS W HEK -

A EB 9 4 Hb {5 R i 3 BT 2B P 2o
BHRESIRAALTARAREER S
ThELRIT R SR FERT L - B EEZ
EXGH2ZHE  ARRIEZRAELE
BHEHZERNTEBEREIRS5BEZ
ATEERTESE -

47. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(D) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH OTHER

GOVERNMENT-RELATED ENTITIES IN THE PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment currently
predominated by entities directly or indirectly owned or
controlled by the PRC government (“government-related
entities”). In addition, the Group itself is part of a larger
group of companies under CRCL which is controlled by
the PRC government.

Apart from the disclosures in (A) and (B) above, the Group
also conducts the following business with other
government-related entities. The directors of the Company
consider that the transactions with these government-
related entities are within normal business operations and
are carried out on market terms. The Group has developed
transaction pricing policies and these policies do not
depend on whether or not the counterparties are
government-related entities.

(i)  The Group has acquired land use rights through
tendering to those government departments or
agencies, which are government-related entities;

(i) The Group has entered into various deposits and
lending transactions with banks and financial
institutions, which are government-related entities;
and

(iii)  The Group has sale and purchase transactions with
customers and suppliers, in which the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that it is
impracticable to ascertain the identity of the
counterparties and, accordingly, whether the
transactions are with government-related entities.

Other than those disclosed in section (i) and (ii) above, the
directors of the Company consider that the other
transactions with those government-related entities are
not material to the Group. Majority of the land use rights
were tendered through government departments or
agencies and majority of the deposits and lending
transactions were entered with banks and financial
institutions. In view of the nature of these transactions,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that
guantitative information on the extent of transactions
between the Group and the government related entities
would not be meaningful.
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48. B AW ~ 8L MBS A ¥ 48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES
(A) The following are particulars of the principal subsidiaries
at 31 December 2020 and 2019 which, in the opinion of
the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results, assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

(A) ATARZ-ZZTE-_ZTFR-_T—NF
T-A=T—BNEEMBRRFS
MARREERAR/REHBARETE
FEAKENEGE BEEXRE-E

R REEGHBARMNFES
EHERBNITE °

W+=-—A=+—8
BRIRA/ ABAAEEBEZEBITRAS
KBAEERE BWRA 2 EfE B 2 EE LB TBEK

Proportion of nominal value
of issued share capital/paid up

Name of subsidiary

Nominal value of issued
share capital/paid-up capital

capital held by the Group

as at 31 December

Principal activities

2020 2019
EHEH(RF)ARAF 79,900,000 7T 100% 100% MEREREE
(BF=E i) (Note ii) US$79,900,000 Property investment and
development
EHREEAR AR (M) (Note i) AE#1,200,000,0007C 100% 100% EE5E
RMB1,200,000,000 Construction
ERnEEMN) ERERAA] AR#687,056,0007C 65% 65% WIEERE
(=% D) (Note i) RMB687,056,000 Property development
FHEWRE (KR)BRAA AER#600,000,0007T 100% 100% PR
(BF3E1) (Note i) RMB600,000,000 Property development
EHEEM (LFR) ARAT] AE#2,000,000,0007C 98% 97% YMERERER
(=% D) (Note i) RMB2,000,000,000 Property investment and
development
ZREM (ORI BRAR 75#£3,000,000,0007C 100% 100% MEREREE
(BI=Ei) (Note i) HK$3,000,000,000 Property investment and
development
EHEWEMN)RAZEERAF 34,000,000 7T 50% 50% MFERERERE
(BfF5Eii i) (Note ii and iii) US$34,000,000 Property investment and

development
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48. B A FE ~ FEAFES

(%)
(A) (#&)

G YNCIER

!

Name of subsidiary

Bi& 2y w]  48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES (continued)
(A) (continued)

BETRA,
B RA 2 EE

Nominal value of issued
share capital/paid-up capital

K+=—RA=+—H
AAKERE 2 BBITRE
BN 2 EEL B
Proportion of nominal value
of issued share capital/paid up
capital held by the Group
as at 31 December

TEXRB

Principal activities

2020 2019
EHEM(KR)BRAAF AR #100,000,0007T 100% 100% MEREREE
(PiF5ED) (Note i) RMB 100,000,000 Property investment and
development
ERHEM (B ERAA 108,662,544% 7T, 100% 100% #EERE
(BF3Ei) (Note i) US$108,662,544 Property development
2H (R ARAA ##500,000,0007T 100% 100% ME&KRERER
(FRET) (Note i) HK$500,000,000 Property investment and
development
ZHEMES)BRAA 225,000,000% 7% 100% 100% #MHERERER
(F%Eii) (Note i) US$225,000,000 Property investment and
Development
HEXSVEHERRAF AK#10,000,0007T 100% 100% YEZRE
(Fig%%) (Note i) RMB 10,000,000 Property development
EHEN (ER) BEXARLA 110,000,0003 7T 100% 100% ¥R
(BF=E i) (Note ii) US$110,000,000 Property development
ZHEN(EH)BRAF AR #100,000,0007T 100% 100% YERERBEE
(PfF5ED) (Note i) RMB 100,000,000 Property investment and
development
EHE (BN BEEERAA AR #20,000,0007T 100% 100% #MEHE
(Ff#Ei) (Note i) RMB20,000,000 Property development
LBEREREHERERR AR AR #4,500,900,1807C 50% 50% YIEER
(Pf3Ei R iv) (Note i and iv) RMB4,500,900,180 Property development
REEEEXZBRAA A #250,000,0007T 51% 51% EEE
(P7E) (Note i) RMB250,000,000 Property development



48. B AW ~ GEMRZE

ZHEMAR AR China Resources Land Limited

ASSOCIATES (continued)
(A) (continued)

(#4)
(A) (&)
BEITRA
NGB B A 2 EE

Nominal value of issued

K+=R=+—H
AAKERAE 2 BEITRE
Bz EmEL D)
Proportion of nominal value
of issued share capital/paid up
capital held by the Group
as at 31 December

Name of subsidiary share capital/paid-up capital

277

Bk v 48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

X3

Principal activities

2020 2019
RREREM=HEXFRAF AR#3,376,160,2577C 60% 60% WHEIRERER
(F#Ei) (Note i) RMB3,376, 160,257 Property investment and
development
Bl ER X EEREER AR AE#750,000,0007T 100% 100% ¥R
(FEi) (Note i) RMB750,000,000 Property development
ARBREFEHEREARAA] AE#1,310,000,0007T 98% 97% MEERE
(M5E1) (Note i) RMB1,310,000,000 Property development
EZBEW ORI ERBR DA 7#4,100,000,0007T 100% 100% MEREREE
(H&Ei) (Note i) HK$4,100,000,000 Property investment and
development
IREXEHERZEERAT AR 1,200,000,000 75 100% 100% MHEHERER
(MfaEi) (Note i) RMB1,200,000,000 Property investment and
development
NEHEFRHEFGRAT AR 1,200,000,000 7T 100% 100% YR
(PF&ET) (Note i) RMB1,200,000,000 Property development
SEHMEEREMREERAT AR#100,000,000 7T 55% 55% WI¥EIREMER
(P=ED) (Note i) RMB 100,000,000 Property investment and
development
ERHEM(EH) AEBERQA AR#990,130,000 7T 100% 100% MR

(B3E1) (Note i)

RMB990,130,000

Property development
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48. B AW ~ 5B XS AR 48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

(A) (%)
MERREMH

Name of subsidiary

op

BETRA,
B RA 2 EE

Nominal value of issued
share capital/paid-up capital

RN

ASSOCIATES (continued)
(A) (continued)

Rt+ZHA=+—H
SERSE 2 EBITRE/
B A mEL A TEXRH

Proportion of nominal value
of issued share capital/paid up

Ca

pital held by the Group
as at 31 December

2020 2019

Principal activities

BMNEXEERZEERAT
(PiF5ED) (Note i)

EBERRMERBERAR
(BF3ED) (Note i)

Hrat -

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

ZMBRRTI— KBRS R 2
WERE -

ZMBRRT—FKN BRI R 2
SNEBE D

ZMBRRAIDERAREZ —HEA
Al - BEASEERGZIERR50%
Bt - B ARIMNESSHSRERA
B e AEBBRNMBRARREREE
SEERMHEPIBRZMBARZE
R EKLO60% KA FEFHE B
=R AERERAR ) TERERE
BiRMES) - Eub - AREE A EHIZ A
BRE] -

ZHB AR EANEE  —MHBA
A BEAREEEEGZMNBRE50%
MR- B ARMNESSHSBESHE
Ko AEBEERHBARIREREE
SZEEMHEPIZRZHE LR ZE
RS BES0% A LEEH M B
BHE AEEBEERS TEEREEE
BIRES) - Eit - A E IR GIZH
BARA] -

AR ¥ 430,000,000 7T
RMB430,000,000

AR ¥ 1,800,000,000 75
RMB1,800,000,000

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

100% 100% ¥R

Property development

51% 51% WERENER

Property investment and
development

The subsidiary is a domestic enterprise established and
operating in the PRC.

The subsidiary is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise established
and operating in the PRC.

The subsidiary is classified as a subsidiary of the Group although
the Group only attributed to 50% equity interest in the
subsidiary. The board of directors of the subsidiary comprises 5
directors. The Group has the right to nominate and appoint 3
out of the 5 directors in the subsidiary and the relevant activities
of the subsidiary require 60% or more of directors’ approval.
The directors concluded that the Group has sufficiently a
dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities, and
therefore, the Group has control over the subsidiary.

The subsidiary is classified as a subsidiary of the Group
although the Group only attributed to 50% equity interest in
the subsidiary. The board of directors of the subsidiary
comprises 5 directors. The Group has the right to nominate
and appoint 3 out of the 5 directors in the subsidiary and the
relevant activities of the subsidiary require 50% or more of
directors’ approval. The directors concluded that the Group
has sufficiently a dominant voting interest to direct the relevant
activities, and therefore, the Group has control over the
subsidiary.
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48. B AW ~ 5B AEEEEE A\ 48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

(%)

(B) EREARFERERZNFEZEM

BADWEE

TRINTAREREREEASFERER
BFERE B R AIFHS -

ASSOCIATES (continued)

(B) DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests:

KSR FHERER B CRTER AT HER
HBLRER FEELHH R/ BWIRA 2 B Rl ERAEH itk R
Proportion of ownership of
Place of incorporation  issued ordinary share capital/paid-up
and principal place capital held by non-controlling Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiaries of business interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
ARBTT ARETTT ARBTR N S
% % RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
EERABRAR(ESRE])  RBRKES 45 45 312,297 488,348 3203314 2,930,994
Best Scene Investments Limited BVI
("Best Scene”)
LEENEREHEREERAT  HE 50 50 162,953 611,558 2,584,322 2,970,803
(M#ER]) PRC
BEERAR (4E]) KBRS 40 40 550,650 343,870 2,998,214 3,201,915
Brilliant Palace Investment Limited BVI

("Brilliant Palace”)

BARFERERNERIFEER
HBAFE

Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests

3,033,846 3,946,323 43,958,200 40,794,726

4,059,746 5,390,099 52,784,050 49,898,438
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48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

) TGS A W |
(%) ASSOCIATES (continued)
(B) BEEARFIERERENIEZEMH (B) DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED
BB E (E) SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL NON-

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

BRAEEEAE AR ER AN
BRBINMBEERMBEHIIMT » A
THHERBEZREEAN QR REEHE

Summarised financial information in respect of subsidiaries
of the Group that have material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised financial information

ARG - below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.
A Bk R
Best Scene Brilliant Palace
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
ARBTT  ARBTL ARETT ARETT AR%TT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
FrREaE Non-current assets 7,089,866 6,045,657 243,078 539,313 9,363,064 7,630,379
mEEE Currents assets 3170462 3352393 5759799 8,010,663 964,850 2,965,578
RHaRE Current liabilities (1,514,831)  (1,253,670) (834,233)  (2,608370)  (1,175,619)  (1,287,599)
Fraak Non-currents liabilities (1,538,134)  (1,631,059) - - (1,656,761)  (1,303,572)
KRR NEbER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 3,964,049 3,582,327 2,584,322 2,970,803 4,497,320 4,802,871
SRR Non-controlling interests 3243314 2930994 2584322 2970803 2998214 3201915
Wiz Revenue 779,143 831,542 3,040,960 5,845,380 1,044,998 1,037,429
NG 2PN e Profit attributable to owners of
the Company 381,697 596,869 162,953 611,558 825,976 515,804
R ER AT Profit attributable to
non-controlling interests 312,297 488,348 162,953 611,558 550,650 343,870
FREH Profit for the year 693,994 1,085,217 325,906 1,223,116 1,376,626 859,674
FRAERBARGERENELESE Total comprehensive income
attributable to owners of
the Company 381,729 596,867 162,953 611,558 762,568 507,234
FEREREE 2 RANEEE Total comprehensive income
attributable to non-controlling
interests 312,324 488,344 162,953 611,558 508,378 338,156
FR2ENEESE Total comprehensive income
for the year 694,053 1,085,211 325,906 1,223,116 1,270,946 845,390
REZHHNE /()B4 58 Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities 444,342 760,486 899,067 3,755,069 654,206 (124,686)
REEY(FR)/ MERLTE Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities (426,502) (403,793) (516,594)  (2,659,443) 1,187,566 588,225
BEEH(FR)/FERL5E Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities (153,178) 67,337  (1,042,687)  (1,000,0000  (2,071,045) (100,962)
BeOr) /R AEE Net cash (outflow)/inflow (135,338) 424,030 (660,214) 95,626 (229,273) 362,577
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Name of joint venture
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48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND

ASSOCIATES (continued)

(C) The table below lists the joint ventures of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results of the year or form a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other joint ventures would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive

length.

RT+=ZA=+—BAX&EH
BB b=
Attributable interest indirectly
held by the Group as at
31 December

B3

Principal activities

2020 2019
FEmEmERARAE (I (Note i) 50% 50% KR ERER
Property investment and development
bieEERMEREER AR (i Kvi) 50% 50% WERERBER
(Note ii and vi) Property investment and development
T EEEFRAE (ML) (Note iii) 50% 50% AR
Investment holding
MREEFWERZEARAR (M) (Note i) 50% 50% EBE
Property development
IEFEBEXAR AR (FEE) (Note i) 50% 50% EBE
Property development
FEEHAIRBEERKREFTR AR 51% 51% WHEKRERER
(BF&E i K. vi) (Note ii and vi) Property investment and development
R EERFRAA 45% - UEERER
(BF&Eii ~ iv & v) (Note i, iv and v) Property development
LR EEEREERAR 40% 40% MERERER
(FF&Eii K2 v) (Note i and v) Property investment and development
RN GEEERZEAR QR (HEI) (Note ii) 50% 50% WEZE

Property development
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48. B AW ~ B EHEE AW 48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
(#8) ASSOCIATES (continued)
(© (&) (©) (continued)

RT+=A=+—HAX&EH
BERERN ERAEGER FEEK
Attributable interest indirectly
held by the Group as at

Name of joint venture 31 December Principal activities
2020 2019
EFEEERAR AR (KEE) (Note i) 50% 50% YIEBE
Property development

IERBMEEXER AR 33% 33% WMEER

(B &Eii K2 v) (Note i and v) Property development
bPeEaEMERBAR AR (i) (Note ii) 50% 50% IEBE

Property development

R R) BEXBR AR 49% - WEEE

(Mg 5E i K.iv) (Note ii and iv) Property development
TN R ZE 12 E B R A A 51% 51% 1¥RE

(FtsEii & v) (Note ii and v) Business services
EaRREXERAA 50% - YERE

(Bff=Eii R&iv) (Note i and iv) Property development
FEEERMEREBER AR 50% 50% WIERERERE

(P =Eii &2 vi) (Note ii and vi) Property investment and development
IrRGEEXERAA 35% - YERE

(MS=Eii ~ iv & v) (Note ii, iv and v) Property development
FEERETIRERERKREFTRAA 51% 51% WIEHE

(B 5E i K. vi) (Note ii and vi) Property development
BERBEEMEREERAQF 33% 33% WERERER

(FfsEii &2 v) (Note i and v) Property investment and development
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48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES (continued)

(@)

(D)

(continued)

Notes:

(i) The joint venture is sino-foreign equity joint venture established
and operating in the PRC.

(ii) The joint venture is domestic enterprise established and
operating in the PRC.

(i) The joint venture is incorporated and operates in Hong Kong.

(iv)  The joint venture is established/acquired in the current financial
year.

(v) The company is accounted for as joint venture as at the year
end date as the Group has contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

(vi)  This company is a subsidiary of the Group as at 31 December
2019, while it became a joint venture of the Group as at 31
December 2020. Detailed transactions are disclosed in note 42
to financial statements.

The table below lists the associates of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results of the year or form a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other associates would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

Rt -—A=t—BAXEERH
ERNARGER TEXRB
Attributable interest indirectly
held by the Group as at

Name of associate 31 December Principal activities
2020 2019
EEENLREFHNERERRAR 50% 50% WEER

(FfF5E 1) (Note i)

TNt A E AR AR (M) (Note i)

45%

Property development

45% WIERE NMERE

Property investment and development
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48. B AW ~ B EHEE AW 48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
(#8) ASSOCIATES (continued)
(D) (#&) (D) (continued)

R+=ZA=+—BAX&EH
ik NSIEY ERAEGER FEHEK
Attributable interest indirectly
held by the Group as at

Name of associate 31 December Principal activities
2020 2019
BEHEERREAR LD (ML) (Note i) 50% 50% WEZRE
Property development
IERERAEAR AR (FIE (Note i) 27% 27% YERERER
Property investment and management
ARBKEEAR AR (L) (Note i) 28% 28% WEBR
Property development
RYHEIBRREEFR AR 25% - YEBRE
(51 Kii) (Note i and ii) Property development
S EFMEREHERZE AR A A 50% 50% WIEERE
(MI3ED) (Note i) Property development
FUNERBA B 3 EE R 2 B PR 2 A 18% 18% WIHEERE
(B &E i K iii) (Note i and iii) Property development
YT EE M ERE AR AR 49% - MEERERE
(Fif=Ei Xii) (Note i and ii) Property development
#NEREERR AR (L) (Note i) 50% 50% IEBRE
Property development
MMEREMERZE AR LD (M) (Note i) 34% 34% WEBR
Property development
BMTAEEERR AR (M) (Note i) 33% 33% YERERER
Property investment and development
BNERE M EREBR AR 50% - UEERER
(FMf=Ei Xii) (Note i and ii) Property development
ItREEFEHERBEAR QA (D) (Note i) 33% 33% MEHERE

Property development
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48. SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES (continued)
(D) (continued)

Rt A=t—BA%EEM

ERBRGER

B3

Attributable interest indirectly
held by the Group as at

31 December

Principal activities

2020 2019
FILmIEEELEEREHERZE R AR 35% 35% WEEE
(MI3ED) (Note i) Property development
&N BN 5 b ZE A IR A ) (BH3E 1) (Note i) 33% 33% YEER
Property development
REEMBREHERZEERAR 50% 50% WIEER
(Md7E) (Note i) Property development
HILTRREEREFR AR 35% 35% WIEERE
(B3£I (Note i) Property development
BN EEREREER AR 50% 50% WIEER
(FF5E1) (Note i) Property development
Hiat - Notes:
(i) ZEE AR AR BIR R (i) The associate is a domestic enterprise established and
NERE o operating in the PRC.

e R RPN AR E KL

m%$$5ﬁ%§E§$MA&®Tm
EECHAHZARBITEATE
ARREEEE B ARSI EBZ AT

(ii)

(iii)

The associate is established/acquired in the current financial
year.

The company is accounted for as an associate as at year end
date as the Group has the right to appoint director(s) for the
board of the company and is able to exercise significant
influence over the company.
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49.
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49. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
include the bank and other borrowings disclosed in note 35,
senior notes disclosed in note 36 and medium-term notes
disclosed in note 37, net of cash and cash equivalents, amount
due to the ultimate holding company, amounts due to
intermediate holding companies, amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries, amounts due to joint ventures, amounts due to
associates, amounts due to non-controlling interests and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, and other reserves and perpetual capital instrument.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.
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50. 55l b i B 50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
TET B2 E5 CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
—ECEHF 2020
EEREBHAM
BAVEGFA ZERRRATE
BEZeMEE JIRZSREE
Financial assets
Financial assets designated at
at FVPL FVOCI
TR 8K R AT R
BEFER BRATR ZERMEE et
Mandatorily Financial
measured Equity assets at
as such instruments  amortised cost Total
ARBT T ARET T AR¥ET T ARBTR
SRIEE Financial assets RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
EEAEREMEEEE Equity instruments designated at
BATESIRRATA fair value through other
comprehensive income - 1,116,163 - 1,116,163
JFEUS BR 0 K EL b FE U BR TR Trade and other receivables - - 19,545,469 19,545,469
JEM R ARSI R FRIE Amount due from the ultimate
holding company - - 324 324
FEU R RIERR A R RRIE Amounts due from intermediate
holding companies - - 32,307 32,307
B NG Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries - - 1,091,039 1,091,039
A EETIE Amounts due from joint ventures - - 33,087,975 33,087,975
NI F ] Amounts due from associates - - 10,159,176 10,159,176
RN AR 2 IR Amounts due from non-controlling
interests - - 16,870,694 16,870,694
RAFEABRZ EREE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 4,933,802 - - 4,933,802
R RR1THR Cash and bank balances - - 89,450,545 89,450,545
4,933,802 1,116,163 170,237,529 176,287,494
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50. B4 e Ry B (4) 50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
EMITEREZER (&) CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
—EEF(HE) 2020 (continued)

BOAFESTABEZERMEE
Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

AR R BB A
pruflig:<p BEEE JIRzEmaE et
Designated
as such Financial
upon initial Held for liabilities at
recognition trading  amortised cost Total
AR¥F T AR¥TR AR¥TR AR¥TR
SREE Financial liabilities RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
JEI BRR R E A FE AR IH Trade and other payables - - 110,518,542 110,518,542
e RAIER A RIFIE Amount due to the ultimate holding
company - - 313 313
B R RIHRAR A RIFRIE Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies - - 9,687,813 9,687,813
NI ESIENGIE R Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries - - 1,270,346 1,270,346
FERTEEBERE Amounts due to joint ventures - - 11,580,417 11,580,417
FETHEE A RIFIE Amounts due to associates - - 5,654,752 5,654,752
FAREREg Fa e Amounts due to non-controlling
interests - - 8,134,640 8,134,640
HEARE Lease liabilities - - 5,444,307 5,444,307
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings - - 127,954,396 127,954,396
BEEE Senior notes - - 12,878,137 12,878,137
hEAZIE Medium term notes - - 24,152,442 24,152,442
BAVEFABEZERERE  Finandal liability at fair value
through profit or loss - 15,789 - 15,789
TESRTHE Derivative financial instruments 100,262 - - 100,262

100,262 15,789 317,276,105 317,392,156
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50. B )5 b P (4)
E@mTEZHER (&)

50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

—E-NF(KET]) 2019 (Restated)
EBEA
BATE FREMEE
FTABZEZ Wt A E
SREE IEZEMEAE

Financial assets

Financial assets designated at

at FVPL FVOCI
TZHSHRN
BHETER BRATE JlRzemEE fet
Mandatorily Financial
measured Equity assets at
as such instruments amortised cost Total
ARBFT ARBTFT ARBTFT ARBFT
TRBE Financial assets RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EEAEREMEEEE Equity instruments designated at
BATEFIRZKRATA fair value through other
comprehensive income - 1,131,496 - 1,131,496
FEUBR 0 K2 E A fE U BR 1A Trade and other receivables - - 18,221,717 18,221,717
JEM R ARG R FRIE Amount due from the ultimate
holding company - = 786 786
JEU R R A R B Amounts due from intermediate
holding companies - - 21,328 21,328
R PNGIE e Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries - - 2,134,724 2,134,724
ERAEER Amounts due from joint ventures - - 27,512,903 27,512,903
FEUCEE = A 7] IE Amounts due from associates - - 10,827,614 10,827,614
EW?E&HX%E?’K Amounts due from non-controlling
interests - - 12,274,339 12,274,339
BATEFANERZ S REE Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 866,022 - - 866,022
TEemTHE Derivative financial instruments 12,220 - - 12,220
HERRITHER Cash and bank balances = = 64,661,399 64,661,399
878,242 1,131,496 135,654,810 137,664,548
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

2019 (Restated) (continued)

BATESAERZ2RE R
Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

AR TR FREE SRR
Jallig=ha FHEEE JRzemAas st
Designated
as such Financial
upon initial Held for liabilities at
recognition trading amortised cost Total
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
SRAE Financial liabilities RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR E A ARIE Trade and other payables - - 93,297,922 93,297,922
PR SR AR A AR Amount due to the ultimate holding
company - - 230 230
FERT AR AR A Rl R0 Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies - - 899,891 899,891
NIEES I ENGIE e Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries - - 1,343,003 1,343,003
EREE¥7E Amounts due to joint ventures - - 4,148,000 4,148,000
ARE AN F ] Amounts due to associates - - 3,183,451 3,183,451
FAREREg Fa e Amounts due to non-controlling
interests - - 10,043,745 10,043,745
HEARE Lease liabilities - - 3,391,497 3,391,497
RITEE Bank borrowings - - 98,270,227 98,270,227
BEZR Senior notes - - 13,743,971 13,743,971
FERR Medium term notes - - 22,530,399 22,530,399
BRTEFAEZZSHEE Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 243,941 6,417 - 250,358
243,941 6,417 250,852,336 251,102,694
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets
at FVPL, trade and other receivables, amount due from the
ultimate holding company, amounts due from intermediate
holding companies, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries,
amounts due from joint ventures, amounts due from associates,
amounts due from non-controlling interests, equity instruments
designated at FVOCI, derivative financial instruments, cash and
bank balances, trade and other payables, amount due to the
ultimate holding company, amounts due to intermediate
holding companies, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries,
amounts due to joint ventures, amounts due to associates,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, bank and other
borrowings, financial liabilities at FVPL, lease liabilities, senior
notes and medium-term notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (including currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to financial
risks or the manner in which it manages and measures.

Market risk
Currency risk

The Group's businesses are principally conducted in RMB,
except for certain amounts due to non-controlling interests,
amounts due to associates, amounts due to intermediate
companies, amounts due to joint ventures, amounts due to
fellow subsidiaries, amounts due from non-controlling interests,
amounts due from associates, amounts due from joint ventures,
bank borrowings (note 35), senior notes (note 36) and cash and
bank balances which are arranged in Hong Kong or overseas
and denominated in HK$, US$ and GBP by the group entities
operating in Hong Kong, of which the functional currency is
RMB. The Group manages its currency risk by closely monitoring
the movements of the currency exchange rates. The Group
entered into cross currency swap contracts with certain financial
institutions to reduce its exposure to currency fluctuation risk.
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Currency risk (continued)

The Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and

EREBaEZERBERT monetary liabilities at the end of the respective reporting period
and the carrying amounts are as follows:
2020 2019
AR®ETR ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
(&eE5)
(Restated)
BE Assets
REENEEERE Group entities in Hong Kong
e uss$ 1,302,706 1,595,585
e HK$ 5,976,153 5,599,918
ReE GBP 62,327 132,071
PR B & B & 52 Group entities in the PRC
B HK$ 20,661 11,647
e uss$ 10,942 27,435
BE Liabilities
REBLEEER Group entities in Hong Kong
ESyH us$ 12,176,008 10,829,218
B HK$ 32,953,784 20,345,300
R GBP 1,158,102 1,189,954
iSGalC: 0 SE T = Group entities in the PRC
B HK$ 74 39,111
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group's foreign currency risk is concentrated on the
fluctuation of RMB against foreign currencies.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2019: 5%) increase and decrease in the RMB against the
relevant foreign currencies. The sensitivity rates used represent
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. A positive number below indicates an
increase in post-tax profit for the year where RMB strengthens
5% (2019: 5%) against the relevant currencies. For a 5% (2019:
5%) weakening of RMB against the relevant currencies, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit
and the balance below would be negative.

FA (B1R) R

2020 2019
AR¥T T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(#e&E5)
(Restated)
REBLEEERE Group entities in Hong Kong
F N A Profit for the year 1,626,025 1,045,290
TR B £ [ B Group entities in the PRC

(Loss)/profit for the year (1,182) 1
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50. B4 % )E B e B (7)) 50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, amounts due from
associates, amounts due from joint ventures, amounts due from
non-controlling interests, senior notes, medium-term notes,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, amounts due to joint
ventures, amounts due to associates and amount due to an
intermediate holding company.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances (see note 31 for details), variable-rate
bank and other borrowings (see note 35 for details), amounts
due to non-controlling interests and amounts due to
intermediate holding companies. The Group's cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR"), Benchmark Loan Rate of The
People’s Bank of China and London Interbank Offered
Rate(”LIBOR") arising from the Group’s HK$, RMB and GBP
denominated borrowings. To manage the Group’s exposure to
fluctuations in interest rates on specific transactions, appropriate
derivative financial instruments may be used to hedge material
exposure.

As at 31 December 2020, if interest rates had been 50 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the
Group's post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2020
would have been RMB1,910,000 lower/higher (2019:
RMB61,192,000).
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and
financial guarantees provided by the Group arose from:

o the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position; and

o the financial guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed
in notes 40 and 47(B).

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amounts
of each individual trade and other receivable at the end of the
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group'’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies or state-owned banks in the
PRC.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which
are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings and
amounts due from joint ventures, associates and non-controlling
interests, the Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk, in which exposure is spread over a number of
counterparties and customers.

With respect to the amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, the
ultimate holding company, intermediate holding companies,
joint ventures, associates and non-controlling interests, the
directors of the Company consider the credit risk is limited
because they have strong financial positions.
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50. B4 % )E B e B (7)) 50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

B EkEE R EREER (&)
=R (&)

AREREERRHARTKNYE  AEH
BEREPABENERHESNRIBERN
fERRERERTRT  @RKSEERYE
MEEENT0% - MRNERAR - B MIZ
BNFGER - AERIBRIRTT R ERAKE
BNREERREERANFE - EUIFR
T AEEREEKRHEERS NEECD K
BIEEE - Bt ARREZRIANKER
] BE AT Wi [ B AR O FE R E A ORI
B ARREER/ERAMEER T RENH
BEARMESNEERREER  ARRE
BNERER  MYROTESRERE -
HREME - ARAREERRAEENEER
B RIRRE

RBE TR

EEERDESRRE - NEEEE MR
BEEERAREZRELRRAEFEINRF
UERAEERFEZESWHMIRERZ
KETE  BEREGRERITREMEEZ®E
B BREEERRENZRTE FHEARE
RITREMEENERZOFBTHNM
35°¢

TRHAVNAEEITESRBBEMITESR
BEZHRTIEOH  TRERAKEATE
AERFAPREBEBIARAUBRERE
RmE - FITECRABZEIHARENHER
KEH -

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

For properties that are presold but development have not been
completed, the Group typically provides guarantees to banks in
connection with the customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to
finance their purchase of the properties for an amount up to
70% of the purchase price of the individual property. If a
purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage during the
period of guarantee, the bank holding the mortgage may
demand the Group to repay the outstanding loan and any
interest accrued thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group
is able to forfeit the sales deposit received and re-sell the
repossessed properties. Therefore, the directors of the Company
consider the Group would likely recover any loss incurred arising
from the guarantee by it. The directors of the Company consider
the credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided to
property purchasers is limited because the facilities are secured
by the properties and the market prices of the properties are
higher than the guaranteed amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
the utilisation of bank and other borrowings and ensures
compliance with loan covenants. Details of the loan covenants
on the Group’s bank and other borrowings are set out in note
35.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
maturity dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based on
the agreed repayment dates.
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The table includes both interest and principal cash outflows. To
the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from the weighted average interest rate by

Rl - B ARRTA RSB SRR
T SR A IR P18 2 I T R R T

reference to the HIBOR, Benchmark Loan Rate of The People’s
Bank of China and LIBOR of the Group’s variable-rate financial

H oo liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
15/ 1225 2Z5%F SEME am REE
On demand
or less than 1t02 2t05 Over Carrying
1 year years years 5 years Total amount
ARETRT AR%®Tn AR%ETrn ARETr AR®Tr AR%®Tn
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
“EBCEF+ZA=+-H 31 December 2020
FER BRI R AL At BRI Trade and other payables 110,518,542 - - - 110,518,542 110,518,542
FE R SRR A RIFAOR Amount due to the ultimate
holding company 313 - - - 313 313
FEf R R AR A Al FUE Amounts due to intermediate
holding companies 3,057,626 6,830,449 - - 9,888,075 9,687,813
JEIH R 2 B A RIFUE Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 1,270,346 - - - 1,270,346 1,270,346
ERAEEMERE Amounts due to joint ventures 11,620,378 - - - 11,620,378 11,580,417
eI A RIZIE Amounts due to associates 5,723,808 - - - 5723808 5,654,752
FER SEE IR A R Amounts due to non-controlling
interests 5,648,482 1,866,493 967,907 - 8,482,882 8,134,640
HEEE Lease liabilities 263,858 190,898  3,385529 2,466,488 6,306,773 5,444,307
BITREMESR Bank and other borrowings 30,416,696 33,895,988 64,611,800 12,616,591 141,541,075 127,954,396
BRRE Senior notes 661,716 661,716 7,186,596 6,522,446 15,032,474 12,878,137
FHIRE Medium-term notes 10,496,400 5,740,700 9,216,838 - 25453938 24,152,442
BIFEHEIR Financial guarantee 62,984,860 - - - 62,984,860 -
BRATHEFAEZzSBERE  Finandal liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 7,944 7,845 - - 15,789 15,789
TEERTA Derivative financial instruments 35,996 35,996 71,992 - 143,984 100,262
242,706,965 49,230,085 85,440,662 21,605,525 398,983,237 317,392,156
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

R EREEREBERBER (&) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
REELEE (&) Liquidity risk (continued)
(B30 1228 2855 SEME Fat] REE
On demand
or less than Over Carrying
Tyear 1to2years 2to5years 5 years Total amount
ARETT ARETT AR®FT ARETT ARETT ARET:R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
—E-hE+ZA=+-H 31 December 2019 (Restated)
(RE5))
FETBE N H e BT Trade and other payables 93,297,922 - - - 93297922 93297922
FE A REERDAFE Amount due to the ultimate
holding company 926,436 - - - 926,436 899,891
FE o R RR A B 0B Amounts due to intermediate
holding companies 230 - - - 230 230
[ERRZHBA Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 1,343,003 - - - 1,343,003 1,343,003
ERE %’JE%%’KIE Amounts due to joint ventures 4,222,653 107 - - 4,222,760 4,148,000
JETHEE D BIZUE Amounts due to associates 3,231,000 - - - 3,231,000 3,183,451
R IR IR R IR Amounts due to non-controlling
interests 7,460,541 408,402 3,046,696 - 10,915,639 10,043,745
HERE Lease liabilities 288,532 375,750 839,400 3,369,164 4,872,846 3,391,497
BITEE Bank borrowings 21,521,443 22,493,287 53,194,030 12,848,184 110,056,944 98,270,227
BREE Senior notes 706,614 706,614 8,949,512 8,227,036 18,589,776 13,743,971
L Medium-term notes 4,810,650 10,337,750 9,265,100 - 24413500 22,530,399
IBER Financial guarantee 43,729,659 - - — 43,729,659 =
BATEFAERZEBERE  Financal liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 249,513 2,162 1,617 - 253,292 250,358
181,788,196 34,324,072 75,296,355 24,444,384 315,853,007 251,102,694
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts have not included financial guarantee contracts,
which the Group make for its certain joint ventures and
associates’ borrowings (note 47(B)). Such guarantees will
terminate upon the repayment of the relevant borrowings.

In respect of financial guarantee contracts disclosed in note 40,
based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers that it is more likely than not that no amount
will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function
of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.



300 —T_FTFEI;HE ANNUAL REPORT 2020

f 0 B 5 A PR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

50. %5 B4 P (%)
BREREEBERBER (H&)

FEBEUEEEERATEGBHNEREE
Ez@eEN QT E

AEEETEREENEMABBRSHREN
RERFEFE - TRINEBBENAIEE %
FeMEEMERABHNAFENER
RIR G ERM MRS AR

50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value at a recurring

basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used).

R+=A=+—8H
SREE/BfF HRFE NHEER  (HERNRERE AR
Fair value as at Fair value
Financial assets/liabilities 31 December hierarchy Valuation techniques and key inputs
2020 2019
AE®BTT ARETRT
RMB'000 RMB’000
1) PBEREATVESABRRICH gE BE 28 %ﬁﬁém°%mﬁémﬁgﬁm%ﬂ
BEZEHMER 4,933,802 781,705 (REBRESHRNATBRREFHR) G5
R AEEEERREOMEIER
Wealth management products Assets Assets  Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are
classified as financial assets at 4,933,802 781,705 estimated based on the market interest rates
FVPL (from observable yield curves at the end of the
reporting period), discounted at a rate that
reflects credit risk of the Group.
2) DERRATFEFABSNER - BE 28 BEBRERN -  ARRSRDERNEHEX
BEZRXEHES 84,317 (REREHRNAIBRLBER) REH
FIR K& QAR [ R aR R - R
SEEERRAL KR o
Cross currency swaps classified as - Assets  Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are
financial asset at FVPL 84,317 estimated based on forward exchange rates
(from observable yield curves at the end of the
reporting period) and yield curve of relevant
interest rates and contracted interest rates,
discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk
of the Group.
3) HERBEEMEEKSRAT BE BE B3 BRBREN  ARRSRIHERETE LFE
Bz RATA 1,116,163 1,131,496 B R RIRE T AR A R M R BE
3 o
Equity instruments designated Assets Assets  Level 3 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are
at FvOCl 1,116,163 1,131,496 based on fixed and variable return payments,

discounted at a rate that reflects the issuer’s
cost of equity.
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value at a recurring
basis (continued)

K+=ZR=+—H
SREE B HAFE NTEER  HERN AR
Fair value as at Fair value
Financial assets/liabilities 31 December hierarchy Valuation techniques and key inputs
2020 2019
AR¥ETT  ARBTR
RMB’000 RMB'000
4) DERTEESBRIANIXEE &8 BE F28 BRBEER - ARFAERDEREHEE
=5 100,262 12,220 (REREHRNATBERLBHR) REH
F R & K7 2R 6 Bl SR AR b 5T - HRRARR
SEEERBRAL KR o
Cross currency swaps classified as Liabilities Assets  Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are
derivative financial instruments 100,262 12,220 estimated based on forward exchange rates
(from observable yield curves at the end of the
reporting period) and yield curve of relevant
interest rates and contracted interest rates,
discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk
of the Group.
5) EERBRATVEGAERZER - BE H3M BRBE 2R - ARREMIERE T RFE
=R 243,941 R - RRIRBEIT AR KA L RBE
IH o
Financial liabilities designated at - Liabilities  Level 3 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are
FVPL 243,941 based on fixed and variable return payments,
discounted at a rate that reflects the issuer's
cost of equity.
6) SERRATEAAEZNERH 88 BE F2& BBRBEER - ARRERDEREHEX
R RS 15,789 6,417 (RERERRNTEREEHR) REL
FEMEE  BREZEZRZHFANEER
BREVLL AL o
Interest rate swap classified as Liabilities Liabilities  Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are
financial liabilities at FVPL 15,789 6,417 estimated based on forward interest rates

(from observable yield curves at the end of the
reporting period) and contracted interest rates,
discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk
of various counterparties.
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50. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

51.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
Fair value of other financial instruments

The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities (excluding senior notes and
medium-term notes with fair value information set out in notes
36 and 37, respectively) recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair
values.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund scheme
("MPF Scheme”) for its employees in Hong Kong. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution scheme in accordance with
the principle of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance. Under the rules of MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are required to contribute 5% of the employee’s
salaries, up to a maximum of HK$1,500 per employee per
month. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the group companies in an independently administered
fund.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the respective
local government in the PRC. The Group is required to
contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to these schemes is to make the specified
contributions.
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52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

2020 2019
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FERBEE Non-current assets
RIEET B ARMKE Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 31,744,392 31,744,320
Y% -~ BB MEE Property, plant and equipment 2,506 3,661
FREEE Right-of-use assets 20,815 2,924
PTESmITA Derivative financial instruments - 12,220
A NG Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,583,751 7,091,257
34,351,464 38,854,382
mENEE Current assets
Hip i BEIE « FANRIERETS Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 296,233 358,673
BAVEF AR EREE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss - 84,317
FEU— IR PRI AR A B FRIE Amount due from an intermediate holding
company 476 -
FEUSE B A IR IE Amounts due from subsidiaries 92,794,942 90,233,099
FEW B KM /B A B FIE Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 186 97
JEW & & FEFIE Amounts due from joint ventures 13 =
JE U — R & A B RUR Amount due from an associate 7 42,877
Be MIRTTHEF Cash and bank balances 7,242,490 1,995,163
100,334,347 92,714,226
mEaE Current liabilities
H it e BRIE Other payables 1,416,550 2,179,861
HEAE Lease liabilities 8,761 3,059
JE A~ — FEl AP RSP AR A B FR Amount due to an intermediate
holding company 2,954,654 899,369
FEASH BB A R FRIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 15,067,966 14,665,034
RITIEE — —F AR H Bank borrowings — due within one year 10,379,798 2,343,665
RHIZIE — —FAEH Medium-term notes — due within one year 9,821,573 3,872,649
39,649,302 23,963,637
MENE EFE Net current assets 60,685,045 68,750,589
BEMABERTEERE Total assets less current liabilities 95,036,509 107,604,971
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52. KA R ZMBRIE () 52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)
2020 2019
AR®T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
= Equity
R Share capital 673,829 673,829
ELACED) Reserves (Note) 34,983,260 38,116,562
XEEARTE (FH7E39) Perpetual capital instrument (Note 39) 7,381,436 7,381,436
43,038,525 46,171,827
JERBAG Non-current liabilities
RITEE — —F123H Bank borrowings — due after one year 27,425,412 30,044,668
BRER — —F18 5|5 Senior notes — due after one year 12,878,137 13,743,971
FREZEE — —F 25 HA Medium-term notes — due after one year 4,848,578 14,669,315
PTESRIA Derivative financial instruments 100,262 =
HEBE Lease liabilities 12,495 190
FEUNR— Rl R AR A A Amount due from an intermediate
holding company 6,733,100 -
FEASTBI /B A B FIA Amounts due to subsidiaries - 2,975,000
51,997,984 61,433,144
EREBENIERSBE Total of equity and non-current liabilities 95,036,509 107,604,971
KRR ZIBITEEN BERKIRRIZER TS The bank borrowings of the Company are all unsecured and
FFIR254% (ZZF—NF :3.71%) 8 ° carry interest at an average effective interest rate at 2.54%
RIZ MR E R IG R E IR - (EE A #isk (2019: 3.71%) per annum. The borrowings are repayable by
REHAR: —SBEE - instalments or in a lump sum upon maturity in accordance with

the terms set out in the respective loan agreements.
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THE COMPANY (continued)

52. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

HtaF - Note:
& Reserves
R RE HAh{#E =40 F wat
Share Other Accumulated
premium reserves losses Total
ARETT ARETTT AREEFTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
RZZE—hF—H—H At 1 January 2019 52,497,187 735,650 (15,087,397) 38,145,440
FREF Profit for the year = = 1,618,972 1,618,972
FREANE R TEQFEZEHE Change in fair value of hedging
BRED instruments due to effective portion
arising during the year - (6,559) - (6,559)
FEREEWERLEEE Total comprehensive income for the year = (6,559) 1,618,972 1,612,413
BATHAR D Issue of new shares 6,032,537 - - 6,032,537
ZTE-NFHREBRE Interim dividend for 2019 - - (894,091) (894,091)
—T - N\FREKRS Final dividend for 2018 - - (6,779,737) (6,779,737)
R-ZE—h&E+=-A=+—HEK At 31 December 2019 and
—ET-_FTF—A—H 1 January 2020 58,529,724 729,091 (21,142,253) 38,116,562
F R A Profit for the year - - 4,662,016 4,662,016
FREERNEHRTARTE Change in fair value of hedging
FHHRAID KRB BED instruments due to forward elements
and effective portion arising during
the year - 232,423 - 232,423
FREmURSEEE Total comprehensive income for the year - 232,423 4,662,016 4,894,439
BKEEART BHEA AMEH Distribution to the owner of perpetual
2K capital instrument - - (268,320) (268,320)
R TERERR S Interim dividend for 2020 - - (1,069,641) (1,069,641)
—ZE-NEFERAKRE Final dividend for 2019 - - (6,689,780) (6,689,780)
R-EBE-_ZEF+_H=+—H At 31 December 2020 58,529,724 961,514 (24,507,978) 34,983,260

53. W& FIHE

R-ZE-_—F=ANB  XEBFEBEME

53. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 9 March 2021, the Group issued a CMBS amounting to

54.
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54.

RMB3 billion by pledging certain investment properties and the
right of receiving rental income for the future 12 years from the
corresponding properties for a maximum period of 12 years.
The Group is eligible to redeem all the undue priority securities
every 3 years from the date of issue. Interest rate is fixed each 3
years, interest is payable semiannually.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements set out on pages 120 to
305 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 29
March 2021.
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

EBHBEHERAT
BHHEYE BB BOAEEER 5l HEFR
Attributable Beneficial Interest of Approximate Total
Investment Properties China Resources Land Limited Gross Floor Area Type Lease Term
oz 3 N 100% 382,379 IS
SRYIEE AR AR
Shenzhen City Crossing Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 100% 135,801 mC
FYIIZEIRE Shenzhen CR Building 100% 41,311 o
F B Grand Hyatt Hotel 100% 67,506 JEH
£ 835 Car Park 100% 137,761 f2Cp
a S 9 468,7 &
MmN E R 60% 68,769 R
Hangzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BEI The Mixc 60% 175,530 mC
% Hangzhou CR Building 60% 58,292 1)
HLINA1EEE Hangzhou Park Hyatt Hotel 60% 46,030 JBEH
{85 Car Park 60% 188,917 f=CP
SRS 2R D) 100% 379,288 RERHE
Shenyang City Crossing Medium Term Lease
EZY The Mixc 100% 166,106 [51e
7&[5ZE M AE Shenyang CR Building 100% 59,583 o
FEHBJE Grand Hyatt Hotel 100% 57,040 JEH
{2835 Car Park 100% 96,559 f=cp
B EBEE R L 100% 556,893 g
Chengdu City Crossing Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 100% 290,900 c
FR#BEE I AE Chengdu CR Building 100% 69,130 e}
£ B35 Car Park 100% 196,863 f&Ecp
e N N % ‘=
Fﬁ'éh_jz_iiE;F'iEJq:l/u 55% 419,585 hERE
Nanning City Crossing Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 55% 172,353 mc
HFHE CR Building 55% 177,974 #o
S E5 Car Park 55% 69,258 f=cp
= . 100% 193,093 =1
RPN E SR % : A
Zhengzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 100% 119,175 E[e
{SE35 Car Park 100% 73,918 f=cp
EEERH et 374,973 T
Chongqing Mixc Medium Term Lease
E S The Mixc 100% 223,771 [5(e
{2845 Car Park 100% 151,202 f=CP
miE S 60% 233,100 R E
Wuxi Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 60% 123,107 mcC
{285 Car Park 60% 109,993 f=cp
E oy 98% 378,612 hERE
Qingdao Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 98% 264,245 E[e
{2E35 Car Park 98% 114,367 f=cp
= N 55% 213,846 &
BN E S " : (EEE
Ganzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 55% 139,913 fc
S &35 Car Park 55% 73,933 f=CP
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ERBEHERAT
ES2=EYES TR BOMAREER =5l HEFR
Attributable Beneficial Interest of Approximate Total
Investment Properties China Resources Land Limited Gross Floor Area Type Lease Term
GIEE R 7% 350,517 PR
Hefei Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 100% 181,000 [5[e
A RE 1R EE Hefei Grand Hyatt Hotel 100% 48,584 JEH
{2835 Car Park 100% 120,933 f=cp
BN E S 51% 231,538 R HAFA
Wenzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 51% 137,527 7C
B Car Park 51% 94,011 f=CP
FHRTER BRI 100% 219,940 R E
Xi'an Mixc Medium Term Lease
EBRH The Mixc 100% 124,583 mC
{285 Car Park 100% 95,357 f2CP
tf@%%ﬁ 50% 412,628 TR E
Shanghai Mixc Medium Term Lease
BSI The Mixc 50% 169,561 C
B F1E Office 50% 220,125 bie)
{28 Car Park 50% 22,942 f=CP
NS R 100% 47,156 hEREE
Taizhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
BEI The Mixc 100% 20,706 C
{85 Car Park 100% 26,450 f=cp
AEESH 100% 334,976 hETHE
Taiyuan Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 100% 209,987 mc
{2835 Car Park 100% 124,989 f=cp
HRESH 100% 284,410 R E
Nantong Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 100% 130,059 [5[e
{28 Car Park 100% 154,351 f2CP
N S35 o 198279 PR
Liuzhou Mixc Medium Term Lease
R The Mixc 55% 122,779 G
{285 Car Park 55% 75,500 f=cp
ARIES 100% 311,826 hEHE
Shijiazhuang Mixc Medium Term Lease
BSI The Mixc 100% 182,072 E[e
{2835 Car Park 100% 129,754 f=cp
ERES 100% 304,908 RETHE
Xiamen Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 100% 130,783 5[
T2 Office 100% 97,435 o
{SE35 Car Park 100% 76,690 f=cp
Y E S 100% 258,969 REHE
Shenzhen Bay Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 100% 80,132 5[
S 835 Car Park 100% 178,837 fFCP
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

EHBEHERAT
BEWE AR BB ZREER 5l HEFR
Attributable Beneficial Interest of Approximate Total
Investment Properties China Resources Land Limited Gross Floor Area Type Lease Term
s S 98% 126,992 HIFAE
ItREEE o
: Medium Term L
Beijing Galleria edum ferm tease
% Commercial 98% 38,000 [l
BT 12 Office 98% 74,311 o
{EE45 Car Park 98% 14,681 {=cp
N \ =E % b £ =
LERRES e 90,842 A
. Medium Term L
Shanghai Times Square eaium ferm Lease
% Commercial 100% 47,930 mC
BT 12 Office 100% 33,806 o
{2835 Car Park 100% 9,106 {=CP
NN T 99% 180,193 HHIAE
ib?/%/ﬂﬂ?@ﬁ B
: : M Term L
Beulng nghe Hi5 edium Term Lease
% Commercial 99% 105,900 [E[e
BT 12 Office 99% 11,415 o
{2835 Car Park 99% 62,868 {=CP
N T4 b 100% 136,858 hHHE
R Rk R W
: : M Term L
Ningbo Yuyao Hi5 v WD e
FRA HI5 100% 83,036 5[
S 835 Car Park 100% 53,822 f=CP
e 100% 66,141 HHE
BRRE L AR ° i
: : Medium Term L
Hefei Shushan Hi5 edium ferm Lease
A His 100% 48,660 [Ele
{285 Car Park 100% 17,481 f=CP
Notat AT 100% 35,984 hERFRE
LB R R °
Shanghai Nanxiang Hi5 Medium Term Lease
R HiS 100% 26,078 [le
{85 Car Park 100% 9,906 f=cp
8 o o 100% 293,414 HRE
BB RIE R
: : M Term L
Zibo Mixc One edium Term Lease
BRIE Mixc One 100% 154,805 E[e
&8 S 7% Zibo Sheraton Hotel 100% 42,709 JEH
{285 Car Park 100% 95,900 f=cp
S C e e o 100% 255,728 S
B ERE
YT M Term L
Shenyang Tiexi Mixc One o e L
BRE Mixc One 100% 143,481 G
{SE15 Car Park 100% 112,247 =cp
N N e < Ou =
ROENERE feog: 71,126 A
: : Medium Term L
Changsha Xingsha Mixc One edium ferm Lease
B RE Mixc One 100% 50,260 7aC
{85 Car Park 100% 20,866 f=CP
ARESE 100% 134,914 AR E
: : Medium Term L
Rizhao Mixc One edium ferm Lease
B %[E Mixc One 100% 91,571 HC

{285 Car Park 100% 43,343 f=CP
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ERBEHERAT
ES2=EYES TR BOMAREER =5l HEFR
Attributable Beneficial Interest of Approximate Total
Investment Properties China Resources Land Limited Gross Floor Area Type Lease Term
e~ P b HATAE
tR=ZmEERE gl 180,222 hEAAE
Beijing Miyun Mixc One Medium Term Lease
B RE Mixc One 98% 107,222 C
{8 Car Park 98% 73,000 f=CP
(o] B [y Hf =
SEH BRI 100% 469,864 th I
Shenzhen Mixc World R less
5K Mixc World 100% 227,760 [5le
{285 Car Park 100% 242,104 f=Cp
= il papaa— 9 -
HMN ﬁm%gﬁﬁl& 100% 184,330 hERTRE
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Mixc One Medium Term Lease
ER[E Mixc One 100% 92,389 #C
S 835 Car Park 100% 91,941 f=CP
= U 100% 108,523 HEE
EERETRELRE TRIES
Chongging Danzishi Mixc One Medium Term Lease
B RE Mixc One 100% 58,440 mc
S 835 Car Park 100% 50,083 f=CP
S 1] 1 S e [ 9 HAFRE
BN TERE 50% 123,579 AT E
Suzhou Wujiang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
ERE Mixc One 50% 91,287 mC
{285 Car Park 50% 32,292 f2CP
i g 9 =
HMRILERE o oo s
Suzhou Kunshan Mixc One Ao e s
#E%[E Mixc One 51% 101,399 [5le
B Car Park 51% 68,622 f=cp
g e X 55% 329,497 hETRE
BEE R
Jinan Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 55% 193,685 E[e
{SE15 Car Park 55% 135,812 f=cp
S b - HAFRE
Bo ST 5 B 100% 171,350 th IS
Llﬂyl Mixc One Medium Term Lease
BERE Mixc One 100% 105,132 C
{8 Car Park 100% 66,218 f2CP
= 5 4 FE 100% 116,370 S
BERERILBRE ° TS
Harbin Songbei Mixc One Medium Term Lease
E5[E Mixc One 100% 89,280 [le
{285 Car Park 100% 27,090 f=cp
EM%%W 100% 173,781 A E
Guilin Mixc Medium Term Lease
BRI The Mixc 100% 100,327 #C
{SE15 Car Park 100% 73,454 f=cp
ERERERE w7 99,080 A
Hefei Luyang Mixc One Medium Term Lease
B RE Mixc One 100% 75,316 mc
S 835 Car Park 100% 23,764 fZCP
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

EHBEHERAT
BEWE AR BOAREER 5l HEFR
Attributable Beneficial Interest of Approximate Total
Investment Properties China Resources Land Limited Gross Floor Area Type Lease Term
SEON T 100% 31,350 I E
Haikou Mixc Medium Term Lease
% Commercial 100% 20,900 [l
{8 Car Park 100% 10,450 f=CP
E/&ﬁ/ﬂ%%l& 100% 99,989 Eepeiiyic=¢
Ningbo Qianhu Mixc one Medium Term Lease
B %[E Mixc One 100% 54,841 HC
{285 Car Park 100% 45,148 f=Cp
%%EE%%E 100% 110,270 PR E
Shenyang Changbai Mixc One Medium Term Lease
ERE Mixc One 100% 73,205 #C
{SE15 Car Park 100% 37,065 f=cp
YRR T8 oC 2B TR
Shenzhen CR building Medium Term Lease
BT Office 100% 201,514 o
it—?—ifﬂﬁ}g 100% 50,494 hHIFR &
s
Beijing CR Building Medium Term Lease
BT Office 100% 50,494 #0
HE 20 Gresham Street B H 100% 22557 1S
London 20 Gresham Street MISETTo T U
BT Office 100% 22,557 o
i Bz E%ﬁf%ﬁig 100% 62,805 o hETRE
. I M Term L
Beijing CR Time Building edium Term Lease
LEF§§%5§§I¢/B\§$$§ 51% 137,096 o hERE
Shanghai Lujiazui Binjiang Centre Medium Term Lease
RY|BAAIRIEE S oo 14000 o P
Shenzhen Luohu Kapok Hotel Medium Term Lease
AR EA R 100 500 o PR
Shenzhen Bay Kapok Hotel Medium Term Lease
s 65% 66,712 SEH iLiEh-
EN LB ° : -
Huizhou Le Meridien Hotel PezeTtemn e s
K@E/%;@E 55% 77,179 SHEH R
Dalian Grand Hyatt Hotel ISRV YD (e
EF%?%'&?@E 100% 38,551 JBEH PR E
Xiamen Andaz Hotel Ao e s
57&%?%’&5@)5 100% 40,351 JEH R E
Shenzhen Andaz Hotel Ao e s
79% 57,185 JEH R E

JERR BUSH AR ARIE IS
Beijing Daxing Airport Kapok Hotel

Medium Term Lease
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BOERHE
B @R R AEER
Gk $/ES AEMEGRRES (FFK) (FHXK) il fhEtER A ERER
Attributable
Beneficial Approximate Approximately
Interest of Total Unsold Gross Estimated State of
Development Properties the Group Site Area (sqm) Floor Area (sqm) Type  Date of Completion Completion
. q . 59% 133,652 310,727 /7% 202457 el
JERARIBH e
BEIJIHQ Future Clty RIC/O May-24 Construction in progress
LRmETE
Changping District, Beijing
NN 100% 184,120 615,820 (/% 202148 #
EVHEE : e o =
C hangsha Taoyuan || R/IC Aug-21 Construction in progress
RAOTERE
Wangcheng District, Changsha
5 N 9 % #
PEBERAR 2 3B Lo 230623 317,798 /% 2024535 ek
C hengdu Dream Clty RIC Mar-24 Construction in progress
REHZMNE
Pengzhou District, Chengdu
FEPAR I 2 35, 100% 380,436 248,959 /%8 202641 A Figgch
C hengdu Future C ity RICH Jan-26 Construction in progress
AT ER
Longquanyi District, Chengdu
S 100% 54,837 533,082 £d 2021464 e
RAEHIFT ‘ o
ChE‘ﬂgdU KUﬂyU Mansion R Jun-21 Construction in progress
RETHHER
Xindu District, Chengdu
sy S 100% 430,050 292,592 /8, 202345 #
=+, b /83 %58 el
C hengdu Twe nty-four C Ity RIC/O May-23 Construction in progress
RETRER
Chenghua District, Chengdu
N 100% 148,251 256,589 /% 202256
E M /% F67 ey
Chongqing Lanshanwang R/IC Jun-22 Construction in progress
EFTERE
Banan District, Chongging
100% 200,112 241,647 /7 2024511 e
EERNENE /%M F118 B
C hongqing Park Lane R/C/O Nov-24 Construction in progress
EETERE
Shuangliu District, Chongging
y 3 9 =,/ #
KBS 100% 373,098 337,093 &/ %/ 202548A ey
DaIian Bay R/IC/O Aug-25 Construction in progress
RETHATE
Ganjinzi District, Dalian
= SIS 50% 252,349 221,574 - 202
SNERHERAHE ¢ 0 o
R May-23 Construction in progress

Ezhou Wutong Lake

International Community
FHFRTHE
Liangzihu District, Ezhou
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A R &
BRREEE AEEE
[k $7ES AR R ES (FHK) (FFK) il &R A ERER
Attributable
Beneficial Approximate Approximately
Interest of Total Unsold Gross Estimated State of
Development Properties the Group Site Area (sqm) Floor Area (sqm) Type  Date of Completion Completion
g =0 1 e 50% 138,129 402,980 £ 2022%5A
SHNERHERLE : ‘ o
EZhOU WUtOﬂg L3 ke R May-22 Construction in progress
International Community |l
FHHRTHE
Liangzihu District, Ezhou
3 51% 442,737 277,190 /8 202452
FEPEEHL /8B £2A 2
CR Fuyan g Center R/C/OMH Feb-24 Construction in progress
EBTEMNE
Yingzhou District, Fuyang
2 2y 55% 190,235 231,911 5,/ W/ 202249 £
SEMEEHL ° /8B 95 Hzzeh
Ganzhou Clty Crossing R/C/OMH Sep-22 Construction in progress
EMHETHE
Zhangjiangxin District, Ganzhou
BT ABER 100% 273,750 555,084 &8/ 2026554 Fgzeh
Gedian C ity Complex Project R/C/OM May-26 Construction in progress
BMHERE
Huarong District, Ezhou
=5 | SBEAY 20% 85,336 280,887 t /B 202254
BB EE e 7 .
R/IC Apr-22 Construction in progress

Guangzhou Runyue Huayuan
BEMTERE
Zengcheng District, Guangzhou
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BHABEEE BOHRHETEERR
FBME AEEEERRELS (F5K) (FFHK) £H fhatER A H ERER
Attributable
Beneficial Approximate Approximately
Interest of Total Unsold Gross Estimated State of
Development Properties the Group Site Area (sqm) Floor Area (sqm) Type Date of Completion Completion
AR B 100% 148,723 228,589 /8, 202365 A Fgeep
Guilin Ity C rossing R/IC/O May-23 Construction in progress
ERTRLE
Xiangshan District, Guilin
EEEELE 100% 412,787 965,460 /8, 202263 B
Guiyang International Community R/IC/O Mar-22 Construction in progress
EEmELE
Guanshanhu District, Guiyang
;\ l:ﬁ ET /g 100% 1,606,857 479,237 /88 2029%6 A b=t
Hainan Shimei Bay RICH Jun-29 Construction in progress
BEMABER
Shimei Bay District, Wanning
S 18% 107,887 275,785 /% 2022%2A fgh
Hangzhou Chengpin RIC Feb-22 Construction in progress
T T LR
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou
NS BN RS B RER 66% 195,600 350,765 &/%/ /8 20214127 Fzh
Hangzhou Asiad Village Technical R/C/OMH Dec-21 Construction in progress
Officer Village Project
BN T AL
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou
$M /J\W /i;i 65% 1,777,389 332,633 /%8 2025%8A B
b T /=
Huizhou Xian inwan RICH Aug-25 Construction in progress
BmREE
Huicheng District, Huizhou
TEE-+EEEEEE 100% 53,771 330,466 &/ 2025454 Hggep
Jiang'an District 27 South Residential RC May-25 Construction n progress
Project
REMIER
Jiang'an District, Wuhan
TP E RS 100% 57,045 237,785 /% 2021454 Az
Jiangmen Mixc Mansion RIC May-21 Construction in progress
IFTEIR
Pengjiang District, Jiangmen
E T B EE A 100% 550,039 279,145 &/, 2023511 A A
Jinan City Center Region Xinglong R/IC/O Nov-23 Construction in progress
Project
ikl
Shizhong District, Jinan
ERERENES (EE) 8% AEREE) B f/m/% 2014537 E2e
R/IC/O Mar-24 Construction in progress

Jinan CR Land Plaza
BETETE

Lixia District, Jinan
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BROELBER MOEREETERR
ES/ES AEEEEREER (F5K) (FHK) bl fEEtER A H ERER
Attributable
Beneficial Approximate Approximately
Interest of Total Unsold Gross Estimated State of
Development Properties the Group Site Area (sqm) Floor Area (sqm) Type Date of Completion Completion
p 100% 413,352 362,768 /B 2025510 A &
Sl o 4% 2
Lanzhou Future City RIC/O Oct-25 Construction in progress
BT ETE
Qilihe District, Lanzhou
EraT. S 100% 255,367 3,083,264 /% 20254 .
BN = oo /M 47 e
Lanzhou Twenty-four City R/C Apr-25 Construction in progress
HNTRER
Chengguan District, Lanzhou
= 3 100% 100,929 375,128 /% 2022F12 A &
BB o ! e
Lanzhou Yulanshan RIC Dec-22 Construction in progress
MmE R
Gaoxin District, Lanzhou
= 100% 66,333 371,506 /B 2021512 &
HERER ° - o
Nanchang Palace Golorious RIC Dec-21 Construction in progress
BEMHER
Xinjian District, Nanchang
Sy IS 60% 223,127 243,744 /7 2025%6 -3
BREEARLE B el "
Nanjing CR International Community R/C/O Jun-25 Construction in progress
BRMmENR
Pukou District, Nanjing
— =5 100% 58,904 230,321 /8 2023418 &
@D%Eim%i’% /% F =Ll
Nanning CR Plaza R/IC/O Jan-23 Construction in progress
BEMASER
Xixiangtang District, Nanning
SR 50% 87,197 231,349 {2/ 20214128 o 4
Shanghai Jing'an Mansion RO Dec-21 Construction in progress
LETEZR
Jing'an District, Shanghai
3 5 100% 139,971 369,138 /% 202310 A HEH
BBHTH g
Shenyang Jing'an Mansion RIC Oct-23 Construction in progress
EBTHRLE
Sujiatunn District, Shenyang
3 \ 100% 1,693,628 202,869 s/ 2023%6 7 &
AREBHL i/ E:2 wh
Taiyuan CR Center C/0 Jun-23 Construction in progress
ARTESE
Wucheng District, Taiyuan
R 542 N [E 50% 222,593 234,891 /7 i 20244 &
B RERERZDBER s o e
R/IC/O Apr-24 Construction in progress

Tangshan Nanhu Center

Business Region Project
BUTEEE

Lunan District, Tangshan
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BHEKREETERR
FBME AEEEERRELS (FFHK) £H fhatER A H ERER
Attributable

Beneficial Approximate Approximately

Interest of Total Unsold Gross Estimated State of
Development Properties the Group Site Area (sqm) Floor Area (sqm) Type Date of Completion Completion
B e 20% 216,704 402,763 /% B 2024% 11 A A
Tangshan Xi h u Project RIC/O Nov-24 Construction in progress
ELm#ItE
Lubei District, Tangshan
WITENT 100% 153,146 359,211 /% 20214114 Bl
Wuxi Jiangnan Mansion R/IC Nov-21 Construction in progress
EHMHLE
Xishan District, Wuxi
7-5/?@#1/% 100% 511,827 1,763,732 /% 2021454 te e

5
Tianjing Oak Bay RIC May-21 Construction in progress
REMRER
Dongli District, Tianjing
N s b L%/ 3

wEHEEL B 60% 883,215 290,430 &/ 202454 s
Wuxi Taihu Internation Community R AR S R g
EHTRTE
Binhu District, Wuxi
FERAINE 49% 149,700 256,062 &/% 2023594 Hggeh
Xi'an Qujiang JIU|I RIC Sep-23 Construction in progress
BRTHTHE
Qujiang New District, Xi'an
AR TN EeABER 70% 154,712 233475 /B /8 2025%5 A Figeh
Xi'an Qujiang New District Project R/IC/OMH May-25 Construction in progress
[igl 3
Yanta District, Xi'an
ARESE 100% 78,918 374,722 (V4 2023%7A Eggehn
Xi'an Wanxiangli C/0 Jul-23 Construction in progress
BERTERIAE
Peidongxincheng District, Xi‘an
ML= 100% 83,866 229,269 fr 2022%6 7 Fjep
Xuzhou Banshan Yuejing R Jun-22 Construction in progress
BHTEER
Yunlong District, Xuzhou
TERENE 100% 254,794 367,068 /8, 202354 A g
Yibin Park Lane RIC/O Apr-23 Construction in progress
BETEFR
Cuiping District, Yibin
P 60% 112,207 222,369 &/ 202545 Pl
Zhengzhou New Times C/OH May-25 Construction in progress
BHmBRTE

Zhengdong New District, Zhengzhou
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A4 [ 35 A GROUP’S RESULTS
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
AEETT  AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(lE51) (=5 (fmE51) (=51
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
Wizs Revenue 179,587,269 148,167,235 121,499,799 101,999,097 93,771,734
BRAEAT A Profit before taxation 60,172,049  61,144975 51,911,108 39,410,946 33,224,649
FrEHAY Income tax expense (26,081,775)  (26,681,970) (24,499,102) (17,673,782) (13,685,180)
FERGEF Profit for the year 34,090,274 34,463,005 27,412,006 21,737,164 19,539,469
PAR AL REAY Attributable to:
KAREEE A Owners of the Company 29,809,959 28,783,682 24,372,632 19,677,292 16,975,643
KEERTEHEAA Owner of perpetual capital
instruments 220,569 289,224 287,625 - -
JEEfR Non-controlling interests 4,059,746 5,390,099 2,751,749 2,059,872 2,563,826
34,090,274 34,463,005 27,412,006 21,737,164 19,539,469
A AR K B IR GROUP’S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETFT AR%Tr
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(&m&5) (&5l (&=E5) (&mE5l)
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
ME - BB R RE Property, plant and equipment 14,095,322 11,130,699 11,048,462 8,689,919 8,341,466
FREEE Right-of-use assets 5,816,935 4,674,492 = = -
HEME Investment properties 187,379,425 161,214,781 128,761,308 100,562,444 86,413,301
B EAE Intangible assets 40,913 424,977 407,579 421,662 =
1 3th {5 PR 4 Land use rights - - 3,233,200 2,824,004 2,570,830
ElS Goodwill 11,544 11,544 11,544 11,544 11,544
REKE Long-term investments 54,551,465 41,962,226 32,051,319 13,550,142 9,054,513
BAFEFABRZ Financial assets at fair value
TREE through profit or loss 150,124 - 49,030 7,022 -
PTEERMTA Derivative financial instruments - 12,220 = = =
FEnBEERN Prepayments for
WIH non-current assets 2,121,759 3,307,284 1,209,723 777,576 363,328
BLERIEEE Deferred taxation assets 10,306,764 8,640,760 7,191,154 4,897,915 3,423,612
e IEIE AR i 2 TR IR Amounts due from
non-controlling interests 6,216,637 3,199,816 1,659,818 1,926,192 1,315,588
JEY & & TIE Amounts due from joint ventures 11,198,863 8,494,891 5,373,477 8,655,505 3,263,086
FENTHE & A Rl F0R Amounts due from associates 3,098,460 3,721,911 5025906 6,266,067 2,849,571
mE Current assets 574,053,189 523,092,954 463,825,183 334,126,704 266,558,353
BEE Total assets 869,041,400 769,888,555 659,847,703 482,716,696 384,165,192
nREAE Current liabilities 443,850,606 394,952,330 350,147,694 240,373,095 183,004,762
RHABE Long-term liabilities 144,481,815 119,311,557 111,847,872 84,119,376 63,829,166
EREFBAE Deferred taxation liabilities 24,466,801 19,833,838 15,426,264 12,397,579 11,240,503
FEN=T Total liabilities 612,799,222 534,097,725 477,421,830 336,890,050 258,074,431
256,242,178 235,790,830 182,425,873 145,826,646 126,090,761
/NS E 2PN Equity attributable to owners of
B the Company 203,458,128 175,892,392 140,096,939 121,304,854 105,766,467
KEBARTER Perpetual capital instruments - 10,000,000 5,000,000 - -
e Non-controlling interests 52,784,050 49,898,438 37,328,934 24,521,792 20,324,294
256,242,178 235,790,830 182,425,873 145,826,646 126,090,761
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